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                        PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
Item 1.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
  
                      THE LIMITED, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
                       CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
                     (Thousands except per share amounts) 
 
                                  (Unaudited) 
 
 
  
                                            Thirteen Weeks Ended      Twenty-six Weeks Ended 
                                          -----------------------   ------------------------- 
                                           August 3,    July 29,     August 3,      July 29, 
                                             1996         1995         1996          1995 
                                          -----------  ----------   -----------   ----------- 
                                                                           
NET SALES                                 $1,895,601   $1,718,643   $3,683,544     $3,306,777 
 
   Cost of Goods Sold, Occupancy 
       and Buying Costs                    1,403,692    1,294,947    2,722,094      2,480,415 
                                          ----------   ----------   -----------    ---------- 
GROSS INCOME                                 491,909      423,696      961,450        826,362 
                                                                                    
   General, Administrative and                                                      
   Store Operating Expenses                  410,367      326,943      826,072        649,589 
                                          ----------   ----------   -----------    ---------- 
OPERATING INCOME                              81,542       96,753      135,378        176,773 
   Interest Expense                          (18,734)     (20,200)     (35,281)       (36,688) 
   Other Income, Net                           6,512        4,209       23,654          6,888 
   Minority Interest                          (8,170)           -      (12,449)             - 
                                          ----------   ----------   -----------    ----------  
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES                    61,150       80,762      111,302        146,973 
                                                                                      
   Provision for Income Taxes                 28,000       32,000       50,000         59,000 
                                          ----------   ----------   -----------    ----------  
NET INCOME                                $   33,150   $   48,762   $   61,302     $   87,973 
                                          ==========   ==========   ==========     ==========  
NET INCOME PER SHARE                            $.12         $.14         $.21           $.25 
                                          ==========   ==========   ==========    ===========   
DIVIDENDS PER SHARE                             $.10         $.10         $.20           $.20 
                                          ==========   ==========   ==========    ===========   
WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING          272,077      358,961      291,284        358,468 
                                          ==========   ==========   ==========    ===========   
 
 
  The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial 
                                  statements. 
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                       THE LIMITED, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                          CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
 
                                  (Thousands) 
 
 
  
                                           August 3,     February 3, 
               ASSETS                        1996            1996 
               ------                     -----------    -----------  
                                          (Unaudited) 
                                                   
CURRENT ASSETS: 
  Cash and Equivalents                    $    33,050    $1,645,731 
  Accounts Receivable                          96,282        77,516 
  Inventories                               1,116,060       958,953 
  Other                                       137,692       117,832 
                                          -----------    ----------   
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS                        1,383,084     2,800,032 
  
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET                 1,772,019     1,741,456 
  
RESTRICTED CASH                               351,600       351,600 
OTHER ASSETS                                  382,201       373,475 
                                          -----------    ----------  
TOTAL ASSETS                              $ 3,888,904    $5,266,563 
                                          ===========    ==========   
   LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
   ------------------------------------  
CURRENT LIABILITIES: 
  Accounts Payable                        $   343,897    $  280,659 
  Accrued Expenses                            400,146       388,818 
  Commercial Paper                            116,982             - 
  Notes Payable                               150,000             - 
  Income Taxes                                  6,101        47,098 
                                          -----------    ----------     
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES                   1,017,126       716,575 
  
LONG-TERM DEBT                                650,000       650,000 
  
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES                         166,998       250,857 
  
OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES                    50,736        50,791 
 
MINORITY INTEREST                              47,068        45,699 
 
CONTINGENT STOCK REDEMPTION AGREEMENT         351,600       351,600 
 
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY: 
  Common Stock                                180,352       180,352 
  Paid-in Capital                             141,315       137,134 
  Retained Earnings                         3,207,492     3,200,350 
                                          -----------    ----------     
                                            3,529,159     3,517,836 
  
  Less Treasury Stock, at Average Cost     (1,923,783)     (316,795) 
                                          -----------    ----------      
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY                  1,605,376     3,201,041 
                                          -----------    ----------      
  TOTAL LIABILITIES AND  
    SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY                  $ 3,888,904    $5,266,563 
                                          ===========    ==========     
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial 
statements. 
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                       THE LIMITED, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                     CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 
                                  (Thousands) 
 
                                  (Unaudited) 
 
 
  
                                           Twenty-six Weeks Ended 
                                           ---------------------- 
                                           August 3,     July 29, 
                                             1996          1995 
                                          ----------    ---------  
                                                   
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
  Net Income                              $    61,302   $  87,973 
                                         
  Impact of Other Operating               
   Activities on Cash Flows:              
    Depreciation and Amortization             144,346     141,410 
    Minority Interest, Net of                    
     Dividends Paid                             1,369           - 
    Changes in Assets and                 
     Liabilities:                         
      Accounts Receivable                     (18,766)     30,822 
      Inventories                            (157,107)   (193,488) 
      Accounts Payable and                      
       Accrued Expenses                        74,566      79,090 
      Income Taxes                           (124,856)   (119,039) 
      Other Assets and Liabilities            (12,544)    (31,597) 
                                          -----------   ---------    
NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES        (31,690)     (4,829) 
                                          -----------   ---------     
INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
  
  Capital Expenditures                       (191,006)   (170,345) 
  Businesses Acquired                               -     (18,000) 
                                          -----------   ---------    
NET CASH USED FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES       (191,006)   (188,345) 
                                          -----------   ---------     
FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
  Net Proceeds from Commercial                 
   Paper Borrowings and                
   Certificates of Deposit                    116,982      35,800 
  Proceeds from Short-Term                     
   Borrowings                                 150,000     250,000 
  Dividends Paid                              (54,160)    (71,261) 
  
  Purchase of Treasury Stock               (1,615,130)     (8,981) 
  Stock Options and Other                      12,323       7,427 
                                          -----------   ---------     
NET CASH PROVIDED FROM (USED FOR)           
 FINANCING ACTIVITIES                      (1,389,985)    212,985 
                                          -----------   ---------     
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND         
 EQUIVALENTS                               (1,612,681)     19,811 
  Cash and Equivalents, Beginning 
   of Year                                  1,645,731     242,780         
                                          -----------   ---------     
CASH AND EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD       $    33,050   $ 262,591 
                                          ===========   =========     
 
  The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial 
                                  statements. 
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                       THE LIMITED, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
             NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) 
 
1.  BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
     The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of The Limited, 
     Inc. (the "Company") and all significant subsidiaries which are more than 
     50 percent owned and controlled.  All significant intercompany balances and 
     transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
 
     Investments in other entities (including joint ventures) which are more 
     than 20 percent owned are accounted for on the equity method. 
 
     The consolidated financial statements as of and for the periods ended 
     August 3, 1996 and July 29, 1995 are unaudited and are presented pursuant 
     to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
     Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements should be read in 
     conjunction with the financial statement disclosures contained in the 
     Company's 1995 Annual Report.  In the opinion of management, the 
     accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments 
     (which are of a normal recurring nature) necessary to present fairly the 
     financial position and results of operations and cash flows for the interim 
     periods, but are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations 
     for a full fiscal year. 
 
     The consolidated financial statements as of August 3, 1996 and for the 
     thirteen and twenty-six week periods ended August 3, 1996 and July 29, 1995 
     included herein have been reviewed by the independent accounting firm of 
     Coopers & Lybrand L.L.P. and the report of such firm follows the notes to 
     consolidated financial statements. 
 
2.   ADOPTION OF ACCOUNTING STANDARD 
 
     In October 1995, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 
     123, "Accounting for Stock - Based Compensation".  The Company will make 
     the required disclosures in its 1996 Annual Report. 
 
3.   INVENTORIES 
 
     The fiscal year of the Company and its subsidiaries is comprised of two 
     principal selling seasons:  Spring (the first and second quarters) and Fall 
     (the third and fourth quarters).  Valuation of finished goods inventories 
     is based principally upon the lower of average cost or market determined on 
     a first-in, first-out basis utilizing the retail method.  Inventory 
     valuation at the end of the first and third quarters reflects adjustments 
     for inventory markdowns and shrinkage estimates for the total selling 
     season. 
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4.   PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 
 
     Property and equipment, net, consisted of (thousands): 
 
 
 
                                           August 3,    February 3, 
                                              1996          1996 
                                          -----------   -----------  
                                                   
Property and equipment, at cost           $ 3,150,493   $ 3,018,757 
Accumulated depreciation and 
 amortization                              (1,378,474)   (1,277,301) 
                                          -----------   -----------  
Property and equipment, net               $ 1,772,019   $ 1,741,456 
                                          ===========   ===========    
 
 
5.   INCOME TAXES 
 
     The provision for income taxes is based on the current estimate of the 
     annual effective tax rate. Income taxes paid during the twenty-six weeks 
     ended August 3, 1996 and July 29, 1995 approximated $141.9 million and 
     $156.5 million. 
 
     The Internal Revenue Service has assessed the Company for additional taxes 
     and interest for years 1989 - 1992.  The assessment was based primarily on 
     the treatment of transactions involving the Company's foreign operations 
     and construction allowances.  Although a deposit has been made to mitigate 
     further interest being assessed, the Company strongly disagrees with the 
     assessment and is vigorously contesting the matter.  Management believes 
     resolution of this matter will not have a material adverse effect on the 
     Company's results of operations or financial condition. 
 
6.   FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS 
 
     Unsecured long-term debt consisted of (thousands): 
 
 
 
                                         August 3,       February 3, 
                                           1996              1996 
                                        ----------       -----------  
                                                   
7 1/2% Debentures due March 2023          $250,000          $250,000 
7 4/5% Notes due May 2002                  150,000           150,000 
9 1/8% Notes due February 2001             150,000           150,000 
8 7/8% Notes due August 1999               100,000           100,000 
                                          --------          --------   
                                          $650,000          $650,000 
                                          ========          ========   
 
 
     The Company maintains a $1 billion unsecured revolving credit agreement 
     (the "Agreement").  Borrowings outstanding under the Agreement are due 
     December 14, 2000.  However, the revolving term of the Agreement may be 
     extended an additional two years upon notification by the Company on the 
     second and fourth anniversaries of the effective date (December 15, 1995), 
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     subject to the approval of the lending banks.  The Agreement has several 
     borrowing options, including interest rates which are based on either the 
     lender's "Base Rate", as defined, LIBOR, CD based options or at a rate 
     submitted under a bidding process.  Facilities fees payable under the 
     Agreement are based on the Company's long-term credit ratings, and 
     currently approximate 1/8% of the committed amount per annum.  The 
     Agreement contains covenants relating to the Company's working capital, 
     debt and net worth.  No amounts were outstanding under the Agreement at 
     August 3, 1996. 
 
     The Agreement supports the Company's commercial paper program which is used 
     from time to time to fund working capital and other general corporate 
     requirements. Commercial paper outstanding at August 3, 1996 approximated 
     $117 million. 
 
     Two subsidiaries at Abercrombie & Fitch Co. ("A&F"), a wholly-owned 
     subsidiary of the Company, borrowed $150 million under a bank credit 
     agreement in July 1996. The borrowings are guarenteed by A&F. The LIBOR- 
     related interest rate at August 3, 1996 was 5.92%. The agreement places 
     certain limitations on A&F and contains financial covenants, including 
     fixed charge coverage and a maximum ratio of debt to earnings before income 
     taxes, depreciation and amortization. The amounts borrowed are repayable in 
     nine consecutive semi-annual installments, commencing on June 30, 1997, 
     provided that borrowings must be repaid by the excess cash flow (as defined 
     in the credit agreement) of A&F, which will include the net proceeds of any 
     public offering. In addition, any outstanding borrowings must be paid in 
     full in the event that the Company ceases to own directly at least 80% of 
     the outstanding stock of A&F. 
 
     Up to $250 million of debt securities and warrants to purchase debt 
     securities may be issued under the Company's shelf registration statement. 
 
     Interest paid during the twenty-six weeks ended August 3, 1996 and July 29, 
     1995 approximated $34.6 million and $34.5 million. 
 
 
7.   SELF-TENDER OFFER 
 
     On March 17, 1996, the Company completed the repurchase for $1.615 billion 
     or $19 per share of 85 million shares of its common stock under a self- 
     tender offer. 
 
8.   RECENT DEVELOPMENT 
 
     On June 26, 1996, the Company announced that the Board of Directors 
     approved a plan to file a registration statement for an initial public 
     offering of Abercrombie & Fitch Co., a wholly-owned subsidiary. On August 
     29, 1996, Abercrombie & Fitch Co. filed a Registration Statement with the 
     Securities and Exchange Commission. It is expected that the new company 
     will be approximately 86% owned by the Company, with the balance owned by 
     public shareholders. This action represents the next step in the Company's 
     plan, announced in Spring 1995, to reconfigure the Company in a manner 
     designed to encourage entrepreneurial management, yield improved operating 
     performance, develop new growth opportunities and increase shareholder 
     value. 
 
                                       8 



 
                       REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 
 
To the Audit Committee of 
  The Board of Directors of 
  The Limited, Inc. 
 
We have reviewed the condensed consolidated balance sheet of The Limited, Inc. 
and Subsidiaries at August 3, 1996, and the related condensed consolidated 
statements of income and cash flows for the thirteen-week and twenty six-week 
periods ended August 3, 1996 and July 29, 1995. These financial statements are 
the responsibility of the Company's management. 
 
We conducted our review in accordance with standards established by the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. A review of interim 
financial information consists principally of applying analytical procedures 
to financial data and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial 
and accounting matters. It is substantially less in scope than an audit 
conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, the 
objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial 
statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. 
 
Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that 
should be made to the accompanying financial statements for them to be in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
We have previously audited, in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards, the consolidated balance sheet as of February 3, 1996, and the 
related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity, and cash 
flows for the year then ended (not presented herein); and in our report 
dated February 26, 1996, except for paragraph 11 in Note 1 and Note 9, as 
to which the date is March 18, 1996, we expressed an unqualified opinion 
on those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information 
set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as of 
February 3, 1996, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation 
to the consolidated balance sheet from which it has been derived. 
 
                                            COOPERS & LYBRAND L.L.P. 
 
Columbus, Ohio 
September 10, 1996 



 
  
Item  2.  MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF 
          OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
During the second half of 1995 and the first quarter of 1996, the Company 
entered into a series of transactions that affected the comparability of the 
quarterly financial statements: 1) the initial public offering of a 16.9% 
interest in Intimate Brands, Inc. ("IBI"); 2) the sale of a 60% interest in the 
Company's previously wholly-owned credit card bank, World Financial Network 
National Bank ("WFNNB"); and 3) a reduction in outstanding shares reflecting the 
Company's 85 million share repurchase via a self-tender consummated effective 
March 17, 1996.  Accordingly, to aid in the analysis of second quarter and year- 
to-date 1996 financial information as compared to the respective periods in 
1995, certain pro-forma adjustments, including the tax impact, have been made to 
the 1996 and 1995 results as follows: 1) the 1995 general, administrative and 
store operating expenses have been adjusted for the fourth quarter 1995 sale of 
a 60% interest in WFNNB, as if the sale had been consummated at the beginning of 
1995; 2) the 1995 income statement has been adjusted to reflect the minority 
interest arising from the IBI transaction as if it had occurred as of the 
beginning of 1995; 3) weighted average shares outstanding have been reduced to 
reflect the 85 million share repurchase as if it occurred at the beginning of 
1995; and 4) the 1996 income statement has been adjusted to remove $10.5 million 
in interest income earned in the first quarter from the temporary investment of 
the proceeds from the IBI and WFNNB transactions that were used to consummate 
the self-tender effective March 17, 1996. 
  
The adjusted pro-forma summary income information is presented below. 
  
 
 
                                                                                 Second Quarter 
                                          Second Quarter 1995                         1996 
                             -----------------------------------------------    ---------------- 
                                                                Adjusted 
                              As Reported      Pro-Forma        Pro-Forma         As Reported  
                             July 29, 1995    Adjustments     July 29, 1995      August 3, 1996 
                             -------------   -------------   ---------------    ----------------  
                                                                       
Net sales                       $1,718,643     $      -          $1,718,643        $1,895,601 
                                                                                    
Gross income                       423,696            -             423,696           491,909 
                                                                                    
General, administrative                                                             
 and store operating 
 expenses                         (326,943)     (25,328)(a)        (352,271)         (410,367) 
                                ----------     --------          ----------        ----------  
Operating income                    96,753      (25,328)             71,425            81,542 
                                                                                    
Interest expense                   (20,200)           -             (20,200)          (18,734) 
                                                                                    
Other income, net                    4,209            -               4,209             6,512 
                                                                                    
Minority interest                        -       (5,733)(b)          (5,733)           (8,170) 
                                ----------     --------          ----------        ----------  
Income before taxes                 80,762      (31,061)             49,701            61,150 
                                                                                    
Provision for income taxes          32,000      (11,000)(c)          21,000            28,000 
                                ----------     --------          ----------        ----------  
    Net income                  $   48,762     $(20,061)         $   28,701        $   33,150 
                                ==========     ========          ==========        ==========   
                                                                                    
Net income per share                 $0.14                            $0.10(e)          $0.12 
                                ==========                       ==========        ==========    
Weighted average shares                                                             
    outstanding                    358,961                          273,961(e)        272,077 
                                ==========                       ==========        ==========     
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                                                                                                            Year - to - 
                                                   Year - to - Date 1995                                     Date 1996 
                             ----------------------------------------------------------------          ------------------ 
                                                                                  Adjusted                    Adjusted 
                               As Reported         Pro-Forma                   Pro-Forma July                Pro-Forma 
                              July 29, 1995       Adjustments                     29, 1995                 August 3, 1996 
                             ---------------     ----------------          ------------------          ------------------  
                                                                                                         
Net sales                         $3,306,777             $      -                  $3,306,777                  $3,683,544 
  
Gross income                         826,362                    -                     826,362                     961,450 
  
General, administrative 
 and store operating 
 expenses                           (649,589)            (54,138)(a)                 (703,727)                   (826,072)  
                             ---------------     ----------------          ------------------          ------------------   
Operating income                     176,773             (54,138)                     122,635                     135,378 
  
Interest expense                     (36,688)                   -                     (36,688)                    (35,281) 
  
Other income, net                      6,888                    -                       6,888                      13,154(d) 
  
Minority interest                          -              (9,881)(b)                   (9,881)                    (12,449) 
                             ---------------     ----------------          ------------------          ------------------   
  
Income before taxes                  146,973             (64,019)                      82,954                     100,802 
  
Provision for income taxes            59,000             (25,000)(c)                   34,000                      46,000(c) 
                             ---------------     ----------------          ------------------          ------------------   
  
    Net income                    $   87,973            $(39,019)                  $   48,954                  $   54,802 
                             ===============     ================          ==================          ==================   
Net income per share                   $0.25                                            $0.18(e)                    $0.20(e) 
                             ===============                               ==================          ==================   
  
Weighted average shares 
    outstanding                      358,468                                          273,468(e)                  271,669(e) 
                             ===============                               ==================          ================== 
  
  
(a) Sale of a 60% interest in WFNNB as if it were consummated at the beginning 
    of 1995. 
  
(b) Minority interest in IBI as if the transaction was consummated at the 
    beginning of 1995. 
  
(c) Tax affect of above pro-forma adjustments. 
  
(d) Reduce 1996 interest income by $10.5 million earned from the temporary 
    investment of the proceeds from the IBI and WFNNB transactions that were 
    used to consummate the self-tender. 
  
(e) Net income per share and weighted average shares outstanding have been 
    adjusted for the impact of the self-tender for 85 million shares effective 
    March 17, 1996 as if it were consummated at the beginning of 1995. 
  
During the second quarter of 1996, net sales increased 10% to $1.896 billion 
compared to $1.719 billion a year ago.  Net income for the quarter increased 16% 
to $33.2 million compared to pro-forma net income of $28.7 million last year. 
Earnings per share were $.12 compared to pro-forma earnings per share of $.10 in 
1995. 
 
Highlights include the following: 
 
     Victoria's Secret Stores had a 14% sales gain with an operating income 
     increase of 16%.  The quarter ended with the launch of the "Perfect 
     Silhouette", a perfectly smooth and seamless bra, supported by a national 
     TV campaign. 
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     Bath & Body Works achieved a 60% sales gain and a 50% increase in operating 
     income.  During the second quarter, Bath & Body Works successfully 
     introduced Hairworks and New Albany Stables haircare, and added 75 stores, 
     including the opening of its 600/th/ store. 
 
     Although the women's businesses in total continued to underperform in the 
     second quarter due principally to the Express division, results at Limited 
     Stores and Lerner were encouraging.  Limited Stores attained a 9% 
     comparable store sales gain and reduced its  operating losses by nearly 
     half.  Lerner accomplished an improvement in profitability and a 3% 
     comparable store sales gain. 
 
     Abercrombie & Fitch Co. also delivered record second quarter sales and 
     operating income bolstered by a 16% comparable store sales gain and a 49% 
     increase in total sales. 
 
     Structure had a strong turnaround in sales momentum with 7% comparable 
     store gains. 
 
Sales for the twenty-six weeks ended August 3, 1996 increased 11% to $3.684 
billion compared to $3.307 billion in 1995.  Pro-forma 1996 net income increased 
12% to $54.8 million from pro-forma 1995 net income of $49.0 million.  Pro-forma 
1996 earnings per share were $.20 compared to 1995 pro-forma earnings per share 
of $.18. 
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Financial Summary 
- ----------------- 
 
The following summarized financial data compares the thirteen and twenty-six 
week periods ended August 3, 1996 to the comparable periods for 1995: 
 
 
 
                                          Second Quarter                                        Year - to - Date 
                           -------------------------------------------            ----------------------------------------- 
                                                             Change                                                Change 
                                                              From                                                  From 
                                                              Prior                                                 Prior  
                                1996           1995           Year                   1996           1995             Year 
                             ----------     ----------     ------------           ----------     -----------      ----------   
                                                                                                 
Net Sales (millions): 
  
Victoria's Secret Stores        $  319        $  281            14%                   $  605         $  522            16% 
                                                                                                                       
Victoria's Secret Catalogue        176           168             5%                      343            323             6% 
                                                                                                                       
Bath & Body Works                  134            84            60%                      245            151            62% 
                                                                                                                       
Cacique                             21            18            17%                       40             33            21% 
                                                                                                                       
Other                                3             3             -                         6              4            50% 
                             ---------      --------       --------               ----------     ----------       --------      
  Total Intimate Brands, 
   Inc.                         $  653        $  554            18%                   $1,239         $1,033            20% 
                             ---------      --------       --------               ----------     ----------       --------        
Express                            317           313             1%                      632            617             2% 
                                                                                                                       
Lerner New York                    225           224             -                       446            443             1% 
                                                                                                                       
Lane Bryant                        207           207             -                       426            411             4% 
                                                                                                                       
Limited Stores                     205           190             7%                      393            370             6% 
                                                                                                                       
Henri Bendel                        18            19            (5%)                      40             40             - 
                             ---------      --------       --------               ----------     ----------       --------      
  Total Women's Businesses      $  972        $  953             2%                   $1,937         $1,881             3% 
                             ---------      --------       --------               ----------     ----------       --------        
Structure                          146           124            18%                      269            228            18% 
                                                                                                                       
Abercrombie & Fitch Co.             57            39            46%                      109             72            51% 
                                                                                                                       
The Limited Too                     48            44             9%                       93             88             6% 
                                                                                                                       
Galyan's (since 7/2/95)             20             5                                      37              5            
                             ---------      --------       --------               ----------     ----------       -------- 
  Total Emerging Businesses       $271          $212            28%                     $508           $393            29% 
                             ---------      --------       --------               ----------     ----------       --------         
Total Net Sales                 $1,896        $1,719            10%                   $3,684         $3,307            11% 
                             =========      ========       ========               ==========     ==========       ========         
Operating Income                                                                                                       
 (millions):                                                                                                           
                                                                                                                       
Intimate Brands, Inc.           $   87        $   73            19%                   $  136         $  113            20% 
                                                                                                                       
Women's Businesses                 (19)           (5)         (280%)                     (15)             7          (314%) 
                                                                                                                       
Emerging Businesses                 14             3*          366%                       14              3*          366% 
                             ---------      --------       --------               ----------     ----------       --------      
Total Operating Income          $   82        $   71*           15%                   $  135         $  123*           10% 
                             =========      ========       ========               ==========     ==========       ========         
  
 
* Reflects adjusted pro-forma results. Historical operating income for the 
  Emerging Businesses (including WFNNB) was $29 million and $57 million in the 
  second quarter and year-to-date period of 1995 and total operating income was 
  $97 million and $177 million in the same periods. 
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                                                   Second Quarter                                        Year - to - Date 
                                      ------------------------------------------        ----------------------------------------- 
                                                                      Change                                             Change 
                                                                       From                                               From 
                                         1996           1995         Prior Year            1996           1995          Prior Year 
                                      ----------     ----------     ------------        ----------     -----------      ----------  
                                                                                                       
Increase (decrease) in comparable 
  store sales: 
 
Victoria's Secret Stores                    3%            2%                                  5%             2% 
                                                                                                     
Bath & Body Works                          11%           26%                                 12%            27% 
                                                                                                     
Cacique                                    11%          (22%)                                15%           (25%) 
                                      ----------     ----------                         ----------     ----------- 
  Total Intimate Brands, Inc.               5%            4%                                  7%             3% 
                                      ----------     ----------                         ----------     ----------- 
Express                                    (2%)           3%                                 (2%)            5% 
                                                                                                    
Lerner New York                             3%            2%                                  2%             1% 
                                                                                                    
Lane Bryant                                (2%)          (5%)                                 1%            (7%) 
                                                                                                    
Limited Stores                              9%           (9%)                                 8%           (11%) 
                                                                                                    
Henri Bendel                               (8%)           7%                                  0%             9% 
                                      ----------     ----------                         ----------     ----------- 
 
  Total Women's Businesses                  1%           (2%)                                 2%            (2%) 
                                      ----------     ----------                         ----------     ----------- 
Structure                                   7%           (4%)                                 7%            (4%) 
                                                                                                        
Abercrombie & Fitch Co.                    16%            0%                                 16%             3% 
                                                                                                        
The Limited Too                            (7%)          14%                                (12%)           10% 
                                                                                                        
Galyan's (since 7/2/96)                     7%           N/A                                  7%            N/A 
                                      ----------     ----------                         ----------     ----------- 
  Total Emerging Businesses                 6%            0%                                  5%             0% 
                                      ----------     ----------                         ----------     ----------- 
 
Total comparable store sales 
increase (decrease)                         3%            0%                                  4%            (1%) 
                                      ==========     ==========                         ==========     =========== 
 
Retail sales increase 
 attributable to new and 
 remodeled stores                           8%            7%                                  8%             7% 
  
Retail sales per average 
selling square foot                    $62.10        $59.17              5%             $120.89        $114.42             6% 
  
Retail sales per average 
store (thousands)                      $  318        $  310              3%             $   621        $   601             3% 
  
Average store size at end of 
quarter (square feet)                   5,098         5,246             (3%) 
  
Retail selling square feet 
(thousands)                            27,804        26,480              5% 
  
Number of stores: 
  
Beginning of period                     5,352        4,954                                5,298          4,867 
  
  Opened                                  128          101                                  208            198 
  
  Acquired                                  -            6                                    -              6 
  
  Closed                                  (26)         (13)                                 (52)           (23) 
                                      ----------    ----------                         ----------     ----------- 
End of period                           5,454        5,048                                5,454          5,048 
                                      ==========    ==========                         ==========     =========== 
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                                         Number of Stores                      Selling Sq. Ft. (thousands) 
                             --------------------------------------    ------------------------------------- 
                                                          Change                                  Change 
                             August 3,     July 29,        From        August 3,     July 29,       From 
                               1996          1995        Prior Year      1996          1995      Prior Year 
                             ---------    ---------      ----------    ---------     --------    ---------- 
                                                                                
Victoria's Secret Stores           703          629              74        3,195        2,763           432 
Bath & Body Works                  603          383             220        1,042          622           420 
Cacique                            120          116               4          368          350            18 
Penhaligon's                         4            4               -            2            2             - 
                             ---------    ---------      ----------    ---------     --------    ----------  
  Total  Intimate                                                                                   
    Brands, Inc.                 1,430        1,132             298        4,607        3,737           870 
                             ---------    ---------      ----------    ---------     --------    ----------  
Express                            750          722              28        4,688        4,461           227 
Lerner New York                    814          838             (24)       6,225        6,495          (270) 
Lane Bryant                        825          815              10        3,954        3,880            74 
Limited Stores                     681          712             (31)       4,142        4,315          (173) 
Henri Bendel                         4            4               -           88           88             - 
                             ---------    ---------      ----------    ---------     --------    ----------  
  Total Women's 
    Businesses                   3,074        3,091             (17)      19,097       19,239          (142)  
                             ---------    ---------      ----------    ---------     --------    ----------  
Structure                          534          481              53        2,067        1,837           230 
Abercrombie & Fitch Co.            106           77              29          830          617           213 
The Limited Too                    304          261              43          953          818           135 
Galyan's                             6            6               -          250          232            18 
                             ---------    ---------      ----------    ---------     --------    ----------  
  Total Emerging Businesses        950          825             125        4,100        3,504           596 
                             ---------    ---------      ----------    ---------     --------    ----------  
Total stores and selling 
square feet                      5,454        5,048             406       27,804       26,480         1,324 
                             =========    =========      ==========    =========     ========    ==========  
 
 
Net Sales 
- --------- 
 
Net sales for the second quarter of 1996 increased 10% as compared to the second 
quarter of 1995 primarily as a result of the 3% increase in comparable store 
sales and the net addition of new and remodeled stores.  During the second 
quarter of this year, the Company opened 128 new stores, remodeled 75 stores and 
closed 26 stores.  Consistent with the second quarter, the year-to-date 1996 
sales increase of 11% was a result of the 4% increase in comparable store sales 
and the net addition of 406 stores since the second quarter of 1995. 
 
Sales at the Intimate Brands, Inc. businesses for the second quarter of 1996 
increased 18% over the same period last year and accounted for over half of the 
total Limited, Inc. sales increase.  This increase was attributable to the net 
addition of 298 new stores, a 5% increase in comparable store sales and a 5% 
increase in catalogue net sales.  Year-to-date Intimate Brands, Inc. sales 
increased 20% over the same period in 1995, due to the net addition of new and 
remodeled stores, a 7% increase in comparable store sales and a 6% increase in 
catalogue net sales. 
 
Sales at the women's businesses for the second quarter and year-to-date periods 
of 1996 increased 2% and 3%, respectively, compared to the same periods in 1995, 
primarily due to the 1% and 2% increases in comparable store sales. 
Disappointing sales results at the Express division, which contributed to lower 
than expected women's sales results, are expected to continue into the third 
quarter. 
 
Continued strong sales increases at Structure and Abercrombie & Fitch bolstered 
by comparable store sales increases of 7% and 16%, respectively, accounted for 
most of the balance of the Company's sales increase. 
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Gross Income 
- ------------ 
 
Gross income increased as a percentage of sales to 26.0% for the second quarter 
of 1996 from 24.7% for the same period in 1995.  This increase was primarily due 
to an increase in merchandise margins of 1.0%, expressed as a percentage of 
sales, and buying and occupancy costs, which decreased .3% as a percentage of 
sales.  The increase in merchandise margins was primarily due to improved 
initial mark-up which more than offset an increase in the markdown rate. 
 
The 1996 year-to-date gross income rate increased 1.1% to 26.1% as compared to 
1995.  This increase was primarily attributable to a decrease in buying and 
occupancy costs of .7%, expressed as a percentage of sales, due to improved 
sales leveraging.  Merchandise margins increased .4% as a percentage of sales 
due to improved initial mark-up. 
 
General, Administrative and Store Operating Expenses 
- ---------------------------------------------------- 
 
General, administrative and store operating expenses increased as a percentage 
of sales to 21.6% in the second quarter of 1996 compared to 20.5% on an adjusted 
pro-forma basis in the second quarter of 1995.  This increase was attributable 
to the inability to leverage expense increases due to poor sales performance at 
Express and a 2.3% rate increase at the Intimate Brands, Inc. businesses, which 
is the result of Bath & Body Works' higher contribution  of total sales. 
Although Bath & Body Works has higher general, administrative and store 
operating expenses as a percentage of sales it also has higher gross margins 
than other divisions. 
 
Year-to-date general, administrative and store operating expenses increased as a 
percentage of sales to 22.4% in 1996 compared to 21.3% on an adjusted pro-forma 
basis in 1995.  This increase was primarily due to the reasons discussed above, 
as well as lower sales productivity at Limited Too. 
 
During the fourth quarter of 1995, the Company recognized a special and 
nonrecurring charge of approximately $45.6 million related to the planned 
closing and downsizing of stores.  The Company expects to have taken action on 
substantially all of the planned closings and downsizings by the end of fiscal 
1996. 
 
Operating Income 
- ---------------- 
 
Second quarter and year-to-date operating income, as a percentage of sales, was 
flat in 1996 at 4.3% and 3.7%, respectively, compared to 1995 on an adjusted 
pro-forma basis as gross income gains were offset by the rate increase from 
general, administrative and store operating expenses. 
 
Interest Expense 
- --------------------------------- 
 
 
 
                                    Second Quarter     Year-to-Date 
                                   ---------------    -------------- 
                                    1996     1995     1996     1995 
                                   ------   ------   ------   ------  
                                                   
Average Borrowings (millions)      $916.9   $955.1   $853.9   $846.0 
Average Effective Interest Rate      8.17%    8.46%    8.26%    8.67% 
 
 
Interest expense decreased in the second quarter and year-to-date periods of 
1996 as compared to the comparable periods of 1995.  The decrease in interest 
expense was primarily due to increased borrowing levels in the second quarter of 
1995 associated with $250 million in additional short-term borrowings related to 
the Intimate Brands, Inc. initial public offering, combined  with lower average 
effective interest rates. 
 
                                       16 



 
  
Other Income 
- ------------ 
 
The increase in 1996 second quarter and 1996 adjusted pro-forma year-to-date 
other income of $2.3 million and $6.3 million, respectively, compared to 1995 on 
an adjusted pro-forma basis was due to interest income earned on the restricted 
cash balance related to the contingent stock redemption agreement. 
 
FINANCIAL CONDITION 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
- ------------------------------- 
 
Cash provided from operating activities, commercial paper backed by funds 
available under committed long-term credit agreements and the Company's capital 
structure continue to provide the resources to support operations, including 
projected growth, seasonal requirements and capital expenditures.  A summary of 
the Company's working capital position and capitalization follows (thousands): 
 
 
 
                                                                    Adjusted 
                                          August 3,   February 3,  February 3, 
                                             1996        1996        1996 * 
                                          ---------   -----------  -----------  
                                                           
Working Capital                           $  365,958   $2,083,457   $  468,457 
                                          ==========   ==========   ==========  
Capitalization: 
  Long-term debt                          $  650,000   $  650,000   $  650,000 
  Deferred income taxes                      166,998      250,857      250,857 
  Shareholders' equity                     1,605,376    3,201,041    1,586,041 
                                          ----------   ----------   ----------  
Total Capitalization                      $2,422,374   $4,101,898   $2,486,898 
                                          ==========   ==========   ==========  
  Additional amounts available under        
    long-term credit agreements           $1,000,000   $1,000,000   $1,000,000 
                                          ==========   ==========   ==========  
  
 
*  Adjusted February 3, 1996 reflects the impact of the March 17, 1996 
   repurchase of 85 million shares of the Company's common stock for $1.615 
   billion. 
 
Net cash used for operating activities was $31.7 million for the twenty-six 
weeks ended August 3, 1996 versus $4.8 million for the same period of 1995. Cash 
provided from the payment of accounts receivable was lower in 1996 due to a 
lower receivables balance at the beginning of the year caused by the sale of a 
60% interest in WFNNB in the fourth quarter of 1995.  Cash requirements for 
inventories were lower in 1996 due to a planned decrease in inventories on both 
a per store and per square foot basis. 
 
Investing activities included capital expenditures, primarily for new and 
remodeled stores.  In addition, 1995 included the acquisition of Galyan's for 
$18 million in cash and stock. 
 
Financing activities included proceeds from $150 million in short-term debt. 
Financing activities also included $1.615 billion used to repurchase 85 million 
shares of the Company's common stock (see note 7). Financing activities in 1995 
included $250 million in short-term debt. 
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Capital Expenditures 
- -------------------- 
 
Capital expenditures totaled $191.0  million during the twenty-six weeks ended 
August 3, 1996, compared to $170.3 million for the comparable period of 1995. 
The Company anticipates spending approximately $350 - $385 million for capital 
expenditures in 1996, of which approximately $220 - $260 million will be for new 
stores, the remodeling of existing stores and related improvements for the 
retail businesses. 
 
The Company presently anticipates that substantially all 1996 capital 
expenditures will be funded by net cash provided from operating activities.  In 
addition, the Company presently has available $1 billion under its long-term 
credit agreement and has the ability to offer up to $250 million of additional 
debt securities and warrants to purchase debt securities under its shelf 
registration statement. 
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                          PART II - OTHER INFORMATION 
 
Item 6.  EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K 
 
(a)  Exhibits. 
     --------- 
 
     3.  Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws. 
 
          3.1  Certificate of Incorporation of the Company incorporated by 
               reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 
               10-K for the fiscal year ended January 30, 1988. 
 
          3.2  Restated Bylaws of the Company incorporated by reference to 
               Exhibit 3.2 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
               fiscal year ended February 2, 1991. 
 
     4.  Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders. 
 
          4.1  Copy of the form of Global Security representing the Company's 
               7 1/2% Debentures due 2023, incorporated by reference to 
               Exhibit 1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated 
               March 4, 1993. 
 
          4.2  Conformed copy of the Indenture dated as of March 15, 1988 
               between the Company and The Bank of New York, incorporated by 
               reference to Exhibit 4.1(a) to the Company's Current Report on 
               Form 8-K dated March 21, 1989. 
 
          4.3  Copy of the form of Global Security representing the Company's 
               8 7/8% Notes due August 15, 1999 incorporated by reference to 
               Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated 
               August 14, 1989. 
 
          4.4  Copy of the form of Global Security representing the Company's 
               9 1/8% Notes due February 1, 2001 incorporated by reference to 
               Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated 
               February 6, 1991. 
 
          4.5  Copy of the form of Global Security representing the Company's 
               7.80% Notes due May 15, 2002, incorporated by reference to the 
               Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 27, 1992. 
 
          4.6  Proposed form of Debt Warrant Agreement for Warrants attached to 
               Debt Securities, with proposed form of Debt Warrant Certificate 
               incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's 
               Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File no. 33-53366) originally 
               filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 
               "Commission") on October 16, 1992 as amended by Amendment No. 1 
               thereto, filed with the Commission on February 23, 1993 (the 
               "1993 Form S-3"). 
 
          4.7  Proposed form of Debt Warrant Agreement for Warrants not attached 
               to Debt Securities, with proposed form of Debt Warrant 
               Certificate incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the 1993 
               Form S-3. 
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     4.8 Credit Agreement dated as of December 15, 1995 among the Company, 
         Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York and the banks listed therein, 
         incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the Company's 1995 Annual 
         Report on Form 10-K. 
 
     4.9 Credit Agreement dated as of June 28, 1996 among Abercrombie & Fitch 
         Stores, Inc., Abercrombie & Fitch Trademark, Inc., the banks listed 
         therein and Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A. as Agent. 
 
  10.  Material Contracts 
 
    10.1 Supplemental Schedule of Director who became a party to an 
         Indemnification Agreement. 
 
    10.2 The Limited, Inc. 1993 Stock Option and Performance Incentive Plan 
         (1996 Restatement) incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the 
         Company's Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-04941). 
 
    10.3 The Limited, Inc. 1996 Stock Plan for Non-Associate Directors 
         incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company's Registration 
         Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-04927). 
 
  11.  Statement re:   Computation of Per Share Earnings. 
 
  12.  Statement re:  Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges. 
 
  15.  Letter re:  Unaudited Interim Financial Information to Securities and 
       Exchange Commission re:  Incorporation of Report of Independent 
       Accountants. 
 
  27.   Financial Data Schedule. 
 
 
(b)  Reports on Form 8-K. 
     -------------------  
 
     None. 
 
                                       20 



 
  
                                 SIGNATURE 
                                 --------- 
 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the 
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 
 
                                        THE LIMITED, INC. 
                                          (Registrant) 
 
 
 
                                       By /S/ Kenneth B. Gilman 
                                          --------------------------------- 
                                          Kenneth B. Gilman, 
                                          Vice Chairman and Chief 
                                          Financial Officer* 
 
 
Date:  September 13, 1996 
 
- --------------------------- 
 
* Mr. Gilman is the principal financial officer and has been duly authorized to 
  sign on behalf of the Registrant. 
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                                 ------------- 
 
  
Exhibit No.     Document 
- -----------     --------------------------- 
 
   4.9          Credit Agreement dated as of June 28, 1996 among Abercrombie & 
                Fitch Stores, Inc., Abercrombie & Fitch Trademark, Inc., the 
                banks listed therein and Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A. as Agent. 
 
  10.1          Supplemental Schedule of Officer who became a party to an 
                Indemnification Agreement. 
 
   11           Statement re: Computation of 
                Per Share Earnings. 
 
   12           Statement re: Ratio of 
                Earnings to Fixed Charges. 
 
   15           Letter re: Unaudited Interim Financial Information to Securities 
                and Exchange Commission re: Incorporation of Independent 
                Accountants' Report 
 
   27           Financial Data Schedule 



 
  
                                                                     EXHIBIT 4.9 
                                                                     ----------- 
 
 
                                                                  CONFORMED COPY 
================================================================================ 
 
                                  $150,000,000 
 
                                CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
 
                                  dated as of 
 
 
                                 June 28, 1996 
 
 
                                     among 
 
 
                        Abercrombie & Fitch Stores, Inc. 
 
                             A & F Trademark, Inc. 
 
 
                            The Banks Listed Herein 
 
 
                        The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., 
                            as Administrative Agent 
 
                                      and 
 
                Citibank, N.A. and Morgan Guaranty Trust Company 
                           of New York, as Co-Agents 
 
 
================================================================================ 
                                                        [CS&M Ref. No. 6700-441] 
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                               CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
 
                    AGREEMENT dated as of June 28, 1996, among ABERCROMBIE & 
               FITCH STORES, INC., A & F TRADEMARK, INC., the BANKS listed on 
               the signature pages hereof, THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, N.A., as 
               Administrative Agent and CITIBANK, N.A. and MORGAN GUARANTY TRUST 
               COMPANY OF NEW YORK, as Co-Agents. 
 
 
                             Preliminary Statement 
                             --------------------- 
 
 
          The Borrowers (such term, and all other capitalized terms in this 
preliminary statement, being used as hereinafter defined) have requested the 
Banks, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, to extend credit 
to the Borrowers, in the aggregate principal amount of up to $150,000,000, in 
the form of (i) the A & F Term Loans to be made by the Banks to A & F on the 
Effective Date in an aggregate principal amount not in excess of $144,000,000, 
and (ii) the Trademark Co. Term Loans to be made by the Banks to Trademark Co. 
on the Effective Date in an aggregate principal amount not in excess of 
$6,000,000.  The proceeds of the Loans shall be used (i) by A & F to fund 
payments to be made by A & F in respect of inter-company indebtedness owed to 
The Limited or other subsidiaries of The Limited and dividends or other equity 
distributions by A & F to Holdings and (ii) by Trademark Co. to fund dividends 
or other equity distributions by Trademark Co. to The Limited.  The proceeds of 
the dividends or other equity distributions received by Holdings from A & F as 
provided in clause (i) above shall be used by Holdings to fund dividends or 
other equity distributions by Holdings to The Limited. 
 
          Accordingly, the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 
 
                                   ARTICLE I 
 
                                  DEFINITIONS 
 
          SECTION 1.01.  Definitions.  The following terms, as used herein, 
                         ------------                       
have the following meanings: 
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          "Adjusted Debt" means, at any time, the Borrower Group's Consolidated 
Debt at such time, excluding (a) any such Debt that constitutes a Subordinated 
Obligation and (b) any contingent obligation of any member of the Borrower Group 
as an account party or guarantor thereof in respect of trade letters of credit 
incurred in the ordinary course of business. 
 
          "Administrative Questionnaire" means, with respect to each Bank, the 
administrative questionnaire in the form submitted to such Bank by the Agent and 
submitted to the Agent (with a copy to the Borrowers) duly completed by such 
Bank. 
 
          "A & F" means Abercrombie & Fitch Stores, Inc., a Delaware 
corporation, and its successors. 
 
          "A & F Parent" has the meaning set forth in the definition of the term 
Reorganization. 
 
          "A & F Term Commitment" means, as to any Bank, the obligation of such 
Bank to make an A & F Term Loan to A & F in an aggregate principal amount not 
exceeding the amount set forth opposite such Bank's name in Schedule 1 hereto 
under the caption "A & F Term Commitment". 
 
          "A & F Term Loan" means a loan made by a Bank to A & F pursuant to 
Section 2.01(a). 
 
          "Affiliate" means, with respect to any member of the Borrower Group, 
any Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under common 
control with such member of the Borrower Group, but excluding other members of 
the Borrower Group.  As used in this definition, the term "control" means the 
possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the 
direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the 
ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.  For purposes of this 
Agreement and the other Loan Documents, each of The Limited and its subsidiaries 
(other than members of the Borrower Group) shall be deemed to be an Affiliate of 
each member of the Borrower Group. 
 
          "Agent" means The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., in its capacity as 
administrative agent for the Banks hereunder, and its successors in such 
capacity. 
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          "Applicable Lending Office" means, with respect to any Bank, (i) in 
the case of its Domestic Loans, its Domestic Lending Office and (ii) in the case 
of its Euro-Dollar Loans, its Euro-Dollar Lending Office. 
 
          "Assignee" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.06(c). 
 
          "Bank" means each bank listed on the signature pages hereof, each 
Assignee which becomes a Bank pursuant to Section 9.06(c), and their respective 
successors. 
 
          "Base Rate" means, for any day, a rate per annum equal to the higher 
of (i) the Prime Rate for such day and (ii) the sum of 1/2 of 1% plus the 
Federal Funds Rate for such day. 
 
          "Base Rate Loan" means at any time a loan outstanding hereunder which 
bears interest at such time at a rate based on the Base Rate pursuant to a 
Notice of Borrowing or Notice of Interest Rate Election or pursuant to Article 
VIII. 
 
          "Borrower Group" means (i) Holdings and its subsidiaries, including A 
& F, (ii) Trademark Co. and its subsidiaries and (iii) after a Reorganization, A 
& F Parent and its subsidiaries. 
 
          "Borrowers" means A & F and Trademark Co. 
 
          "Borrowing" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.03. 
 
          "Calculation Period" means a period of four consecutive fiscal 
quarters of the Borrower Group ending on the last day of a fiscal quarter or 
fiscal year for which financial statements have been delivered to the Agent 
pursuant to Section 5.01(a) or 5.01(b). 
 
          "Capital Expenditures" means, with respect to the Borrower Group for 
any period, the additions to property, plant and equipment and other capital 
expenditures of the Borrower Group for such period, as the same are (or would 
be) set forth, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, in a 
consolidated statement of cash flow of the Borrower Group for such period. 
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          "Cash Available for Principal Payments" means, for any period, the sum 
(without duplication) of (a) the Borrower Group's Consolidated Net Income for 
such period, (b) depreciation, amortization and other non-cash items deducted in 
determining such Consolidated Net Income, (c) interest expense deducted in 
determining such Consolidated Net Income, to the extent such interest expense 
constitutes a Primary Subordinated Obligation and (d) income taxes deducted in 
determining such Consolidated Net Income minus, without duplication, (i) Tax 
                                         -----                               
Sharing Payments made during such period, (ii) Capital Expenditures made during 
such period and (iii) the amount of any noncash items included in income in 
determining such Consolidated Net Income. 
 
          "Cash Interest Expense" means, with respect to the Borrower Group for 
any period, the consolidated interest expense of the Borrower Group for such 
period excluding, to the extent otherwise included therein, (a) amortization of 
financing costs paid in a previous period and (b) interest expense that 
constitutes a Primary Subordinated Obligation. 
 
          "Cash Management System" means the arrangements among The Limited and 
its subsidiaries for concentrating cash balances for investment and distributing 
cash balances for application pursuant to open account advances and repayment of 
advances between and among The Limited and such subsidiaries in the ordinary 
course of business. 
 
          "Class" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.03. 
 
          "Commitment" means, with respect to each Bank, its A & F Term 
Commitment or Trademark Co. Term Commitment or both, as the context may require. 
 
          "Consolidated Debt" means, with respect to the Borrower Group at any 
date, the consolidated Debt of the Borrower Group as of such date. 
 
          "Consolidated EBITDA" means, with respect to the Borrower Group for 
any period, the sum (without duplication) of (a) the Borrower Group's 
Consolidated Net Income for such period, excluding extraordinary or nonrecurring 
gains or losses, plus (b) interest expense deducted in determining such 
Consolidated Net Income, plus (c) income taxes deducted in determining such 
Consolidated Net Income, plus (d) depreciation and amortization deducted in 
determining such Consolidated Net Income. 



 
  
                                                                               5 
 
 
          "Consolidated Net Income" means, with respect to the Borrower Group 
for any period, the consolidated net income (or loss) of the Borrower Group for 
such period. 
 
          "Consolidated Subsidiary" means, with respect to any member of the 
Borrower Group at any date, any subsidiary or other entity the accounts of which 
would be consolidated with those of such member of the Borrower Group in its 
consolidated financial statements if such statements were prepared as of such 
date. 
 
          "Debt" of any Person means at any date, without duplication, (i) all 
obligations of such Person for borrowed money, (ii) all obligations of such 
Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other similar instruments, (iii) 
all obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purchase price of property or 
services, except trade accounts payable arising in the ordinary course of 
business, (iv) all obligations of such Person as lessee which are capitalized in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, (v) all obligations of 
such Person as an account party in respect of letters of credit and bankers' 
acceptances, (vi) all Debt of others secured by a Lien on any asset of such 
Person, whether or not such Debt is assumed by such Person, and (vii) all Debt 
of others Guaranteed by such Person. 
 
          "Default" means any condition or event which constitutes an Event of 
Default or which with the giving of notice or lapse of time or both would, 
unless cured or waived, become an Event of Default. 
 
          "Domestic Business Day" means any day except a Saturday, Sunday or 
other day on which commercial banks in New York City are authorized by law to 
close. 
 
          "Domestic Lending Office" means, as to each Bank, its office located 
at its address set forth in its Administrative Questionnaire (or identified in 
its Administrative Questionnaire as its Domestic Lending Office) or such other 
office as such Bank may hereafter designate as its Domestic Lending Office by 
notice to the Borrowers and the Agent. 
 
          "Effective Date" means the date this Agreement becomes effective in 
accordance with Section 3.01. 
 
          "Environmental and Safety Laws" means any and all applicable Federal, 
state, local and foreign statutes, laws, 
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regulations, ordinances, rules, judgments, orders, decrees, permits, approvals, 
concessions, grants, franchises, licenses, agreements with Governmental 
Authorities or other governmental restrictions or requirements binding upon a 
member of the Borrower Group relating to the environment, or to employee health 
or safety as it pertains to the use or handling of or exposure to noxious odors 
or toxic, caustic or radioactive substances, materials or wastes (including, 
without limitation, petroleum or petroleum products, polychlorinated byphenyls 
(PCBs), asbestos or asbestos containing materials) or to the preservation or 
reclamation of natural resources as a result of the actual or threatened 
emission, discharge or release of pollutants or contaminants into the 
environment including, without limitation, ambient air, surface water, 
groundwater, or land, or otherwise relating to the manufacture, processing, 
distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport or handling of any 
such pollutants, contaminants, toxic, caustic or hazardous substances, materials 
or wastes or the clean-up or other remediation thereof, including the Hazardous 
Materials Transportation Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, 
Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended by the Superfund Amendments 
and Reauthorization Act of 1986, the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 and Hazardous and Solid Waste 
Amendments of 1984, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended by the 
Clean Water Act of 1977, the Clean Air Act of 1970, as amended, the Toxic 
Substances Control Act of 1976, the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, 
as amended, the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act of 1986, the 
Safe Drinking Water Act of 1974, as amended, and any similar or implementing 
state law, and all amendments or regulations promulgated hereunder. 
 
          "ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as 
amended. 
 
          "ERISA Group" means, with respect to any member of the Borrower Group, 
all members of a controlled group of corporations and all trades or businesses 
(whether or not incorporated) under common control which, together with such 
member, are treated as a single employer under Section 414 of the Internal 
Revenue Code. 
 
          "Euro-Dollar Business Day" means any Domestic Business Day on which 
commercial banks are open for international business (including dealings in 
dollar deposits) in London. 
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          "Euro-Dollar Lending Office" means, as to each Bank, its office, 
branch or affiliate located at its address set forth in its Administrative 
Questionnaire (or identified in its Administrative Questionnaire as its Euro- 
Dollar Lending Office) or such other office, branch or affiliate of such Bank as 
it may hereafter designate as its Euro-Dollar Lending Office by notice to the 
Borrowers and the Agent. 
 
          "Euro-Dollar Loan" means at any time a loan outstanding hereunder 
which bears interest at such time at a rate based on the London Interbank 
Offered Rate or the NIBO Rate pursuant to a Notice of Borrowing or Notice of 
Interest Rate Election. 
 
          "Euro-Dollar Margin" means (a) 0.400% to and including the earlier of 
(i) the first date after a Reorganization on which A & F Parent ceases to be a 
Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of The Limited and (ii) March 31, 1997, and (b) 
thereafter, (i) 0.400% during a Level I Pricing Period, (ii) 0.500% during a 
Level II Pricing Period, (iii) 0.625% during a Level III Pricing Period, and 
(iv) 0.750% during a Level IV Pricing Period. 
 
          "Euro-Dollar Reserve Percentage" has the meaning set forth in Section 
2.05(b). 
 
          "Event of Default" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.01. 
 
          "Excess Cash Flow" means, for any period, an amount equal to the 
excess, if any, of (a) the sum of (i) 100% of the proceeds (net of underwriting 
discounts and commissions and out-of-pocket expenses) received by or for the 
account of A&F Parent during such period in respect of the issuance by A&F 
Parent of any equity securities, plus (ii) 50% of Cash Available for Principal 
Payments for such period, over (b) the aggregate principal amount of Loans 
repaid or prepaid during such period (excluding prepayments pursuant to Section 
2.08(d)); provided that, if the period for which Excess Cash Flow is being 
          --------                                                         
determined is a fiscal quarter, "Cash Available for Principal Payments" for 
purposes of clause (a)(ii) above shall be an amount equal to 25% of Cash 
Available for Principal Payments for the period of four consecutive fiscal 
quarters ended at the end of the fiscal quarter for which such determination is 
being made. 
 
          "Federal Funds Rate" means, for any day, the rate per annum (rounded 
upwards, if necessary, to the nearest 
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1/100th of l%) equal to the weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal 
funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by 
Federal funds brokers on such day, as published by the Federal Reserve Bank of 
New York on the Domestic Business Day next succeeding such day,  provided that 
                                                                ---------      
(i) if such day is not a Domestic Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such 
day shall be such rate on such transactions on the next preceding Domestic 
Business Day as so published on the next succeeding Domestic Business Day, and 
(ii) if no such rate is so published on such next succeeding Domestic Business 
Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be the average rate quoted to The 
Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., on such day on such transactions as determined by 
the Agent. 
 
          "Governmental Authority" means any federal, state, local or foreign 
court or governmental agency, authority, instrumentality or regulatory body. 
 
          "Guarantee" by any Person means any obligation, contingent or 
otherwise, of such Person directly or indirectly guaranteeing any Debt or other 
obligation of any other Person and, without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing, any obligation, direct or indirect, contingent or otherwise, of such 
Person (i) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or 
payment of) such Debt or other obligation (whether arising by virtue of 
partnership arrangements, by agreement to keep-well, to purchase assets, goods, 
securities or services, to take-or-pay, or to maintain financial statement 
conditions or otherwise) or (ii) entered into for the purpose of assuring in any 
other manner the obligee of such Debt or other obligation of the payment thereof 
or to protect such obligee against loss in respect thereof (in whole or in 
part); provided that the term Guarantee shall not include endorsements for 
       --------                                                            
collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business.  The term "Guarantee" 
used as a verb has a corresponding meaning. 
 
          "Guarantee Agreement" means the Guarantee Agreement among the 
Guarantors and the Agent, substantially in the form of Exhibit B hereto, as 
amended from time to time. 
 
          "Guarantors" means (i) as to the Obligations of each Borrower, each 
member of the Borrower Group other than the Borrowers, (ii) as to the 
Obligations of A & F, Trademark Co. and (iii) as to the Obligations of Trademark 
Co., A & F. 
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          "Holdings" means Abercrombie & Fitch Holding Corporation, a Delaware 
corporation, and its successors. 
 
          "Interest Period" means:  (1) with respect to each Euro-Dollar 
Borrowing, the period commencing on the date of such Borrowing and ending one, 
two, three or six months thereafter (or, if available, as determined by the 
Agent after consultation with the Banks, one or two weeks thereafter), as the 
applicable Borrower may elect in the applicable Notice of Borrowing or Notice of 
Interest Rate Election; provided that: 
                        --------       
 
          (a)  any Interest Period which would otherwise end on a day which is 
     not a Euro-Dollar Business Day shall be extended to the next succeeding 
     Euro-Dollar Business Day unless such Euro-Dollar Business Day falls in 
     another calendar month, in which case such Interest Period shall end on the 
     next preceding Euro-Dollar Business Day; 
 
          (b)  in the case of Interest Periods of one month or longer, any 
     Interest Period which begins on the last Euro-Dollar Business Day of a 
     calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically corresponding 
     day in the calendar month at the end of such Interest Period) shall, 
     subject to clause (c) below, end on the last Euro-Dollar Business Day of a 
     calendar month; and 
 
          (c)  if any Interest Period includes a date on which a payment of 
     principal of the Loans of the applicable Class is required to be made under 
     subsection (a) or (b) of Section 2.08 but does not end on such date, then 
     (i) the principal amount (if any) of each Euro-Dollar Loan required to be 
     repaid on such date shall have an Interest Period ending on such date and 
     (ii) the remainder (if any) of each such Euro-Dollar Loan shall have an 
     Interest Period determined as set forth above; and 
 
(2)  with respect to each Base Rate Borrowing, the period commencing on the date 
of such Borrowing and ending on the next Quarterly Payment Date that occurs 
thereafter; provided that: 
            --------       
 
          (a) any Interest Period (other than an Interest Period determined 
     pursuant to clause (b)(i) below) which would otherwise end on a day which 
     is not a Euro- 
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     Dollar Business Day shall be extended to the next succeeding Euro-Dollar 
     Business Day; and 
 
          (b)  if any Interest Period includes a date on which a payment of 
     principal of the Loans of the applicable Class is required to be made under 
     subsection (a) or (b) of Section 2.08 but does not end on such date, then 
     (i) the principal amount (if any) of each Base Rate Loan required to be 
     repaid on such date shall have an Interest Period ending on such date and 
     (ii) the remainder (if any) of each such Base Rate Loan shall have an 
     Interest Period determined as set forth above. 
 
          "Internal Revenue Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended, or any successor statute. 
 
          "Investment" means any investment in any Person, whether by means of 
share purchase, capital contribution, loan, time deposit or otherwise. 
 
          "Level I Pricing Period" means any period during which the Pricing 
Ratio for the most recent Calculation Period is less than or equal to 1.5 to 
1.0. 
 
          "Level II Pricing Period" means any period (other than a Level I 
Pricing Period) during which the Pricing Ratio for the most recent Calculation 
Period is less than or equal to 2.5 to 1.0. 
 
          "Level III Pricing Period" means any period (other than a Level I 
Pricing Period or Level II Pricing Period) during which the Pricing Ratio for 
the most recent Calculation Period is less than or equal to 3.25 to 1.0. 
 
          "Level IV Pricing Period" means any period that is not a Level I 
Pricing Period, Level II Pricing Period or Level III Pricing Period. 
 
          "Leverage Ratio" means, at any time, the ratio of (a) the Borrower 
Group's Adjusted Debt at such time to (b) the Borrower Group's Consolidated 
EBITDA for the most recent Calculation Period. 
 
          "Lien" means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, lien, pledge, 
charge, security interest or encumbrance of any kind in respect of such asset. 
For the purposes of this Agreement, a member of the Borrower Group shall be 
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deemed to own subject to a Lien any asset which it has acquired or holds subject 
to the interest of a vendor or lessor under any conditional sale agreement, 
capital lease or other title retention agreement relating to such asset. 
 
          "Loan" means an A & F Term Loan or a Trademark Co. Term Loan, whether 
made as a Base Rate Loan or a Euro-Dollar Loan. 
 
          "Loan Documents" means this Agreement, the Notes, the Guarantee 
Agreement and the Subordination Agreement. 
 
          "London Interbank Offered Rate" has the meaning set forth in Section 
2.05(b). 
 
          "Margin Stock" has the meaning given such term under Regulation U. 
 
          "Material Adverse Effect" means, with respect to the Borrower Group or 
any member thereof, (i) a materially adverse effect on the business, assets, 
results of operations or financial condition of the Borrower Group, (ii) 
material impairment of the ability of the Borrower Group to perform any material 
Obligation under the Loan Documents, or (iii) material impairment of the rights 
of or benefits available to the Banks under any Loan Document or the 
Obligations. 
 
          "Material Debt" means Debt (other than a Subordinated Obligation) of 
one or more members of the Borrower Group, arising in one or more related or 
unrelated transactions, in an aggregate principal amount exceeding $15,000,000. 
 
          "Maturity Date" means June 30, 2001. 
 
          "NIBO Rate" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(b). 
 
          "Note" means a promissory note of a Borrower payable to a Bank, 
substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto for the applicable Class, 
evidencing the obligation of the applicable Borrower to repay the Loans made by 
such Bank to such Borrower, and "Notes" means any of or all such promissory 
notes issued hereunder. 
 
          "Notice of Borrowing" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02. 
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          "Notice of Interest Rate Election" has the meaning set forth in 
Section 2.04. 
 
          "Obligations" means, with respect to either Borrower, (a) the due and 
punctual payment by such Borrower of (i) the principal of and interest on its 
Loans, when and as due, whether at maturity, by acceleration, upon one or more 
dates set for prepayment or otherwise and (ii) all other monetary obligations of 
such Borrower to the Agent and the Banks under this Agreement and the other Loan 
Documents to which such Borrower is or is to be a party, and (b) the due and 
punctual performance of all other obligations of such Borrower under this 
Agreement and such other Loan Documents. 
 
          "Parent" means, with respect to any Bank, any Person controlling such 
Bank. 
 
          "Participant" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.06(b). 
 
          "PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or any entity 
succeeding to any or all of its functions under ERISA. 
 
          "Person" means an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an 
association, a trust or any other entity or organization, including a government 
or political subdivision or an agency or instrumentality thereof. 
 
          "Plan" means at any time an employee pension benefit plan which is 
covered by Title IV of ERISA or subject to the minimum funding standards under 
Section 412 of the Internal Revenue Code and (i) is maintained by a member of 
the ERISA Group for employees of a member of the ERISA Group, (ii) has at any 
time within the preceding five years been maintained, or contributed to, by any 
Person which was at such time a member of the ERISA Group for employees of any 
Person which was at such time a member of the ERISA Group, or (iii) is 
maintained pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement or any other 
arrangement under which more than one employer makes contributions and to which 
a member of the ERISA Group is then making or accruing an obligation to make 
contributions or has within the preceding five plan years made contributions. 
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          "Pricing Period" means a Level I Pricing Period, Level II Pricing 
Period, Level III Pricing Period or Level IV Pricing Period. 
 
          "Pricing Ratio" means, for any Calculation Period, the ratio of (a) 
the Borrower Group's Adjusted Debt as of the last day of such Calculation 
Period, to (b) the Borrower Group's Consolidated EBITDA for such Calculation 
Period. 
 
          "Primary Subordinated Obligations" means, with respect to any member 
of the Borrower Group, all monetary obligations and other liabilities of such 
member at any time owing to any Affiliate, including, without limitation, the 
principal of and interest on any Debt owing to any Affiliate; provided that the 
                                                              --------          
Primary Subordinated Obligations of a member of the Borrower Group shall not 
include Secondary Subordinated Obligations of such member. 
 
          "Prime Rate" means the rate of interest publicly announced by The 
Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., in New York City from time to time as its Prime 
Rate. 
 
          "Quarterly Payment Date" means each day that is the last Euro-Dollar 
Business Day preceding the Saturday closest to January 31, April 30, July 31 and 
October 31 of each year. 
 
          "Regulation U" means Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the 
Federal Reserve System, as in effect from time to time. 
 
          "Reorganization" means (i) the formation by The Limited of a 
corporation incorporated under the laws of one of the states of the United 
States of America as a direct Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of The Limited ("A & F 
Parent"), (ii) the transfer by The Limited to A & F Parent of all the 
outstanding shares of capital stock of Holdings, Trademark Co. and, at the 
option of The Limited, the Specified Subsidiary, with the result that each of 
Holdings and Trademark Co. (and, if so transferred, the Specified Subsidiary) 
shall be a direct Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of A & F Parent and A & F shall be an 
indirect Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of A & F Parent and (iii) the execution and 
delivery by A & F Parent (and, if so transferred, the Specified Subsidiary) of 
instruments pursuant to which they shall become Guarantors pursuant to the 
Guarantee Agreement and shall agree to comply with the provisions of this 
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Agreement applicable to them, all in form and substance satisfactory to the 
Agent. 
 
          "Required Banks" means at any time Banks with Loans and unused 
Commitments representing at least 51% of the sum of the aggregate principal 
amount of Loans outstanding and unused Commitments at such time. 
 
          "Restricted Payment" means, with respect to any member of the Borrower 
Group, (a) any dividend or other distribution on any shares of such member's 
capital stock (except dividends payable solely in shares of its common stock), 
(b) any payment or other consideration on account of the purchase, repurchase, 
redemption, retirement or acquisition of (i) any shares of capital stock of any 
member of the Borrower Group or (ii) any option, warrant or other right to 
acquire any shares of such capital stock, or (c) any payment or other 
consideration on account of or in respect of any Subordinated Obligation. 
 
          "Secondary Subordinated Obligations" means, with respect to any member 
of the Borrower Group, the following: 
 
          (i) Tax Sharing Payments; 
 
          (ii) its monetary obligations, whether in respect of principal, 
     interest or otherwise, in respect of any funds advanced to it pursuant to 
     the Cash Management System after the Effective Date (or, in the case of A & 
     F Parent or any subsidiary thereof that was not a member of the Borrower 
     Group prior to a Reorganization, after a Reorganization); 
 
          (iii) its monetary obligations to Affiliates in respect of accounts 
     payable for inventory and other assets acquired from such Affiliates in the 
     ordinary course of business; 
 
          (iv) its monetary obligations to Affiliates in respect of employee 
     benefit plans maintained for its employees in the ordinary course of 
     business; 
 
          (v) its monetary obligations to reimburse Affiliates for compensation 
     paid to its employees; 
 
          (vi) its monetary obligations to reimburse Affiliates for rents paid 
     to third parties under leases 
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     of properties utilized by it, to the extent reasonably allocable to it; and 
 
          (vii) its monetary obligations to reimburse Affiliates for insurance 
     premiums paid to independent insurance carriers (or to Affiliates for self- 
     insurance, in amounts not exceeding fair market premiums), to the extent 
     reasonably allocable to it. 
 
          "Specified Subsidiary" means High Desert Factoring, Inc., a Nevada 
corporation, and its successors. 
 
          "Subordinated Obligations" means the Primary Subordinated Obligations 
and the Secondary Subordinated Obligations. 
 
          "Subordination Agreement" means the Subordination Agreement among The 
Limited, Holdings, the Borrowers and the Agent, substantially in the form of 
Exhibit C hereto, as amended from time to time. 
 
          "subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person, any corporation or 
other entity (including any partnership) of which securities or other ownership 
interests having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of 
directors or other persons performing similar functions are at the time directly 
or indirectly owned by such Person. 
 
          "Tax Sharing Payments" means payments made by one or more members of 
the Borrower Group to Affiliates in amounts not exceeding (in the aggregate, for 
all members of the Borrower Group) the United States federal, state and local 
income and franchise taxes that would have been payable by the Borrower Group 
for taxable periods beginning on or after February 4, 1996, if the members of 
the Borrower Group were not members of  consolidated, combined or unitary group 
with The Limited and its other subsidiaries, taking into consideration all post- 
February 3, 1996 carry-forwards, deductions and credits that would have been 
available to the members of the Borrower Group under such circumstances, and 
provided that such payments are not made in advance of the times that such 
income and franchise taxes would have been so payable by the members of the 
Borrower Group; provided that the amount of such payments shall not be 
                --------                                               
materially increased as a result of a Reorganization. 
 
          "Temporary Cash Investment" means any Investment in (i) direct 
obligations of the United States or any agency 
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thereof, or obligations guaranteed by the United States or any agency thereof, 
(ii) commercial paper rated in the highest grade by a nationally recognized 
credit rating agency, (iii) time deposits with, including certificates of 
deposit issued by any office located in the United States of any bank or trust 
company which is organized under the laws of the United States or any state 
thereof and has capital, surplus and undivided profits aggregating at least 
$500,000,000, (iv) repurchase agreements with respect to securities described in 
clause (i) above entered into with an office of a bank or trust company meeting 
the criteria specified in clause (iii) above, or (v) any mutual fund managed by 
a reputable investment manager that invests substantially all of its assets in 
Investments of the type described in clauses (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv) above; 
provided in each case that such Investment matures within one year from the date 
- --------                                                                         
of acquisition thereof by a member of the Borrower Group (except that an 
Investment described in clause (v) above need not satisfy the foregoing maturity 
requirement, but such Investment shall be subject to redemption on demand and 
the Investments made by such mutual fund shall satisfy the foregoing maturity 
requirement). 
 
          "The Limited" means The Limited, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its 
successors. 
 
          "Trademark Co." means A & F Trademark, Inc., a Delaware corporation, 
and its successors. 
 
          "Trademark Co. Term Commitment" means, as to any Bank, the obligation 
of such Bank to make a Trademark Co. Term Loan to Trademark Co. in an aggregate 
principal amount not exceeding the amount set forth opposite such Bank's name in 
Schedule 1 hereto under the caption "Trademark Co. Term Commitment". 
 
          "Trademark Co. Term Loan" means a loan made by a Bank to Trademark Co. 
pursuant to Section 2.01(b). 
 
          "Transactions" means the transactions contemplated by the Loan 
Documents, including the borrowing of the Loans. 
 
          "Type" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.03. 
 
          "Unfunded Liabilities" means, with respect to any Plan at any time, 
the amount (if any) by which (i) the present value of all benefits under such 
Plan exceeds (ii) the fair market value of all Plan assets allocable to 
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such benefits, all determined as of the then most recent valuation date for such 
Plan, but only (a) to the extent that such excess represents a potential 
liability of a member of the ERISA Group to the PBGC or any other Person under 
Title IV of ERISA, or (b) with respect to a Plan that is a Multiemployer Plan as 
described in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA, to the extent of the Unfunded 
Liabilities of such Plan allocable to any member of the ERISA Group under 
Section 4211 of ERISA. 
 
          "Wholly-Owned Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person, any 
subsidiary all of the shares of capital stock or other ownership interests of 
which (except directors' qualifying shares) are at the time directly or 
indirectly owned by such Person. 
 
          SECTION 1.02.  Accounting Terms and Determina-tions.  Unless otherwise 
                         -------------------------------------                   
specified herein, all accounting terms used herein shall be interpreted, all 
accounting determinations hereunder shall be made, and all financial statements 
required to be delivered hereunder shall be prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles as in effect from time to time, applied 
on a basis consistent (except for changes concurred in by the Borrower Group's 
independent public accountants) with the most recent audited (or, prior to the 
first time at which audited financial statements are delivered, unaudited) 
consolidated financial statements of the Borrower Group  delivered to the Banks; 
provided that, if the Borrowers notify the Agent that they wish to amend any 
- --------                                                                     
covenant contained in Article V or the definition of "Pricing Ratio" to 
eliminate the effect of any change in generally accepted accounting principles 
on the operation of such covenant or such definition (or if the Agent notifies 
the Borrowers that the Required Banks wish to amend any such covenant or such 
definition for such purpose), then compliance with such covenant or the 
calculation of the Pricing Ratio, as the case may be, shall be determined on the 
basis of generally accepted accounting principles in effect immediately before 
the relevant change in generally accepted accounting principles became 
effective, until either such notice is withdrawn or such amendment becomes 
effective in accordance with this Agreement. 
 
          SECTION 1.03.  Types of Borrowings.  The term "Borrowing" refers to 
                         --------------------                                 
the portion of the aggregate principal amount of Loans of any Class outstanding 
hereunder which bears interest of a specific Type and for a specific 
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Interest Period (subject to clauses (1)(c) and (2)(b) of the definition of 
Interest Period) pursuant to a Notice of Borrowing or Notice of Interest Rate 
Election.  Each Bank's ratable share of each Borrowing is referred to herein as 
a separate "Loan".  Borrowings and Loans hereunder are distinguished by "Class" 
and by "Type".  The "Class" of a Loan (or of a Commitment to make such a Loan or 
of a Borrowing comprising such Loans) refers to whether such Loan is an A & F 
Term Loan or a Trademark Co. Term Loan, each of which constitutes a Class.  The 
"Type" of a Loan refers to whether such Loan is a Base Rate Loan or a Euro- 
Dollar Loan.  Borrowings and Loans may be identified by both Class and Type 
                                                                            
(e.g., an "A & F Euro-Dollar Loan" is a Loan which is both an A & F Term Loan 
- -----                                                                         
and a Euro-Dollar Loan). 
 
 
                                  ARTICLE II 
 
                                  THE CREDITS 
 
          SECTION 2.01.  Commitments to Lend.  (a)  A & F Term Loans.  Each Bank 
                         --------------------       -----------------            
severally agrees, on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, to 
make a loan to A & F on the Effective Date in an aggregate principal amount not 
exceeding its A & F Term Commitment. 
 
          (b)  Trademark Co. Term Loans.  Each Bank severally agrees, on the 
               -------------------------                                     
terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, to make a loan to Trademark 
Co. on the Effective Date in an aggregate principal amount not exceeding its 
Trademark Co. Term Commitment. 
 
          (c)  Borrowings Ratable.  Each Borrowing under subsection (a) or (b) 
               -------------------                                             
of this Section 2.01 shall be made from the Banks ratably in proportion to their 
respective Commitments of the relevant Class. 
 
          SECTION 2.02.  Method of Borrowing.  (a)  Each Borrower shall give the 
                         --------------------                                    
Agent notice (a "Notice of Borrowing") not later than 10:00 A.M. (New York City 
time) on the Effective Date (if all Borrowings to be made on such date are to be 
comprised of Base Rate Loans) or at least two 
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Euro-Dollar Business Days before the Effective Date (if any Borrowing to be made 
on such date is to be comprised of Euro-Dollar Loans) (or such later time as the 
Agent shall agree to accept such notice), specifying: 
 
          (i) the Effective Date, which shall be a Euro-Dollar Business Day; 
 
          (ii) the aggregate amount of the Borrowing to be made by each Borrower 
     on the Effective Date, which shall be $5,000,000 or a larger multiple of 
     $1,000,000; 
 
          (iii) whether the Loans comprising such Borrowings are to be Base Rate 
     Loans or Euro-Dollar Loans; and 
 
          (iv) in the case of a Euro-Dollar Borrowing, the duration of the 
     initial Interest Period applicable thereto, subject to the provisions of 
     the definition of Interest Period. 
 
          (b)  Upon receipt of a Notice of Borrowing, the Agent shall 
promptly notify each Bank of the contents thereof and of such Bank's share of 
such Borrowing and such Notice of Borrowing shall not thereafter be revocable by 
the Borrowers. 
 
          (c)  Not later than 12:00 Noon (New York City time) on the Effective 
Date, each Bank shall make available its share of the Borrowings to be made on 
such date, in Federal or other funds immediately available in New York City, to 
the Agent at its address specified in or pursuant to Section 9.01.  Unless the 
Agent determines that any applicable condition specified in Article III has not 
been satisfied, the Agent will make the funds so received from the Banks 
available to the respective Borrowers at the Agent's aforesaid address. 
 
          (d)  Unless the Agent shall have received notice from a Bank prior to 
the Effective Date that such Bank will not make available to the Agent such 
Bank's share of the Borrowings to be made on such date, the Agent may assume 
that such Bank has made such share available to the Agent on such date in 
accordance with subsection (c) of this Section 2.02 and the Agent may, in 
reliance upon such assumption, make available to the applicable Borrower on such 
date a corresponding amount.  If and to the extent that such Bank shall not have 
so made such share available to the Agent, such Bank and the applicable Borrower 
severally agree 
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to repay to the Agent forthwith on demand such corresponding amount together 
with interest thereon, for each day from the date such amount is made available 
by the Agent until the date such amount is repaid to the Agent, at (i) in the 
case of such Borrower, a rate per annum equal to the higher of the Federal Funds 
Rate and the interest rate applicable thereto pursuant to Section 2.05, and (ii) 
in the case of such Bank, the Federal Funds Rate.  If such Bank shall repay to 
the Agent such corresponding amount in respect of a Borrowing, such amount so 
repaid shall constitute such Bank's Loan included in such Borrowing for purposes 
of this Agreement. 
 
          SECTION 2.03.  Notes.  (a)  Each Bank's Loans to a Borrower shall be 
                         ------                                                
evidenced by a separate Note (in the form applicable to such Class) payable to 
the order of such Bank for the account of its Applicable Lending Office in an 
amount equal to (i) in the case of its Note evidencing A & F Term Loans, the 
aggregate principal amount of A & F Term Loans made by such Bank (or its 
predecessor in interest) on the Effective Date and (ii) in the case of its Note 
evidencing Trademark Co. Term Loans, the aggregate principal amount of Trademark 
Co. Term Loans made by such Bank (or its predecessor in interest) on the 
Effective Date. 
 
          (b)  Each Bank may, by notice to the applicable Borrower and the 
Agent, request that its Loans of a particular Type and Class be evidenced by a 
separate Note.  Each such Note shall be in substantially the form of Exhibit A 
hereto applicable to the relevant Class with appropriate modifications to 
reflect the fact that it evidences solely Loans of the relevant Type.  Each 
reference in this Agreement to the "Note" or "Notes" of such Bank shall be 
deemed to refer to and include any or all of such Notes, as the context may 
require. 
 
          (c)  Upon receipt of each Bank's Note or Notes pursuant to Section 
3.01(b), the Agent shall forward such Note or Notes to such Bank.  Each Bank 
shall record the date and amount of each Loan made by it and the date and amount 
of each payment of principal made by the applicable Borrower with respect 
thereto, and prior to any transfer of any of its Notes shall endorse on the 
schedule forming a part thereof appropriate notations to evidence the foregoing 
information with respect to each such Loan then outstanding; provided that the 
                                                             --------          
failure of any Bank to make any such recordation or endorsement shall not affect 
the obligations of the applicable Borrower hereunder or under the Notes. 
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Each Bank is hereby irrevocably authorized by each Borrower so to endorse its 
Note and to attach to and make a part of its Note a continuation of any such 
schedule as and when required. 
 
          SECTION 2.04.  Interest Rate Elections.  (a)  The initial Type of 
                         ------------------------                           
Loans comprising each Borrowing, and the duration of the initial Interest Period 
applicable thereto if they are initially Euro-Dollar Loans, shall be as 
specified in the Notice of Borrowing.  Thereafter, each Borrower may from time 
to time elect to change or continue the Type of, or the duration of the Interest 
Period applicable to, the Loans made to such Borrower included in any Borrowing 
(excluding overdue Loans and subject in each case to the provisions of the 
definition of Interest Period and Article VIII), as follows: 
 
          (i) if such Loans are Base Rate Loans, such Borrower may elect to 
     designate such Loans as Euro-Dollar Loans, may elect to continue such Loans 
     as Base Rate Loans for an additional Interest Period, or may elect to 
     designate such Loans as any combination of Base Rate Loans and Euro-Dollar 
     Loans; and 
 
          (ii) if such Loans are Euro-Dollar Loans, the Borrower may elect to 
     designate such Loans as Base Rate Loans, may elect to continue such Loans 
     as Euro-Dollar Loans for an additional Interest Period, or may elect to 
     designate such Loans as any combination of Base Rate Loans and Euro-Dollar 
     Loans. 
 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Borrower may not elect an Interest Period for 
Euro-Dollar Loans unless (A) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of such 
Euro-Dollar Loans to which such Interest Period will apply is at least 
$5,000,000 and (B) such election will not result in the total number of 
outstanding Euro-Dollar Borrowings of a Borrower exceeding five at any time. 
 
          (b)  Any election permitted by subsection (a) of this Section may 
become effective on any Euro-Dollar Business Day specified by the applicable 
Borrower (the "Election Date"); provided that such Borrower may not specify an 
                                --------                                       
Election Date with respect to an outstanding Euro-Dollar Loan that is not the 
last day of the Interest Period therefor.  Each such election shall be made by a 
Borrower by delivering a notice (a "Notice of Interest Rate Election") to the 
Agent not later than 10:00 A.M. (New York 



 
  
                                                                              22 
 
 
City time) at least one Domestic Business Day before the Election Date, if all 
the resulting Loans will be Base Rate Loans, and at least three Euro-Dollar 
Business Days before the Election Date, if the resulting Loans will include 
Euro-Dollar Loans.  Each Notice of Interest Rate Election shall specify with 
respect to the outstanding Loans to which such notice applies: 
 
          (i) the Election Date; 
 
          (ii) if the Type of Loan is to be changed, the new Type of Loan and, 
     if such new Type is a Euro-Dollar Loan, the duration of the first Interest 
     Period applicable thereto; 
 
          (iii) if such Loans are Euro-Dollar Loans and the Type of such Loans 
     is to be continued for an additional or different Interest Period, the 
     duration of such additional or different Interest Period; and 
 
          (iv) if such Loans are to be designated as a combination of Base Rate 
     Loans and Euro-Dollar Loans, the information specified in clauses (i) 
     through (iii) above as to each resulting Borrowing and the aggregate amount 
     of each such Borrowing. 
 
Each Interest Period specified in a Notice of Interest Rate Election shall 
comply with the provisions of the definition of Interest Period and the last 
sentence of subsection (a) of this Section. 
 
          (c)  Upon receipt of a Notice of Interest Rate Election, the Agent 
shall promptly notify each Bank of the contents thereof and of such Bank's share 
of each Borrowing affected thereby and such notice shall not thereafter be 
revocable by the Borrower. 
 
          (d)  If a Borrower (i) fails to deliver a timely Notice of Interest 
Rate Election to the Agent electing to continue or change the Type of, or the 
duration of the Interest Period applicable to, the Loans included in any 
Borrowing as provided in this Section and (ii) has not theretofore delivered a 
notice of prepayment relating to such Loans, then such Borrower shall be deemed 
to have given the Agent a Notice of Interest Rate Election electing to change 
the Type of such Loans to (or continue the Type thereof as) Base Rate Loans, 
with an Interest Period commencing on the last day of the then current Interest 
Period. 
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          SECTION 2.05.  Interest Rates.  (a)  Each Base Rate Loan shall bear 
                         ---------------                                      
interest on the outstanding principal amount thereof, for each day from the date 
such Loan is made until it becomes due, at a rate per annum equal to the Base 
Rate for such day.  Such interest shall be payable for each Interest Period on 
the last day thereof.  Any overdue principal of and, to the extent permitted by 
law, overdue interest on any Base Rate Loan shall bear interest, payable on 
demand, for each day until paid at a rate per annum equal to the sum of 2% plus 
the Base Rate for such day. 
 
          (b)  Each Euro-Dollar Loan shall bear interest on the outstanding 
principal amount thereof, for the Interest Period applicable thereto, at a rate 
per annum equal to the sum of the applicable Euro-Dollar Margin at the time plus 
(i) if such Euro-Dollar Loan has an Interest Period of one or two weeks 
duration, the applicable NIBO Rate, or (ii) otherwise, the applicable London 
Interbank Offered Rate.  Such interest shall be payable for each Interest Period 
on the last day thereof and, if such Interest Period is longer than three 
months, at intervals of three months after the first day thereof. 
 
          The "London Interbank Offered Rate" means, with respect to any Euro- 
Dollar Borrowing for any Interest Period, the rate appearing on Page 3750 of the 
Telerate Service (or on any successor or substitute page of such Service, or any 
successor to or substitute for such Service, providing rate quotations 
comparable to those currently provided on such page of such Service, as 
determined by the Agent from time to time for purposes of providing quotations 
of interest rates applicable to dollar deposits in the London interbank market) 
at approximately 11:00 A.M., London time, two Euro-Dollar Business Days prior to 
the commencement of such Interest Period, as the rate for dollar deposits with a 
maturity comparable to such Interest Period.  In the event that such rate is not 
so available at such time for any reason, then the "London Interbank Offered 
Rate" with respect to such Euro-Dollar Borrowing for such Interest Period shall 
be the rate at which dollar deposits of $5,000,000 and for a maturity comparable 
to such Interest Period are offered to the principal London office of the Agent 
in immediately available funds in the London interbank market at approximately 
11:00 A.M., London time, two Euro-Dollar Business Days prior to the commencement 
of such Interest Period. 



 
  
                                                                              24 
 
 
          "NIBO Rate" means, with respect to any Euro-Dollar Borrowing for any 
Interest Period, an interest rate per annum (rounded upwards, if necessary, to 
the next higher 1/16th of 1%) equal to the interest rate at which dollar 
deposits of $5,000,000 and for a maturity comparable to such Interest Period are 
offered in immediately available funds to the Administrative Agent at the 
Eurodollar lending offices where its foreign currency and exchange operations 
and Eurodollar funding operations are customarily conducted in the international 
interbank market at approximately 10:00 A.M., New York City time, two Euro- 
Dollar Business Days prior to the commencement of such Interest Period. 
 
          "Euro-Dollar Reserve Percentage" means for any day that percentage 
(expressed as a decimal) which is in effect on such day, as prescribed by the 
Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (or any successor) for 
determining the maximum reserve requirement for a member bank of the Federal 
Reserve System in New York City with deposits exceeding five billion dollars in 
respect of "Eurocurrency liabilities" (or in respect of any other category of 
liabilities which includes deposits by reference to which the interest rate on 
Euro-Dollar Loans is determined or any category of extensions of credit or other 
assets which includes loans by a non-United States office of any Bank to United 
States residents). 
 
          (c)  Any overdue principal of and, to the extent permitted by law, 
overdue interest on any Euro-Dollar Loan shall bear interest, payable on demand, 
for each day from and including the date payment thereof was due to but 
excluding the date of actual payment, at a rate per annum equal to the sum of 2% 
plus the higher of (i) the sum of the applicable Euro-Dollar Margin at the time 
plus the London Interbank Offered Rate or NIBO Rate, as the case may be, 
applicable to such Loan and (ii) the applicable Euro-Dollar Margin at the time 
plus the rate per annum at which one-day (or, if such amount due remains unpaid 
more than three Euro-Dollar Business Days, then for such other period of time 
not longer than three months as the Agent may select) deposits in dollars in an 
amount approximately equal to such overdue payment due to The Chase Manhattan 
Bank, N.A., are offered to The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., in the London 
interbank market for the applicable period determined as provided above (or, if 
the circumstances described in clause (a) or (b) of Section 8.01 shall exist, at 
a rate per annum equal to the sum of 2% plus the Base Rate for such day). 
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          (d)  For so long as any Bank maintains reserves against "Eurocurrency 
liabilities" (or any other category of liabilities which includes deposits by 
reference to which the interest rate on Euro-Dollar Loans is determined or any 
category of extensions of credit or other assets which includes loans by a non- 
United States office of any Bank to United States residents), and as a result 
the cost to such Bank (or its Euro-Dollar Lending Office) of making or 
maintaining its Euro-Dollar Loans is increased, then such Bank may require the 
applicable Borrower to pay, contemporaneously with each payment of interest on 
any Euro-Dollar Loan of such Bank to such Borrower, additional interest on such 
Euro-Dollar Loan for the Interest Period of such Euro-Dollar Loan at a rate per 
annum up to but not exceeding the excess of (i)(A) the applicable London 
Interbank Offered Rate or NIBO Rate, as the case may be, divided by (B) one 
minus the Euro-Dollar Reserve Percentage over (ii) the rate specified in the 
preceding clause (i)(A).  Any Bank wishing to require payment of such additional 
interest pursuant to the preceding sentence (x) shall so notify the applicable 
Borrower and the Agent, in which case such additional interest on the Euro- 
Dollar Loans of such Bank to such Borrower shall be payable to such Bank at the 
place indicated in such notice with respect to each Interest Period commencing 
at least three Euro-Dollar Business Days after the giving of such notice and (y) 
shall furnish to the applicable Borrower at least five Euro-Dollar Business Days 
prior to each date on which interest is payable on such Euro-Dollar Loans an 
officer's certificate setting forth the amount to which such Bank is then 
entitled under this subsection (d) (which shall be consistent with such Bank's 
good faith estimate of the level at which the related reserves are maintained by 
it).  Each such certificate shall be accompanied by such information as the 
applicable Borrower may reasonably request as to the computation set forth 
therein. 
 
          (e)  The Agent shall determine each interest rate applicable to the 
Loans hereunder.  The Agent shall give prompt notice to the applicable Borrower 
and the participating Banks by telecopy, telex or cable of each rate of interest 
so determined, and its determination thereof shall be conclusive in the absence 
of manifest error.  For purposes of determining the Euro-Dollar Margin, Pricing 
Periods shall be determined based upon the Pricing Ratio for the most recent 
Calculation Period.  Any change in Pricing Periods shall be effective on and as 
of the date of delivery to the Agent of financial statements pursuant to 
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Section 5.01(a) or (b) indicating a change in the Pricing Ratio. 
 
          SECTION 2.06.  Fees.  The Borrowers jointly and severally agree to pay 
                         -----                                                   
to the Agent on the Effective Date the fees separately agreed to be payable on 
the Effective Date, for distribution among the Banks as separately agreed. 
 
          SECTION 2.07.  Termination of Commitments.  The  Commitments shall 
                         ---------------------------                         
automatically terminate at the close of business on the Effective Date or, if 
the Effective Date does not occur on or prior to July 12, 1996, at the close of 
business on such date. 
 
          SECTION 2.08.  Mandatory Repayments and Prepayments.  (a)  The 
                         -------------------------------------           
Borrowers shall repay the Loans in an aggregate principal amount equal to 
$10,000,000 on June 30 of each year and $25,000,000 on December 31 of each year, 
commencing on and including June 30, 1997, and ending on and including the 
Maturity Date. 
 
          (b)  Any and all Loans outstanding on the Maturity Date shall be due 
and payable on such date. 
 
          (c)  In the event that either Holdings or Trademark Co. ceases to be a 
direct Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of The Limited at any time prior to a 
Reorganization, or a direct Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of A & F Parent at any time 
after a Reorganization, the Borrowers shall prepay all Loans then outstanding at 
such time.  In the event that A & F is neither a direct Wholly-Owned Subsidiary 
of Holdings nor a direct Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of A&F Parent at any time, the 
Borrowers shall prepay all Loans then outstanding at such time.  In the event 
that at any time after a Reorganization The Limited ceases to own directly at 
least 80% of the outstanding capital stock of A & F Parent, or for any other 
reason A & F Parent and its consolidated subsidiaries cease to be consolidated 
subsidiaries of The Limited, then the Borrowers shall prepay all Loans then 
outstanding at such time. 
 
          (d)  In the event that at any time on or after the date of a 
Reorganization A&F Parent ceases to be a direct Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of The 
Limited (i) as promptly as practicable after the end of each fiscal quarter of 
the Borrower Group (and in any event by the time that financial statements are 
required to be delivered with respect to such fiscal quarter), commencing with 
the fiscal quarter during 
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which A&F Parent ceases to be a direct Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of The Limited, 
the Borrowers shall prepay Loans in an aggregate principal amount equal to 
Excess Cash Flow with respect to such fiscal quarter, provided that the 
Borrowers shall not be required to make any prepayment pursuant to this clause 
(i) after making the prepayment in respect of the fiscal quarter during which 
the aggregate principal amount of the Loans is reduced to less than $50,000,000, 
and (ii) as promptly as practicable after the end of each successive period of 
four consecutive fiscal quarters commencing at the end of the last fiscal 
quarter for which a prepayment was required pursuant to clause (i) above (and in 
any event by the time that financial statements are required to be delivered 
with respect to the last fiscal quarter included in such period), the Borrowers 
shall prepay Loans in an aggregate principal amount equal to Excess Cash Flow 
with respect to such period. 
 
          (e)  On the date of each repayment or prepayment of Loans pursuant to 
this Section, the applicable Borrower shall pay interest accrued on the 
principal amount repaid or prepaid to the day of repayment or prepayment.  The 
repayments and prepayments of the Loans required by the respective subsections 
of this Section and the optional prepayments permitted by Section 2.09 are 
separate and cumulative, so that any one such repayment or prepayment shall 
reduce any other repayment or prepayment only as and to the extent specified in 
subsection (g) of this Section. 
 
          (f)  Prior to the date of each mandatory repayment or prepayment 
pursuant to this Section, the applicable Borrower shall, by notice to the Agent 
given not later than 11:00 A.M. (New York City time) on (i) the Domestic 
Business Day prior to the date of repayment or prepayment of any Base Rate 
Borrowing, and (ii) the third Euro-Dollar Business Day prior to the date of 
repayment or prepayment of any Euro-Dollar Borrowing, select which outstanding 
Borrowings of the required Class are to be repaid or prepaid; provided that such 
                                                              --------           
Borrower shall not elect to prepay any Euro-Dollar Borrowing if a Base Rate 
Borrowing of the required Class is outstanding.  If the applicable Borrower 
fails to deliver any such notice by the time specified above, it shall be deemed 
to have notified the Agent to apply such repayment or prepayment, first, to any 
Base Rate Borrowing of the required Class then outstanding and, second, to 
Eurodollar Borrowings of the required Class in chronological order based upon 
the last day of their respective Interest Periods (allocating first to the 
Eurodollar Borrowing with the least 
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number of days in its remaining Interest Period).  Upon receipt of such notice, 
the Agent shall promptly notify each Bank of the contents thereof and of such 
Bank's ratable share of such prepayment, and such notice shall not thereafter be 
revocable by the applicable Borrower.  Each such repayment or prepayment shall 
be applied to repay or prepay ratably the respective Loans included in the 
Borrowings so selected. 
 
          (g)  Each prepayment of Loans pursuant to Section 2.09 or subsection 
(d) of this Section shall be applied to reduce repayments scheduled to be made 
pursuant to subsection (a) of this Section pro rata. 
 
          SECTION 2.09.  Optional Prepayments.  (a)  A Borrower may, upon at 
                         ---------------------                               
least one Domestic Business Day's notice to the Agent, in the case of Base Rate 
Borrowings, or three Euro-Dollar Business Days' notice to the Agent, in the case 
of Euro-Dollar Borrowings, prepay any Borrowing in whole at any time, or from 
time to time in part in amounts aggregating $5,000,000 or any larger multiple of 
$1,000,000, by paying the principal amount to be prepaid together with accrued 
interest thereon to the date of prepayment.  Each such notice of prepayment 
shall specify which outstanding Borrowing is to be prepaid in connection 
therewith.  Each such optional prepayment shall be applied to prepay ratably the 
Loans of the several Banks included in such Borrowing. 
 
          (b)  Upon receipt of a notice of prepayment pursuant to this Section, 
the Agent shall promptly notify each Bank of the contents thereof and of such 
Bank's ratable share of such prepayment and such notice shall not thereafter be 
revocable by the applicable Borrower. 
 
          SECTION 2.10.  General Provisions as to Payments.  (a)  Each Borrower 
                         ----------------------------------                     
shall make each payment of principal of, and interest on, its Loans and of fees 
payable by it hereunder, not later than 12:00 Noon (New York City time) on the 
date when due, in Federal or other funds immediately available in New York City, 
to the Agent at its address referred to in Section 9.01.  The Agent will 
promptly distribute to each Bank its ratable share of each such payment received 
by the Agent for the account of the Banks.  Whenever any payment of principal 
of, or interest on, the Base Rate Loans or of fees shall be due on a day which 
is not a Domestic Business Day, the date for payment thereof shall be extended 
to the next succeeding Domestic Business Day.  Whenever any payment of principal 
of, or interest on, 
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the Euro-Dollar Loans shall be due on a day which is not a Euro-Dollar Business 
Day, the date for payment thereof shall be extended to the next succeeding Euro- 
Dollar Business Day unless such Euro-Dollar Business Day falls in another 
calendar month, in which case the date for payment thereof shall be the next 
preceding Euro-Dollar Business Day.  If the date for any payment of principal is 
extended by operation of law or otherwise, interest thereon shall be payable for 
such extended time. 
 
          (b)  Unless the Agent shall have received notice from a Borrower prior 
to the date on which any payment is due from such Borrower to the Banks 
hereunder that such Borrower will not make such payment in full, the Agent may 
assume that such Borrower has made such payment in full to the Agent on such 
date and the Agent may, in reliance upon such assumption, cause to be 
distributed to each Bank on such due date an amount equal to the amount then due 
such Bank.  If and to the extent that such Borrower shall not have so made such 
payment, each Bank shall repay to the Agent forthwith on demand such amount 
distributed to such Bank together with interest thereon, for each day from the 
date such amount is distributed to such Bank until the date such Bank repays 
such amount to the Agent, at the Federal Funds Rate. 
 
          SECTION 2.11.  Funding Losses.  If any payment of principal with 
                         ---------------                                   
respect to any Euro-Dollar Loan (pursuant to Article II, VI or VIII or 
otherwise) is made on any day other than the last day of the Interest Period 
applicable thereto, or the end of an applicable period fixed pursuant to Section 
2.05(c), or if a Borrower fails to borrow, continue or prepay any Euro-Dollar 
Loans after notice has been given to any Bank in accordance with Section 2.02, 
2.04 or 2.08, the applicable Borrower shall reimburse each Bank within 15 days 
after demand for any resulting loss or expense incurred by it (or by an existing 
or prospective Participant in the related Loan), including (without limitation) 
any loss incurred in obtaining, liquidating or employing deposits from third 
parties, but excluding loss of margin for the period after any such payment or 
failure to borrow; provided that such Bank shall have delivered to such Borrower 
                   --------                                                      
a certificate setting forth the amount of such loss or expense and a summary 
computation thereof, which certificate shall be conclusive in the absence of 
manifest error. 
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          SECTION 2.12.  Computation of Interest.  Interest based on the Prime 
                         ------------------------                              
Rate hereunder shall be computed on the basis of a year of 365 days (or 366 days 
in a leap year) and paid for the actual number of days elapsed (including the 
first day but excluding the last day).  All other interest shall be computed on 
the basis of a year of 360 days and paid for the actual number of days elapsed 
(including the first day but excluding the last day). 
 
 
                                  ARTICLE III 
 
                                  CONDITIONS 
 
          SECTION 3.01.  Conditions.  This Agreement shall become effective on 
                         -----------                                           
the date that each of the following conditions shall have been satisfied (or 
waived in accordance with Section 9.05): 
 
          (a) receipt by the Agent of counterparts hereof signed by each of the 
     parties hereto (or, in the case of any party as to which an executed 
     counterpart shall not have been received, receipt by the Agent in form 
     satisfactory to it of telegraphic, telex or other written confirmation from 
     such party of execution of a counterpart hereof by such party); 
 
          (b) receipt by the Agent for the account of each Bank of a duly 
     executed Note or Notes, dated on or before the Effective Date complying 
     with the provisions of Section 2.03; 
 
          (c) receipt by the Agent of opinions of each of Samuel P. Fried, Esq., 
     and Davis Polk & Wardwell, in each case as counsel for the Borrowers and 
     their respective Affiliates that are parties to the Loan Documents, 
     substantially in the forms of Exhibits D-1 and D-2 hereto, respectively, 
     and covering such additional matters relating to the transactions 
     contemplated hereby as the Required Banks may reasonably request, and 
     receipt by the Agent of an opinion of Cravath, Swaine & Moore, counsel for 
     the Agent, substantially in the form of Exhibit D-3 hereto; 
 
          (d) receipt by the Agent of a Notice of Borrowing as required by 
     Section 2.02; 
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          (e) immediately after the Borrowings to be made on such date, no 
     Default shall have occurred and be continuing; 
 
          (f) the representations and warranties of each of the Borrowers 
     contained in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall be true on 
     and as of such date; 
 
          (g) receipt by the Agent of a certificate signed by the President, any 
     Vice President, the Treasurer or an attorney-in-fact of each of the 
     Borrowers, dated the Effective Date, to the effect set forth in clauses (e) 
     and (f) above; 
 
          (h) receipt by the Agent of counterparts of the Guarantee Agreement 
     duly executed by the parties thereto; 
 
          (i) receipt by the Agent of counterparts of the Subordination 
     Agreement, duly executed by the parties thereto; 
 
          (j) the Banks shall be satisfied that, after giving effect to the 
     advance of the Loans and application of the proceeds thereof, the Borrower 
     Group shall have sufficient liquidity to satisfy their current liabilities 
     (including interest payments in respect of the Loans) and meet their 
     working capital needs on an ongoing basis; 
 
          (k) the fact that (i) there shall not have occurred a material adverse 
     change in the business, assets, results of operations or financial 
     condition of the Borrower Group since February 3, 1996, and (ii) there is 
     no action, suit or proceeding pending or threatened against or affecting 
     any member of the Borrower Group or any of its Affiliates in which there is 
     a reasonable possibility of an adverse decision that would reasonably be 
     expected to materially adversely affect the ability of either Borrower to 
     perform any of its obligations under the Loan Documents or the rights of 
     the Banks thereunder or the ability of the Banks to exercise such rights; 
 
          (l) receipt by the Agent of (i) all fees and other compensation 
     payable to the Agent or the Banks on or prior to the Effective Date 
     pursuant to their agreements with the Borrowers and (ii) reimbursement of 
     all 
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     expenses of the Agent for which the Borrowers are liable hereunder to the 
     extent invoices therefor have been presented; and 
 
          (m) receipt by the Agent of all documents it may reasonably request 
     relating to the existence of each of the Borrowers and the Guarantors, the 
     corporate authority for and the validity of the Loan Documents, and any 
     other matters relevant hereto, all in form and substance satisfactory to 
     the Agent; 
 
provided that this Agreement shall not become effective or be binding on any 
- --------                                                                     
party hereto unless all of the foregoing conditions are satisfied not later than 
July 12, 1996. 
 
 
                                  ARTICLE IV 
 
                        REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 
 
          Each Borrower represents and warrants that: 
 
          SECTION 4.01.  Existence and Power.  Each member of the Borrower Group 
                         --------------------                                    
is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the 
laws of its jurisdiction of organization, and has all powers and all material 
governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals required to carry 
on its business as now conducted or proposed to be conducted. 
 
          SECTION 4.02.  Corporate and Governmental Authorization; No 
                         -------------------------------------------- 
Contravention.  The execution, delivery and performance by each member of the 
- --------------                                                                
Borrower Group of the Loan Documents to which it is or is to be a party and the 
consummation of the Transactions are within its powers, have been duly 
authorized by all necessary action on the part of such member and its 
stockholders, require no action by or in respect of, or filing with, any 
Governmental Authority (other than such as have been duly taken or made) and do 
not contravene, or constitute a default under, any provision of applicable law 
or regulation or of the certificate of incorporation or By-laws of such member 
or of any judgment, injunction, order or decree or any material agreement or 
other material instrument binding upon such member or result in the creation or 
imposition of any Lien on any asset of such member, in each case both before and 
after giving effect to the Transactions. 
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          SECTION 4.03.  Binding Effect.  This Agreement constitutes a valid and 
                         ---------------                                         
binding agreement of the Borrowers and the other Loan Documents to which any 
member of the Borrower Group is to be a party, when executed and delivered in 
accordance with this Agreement, will constitute valid and binding obligations of 
such member, in each case enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to 
the effect of applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws affecting 
creditors' rights generally and equitable principles of general applicability. 
 
          SECTION 4.04.  Financial Information; Title to Properties.  (a)  The 
                         -------------------------------------------           
unaudited combined balance sheet of the Borrower Group as of February 3, 1996, 
and the related unaudited combined statement of income for the fiscal year then 
ended, copies of which have been delivered to each of the Banks, fairly present, 
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (except for the 
absence of footnotes), the financial position of the Borrower Group as of such 
date and the results of its operations for such year. 
 
          (b)  The unaudited combined balance sheet of the Borrower Group as of 
May 4, 1996, and the related combined unaudited statement of income for the 13- 
week period then ended fairly present, in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles applied on a basis consistent with the financial 
statements referred to in subsection (a) of this Section (except for the absence 
of footnotes and otherwise as disclosed therein), the financial position of the 
Borrower Group as of such date and the results of its operations for such 
periods (subject to normal year-end adjustments). 
 
          (c)  Since February 3, 1996, there has been no material adverse change 
in the business, results of operations or financial condition of the Borrower 
Group. 
 
          (d)  A & F has good and marketable title to, or valid leasehold 
interests in, all its material properties and assets, except for defects in 
title that do not interfere with its ability to conduct its business as 
currently conducted or proposed to be conducted or to utilize such properties 
and assets for their intended purposes. 
 
          SECTION 4.05.  Litigation.  There is no injunction, stay, decree or 
                         -----------                                          
order of any Governmental 
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Authority or any action, suit or proceeding pending against, or to the knowledge 
of either Borrower threatened against or affecting, any member of the Borrower 
Group before any court or arbitrator or any governmental body, agency or 
official in which there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse decision that 
would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
          SECTION 4.06.  Compliance with ERISA.  Each member  of the ERISA Group 
                         ----------------------                                  
(a) has fulfilled its material obligations under the minimum funding standards 
of ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code with respect to each Plan, (b) is in 
compliance in all material respects with the presently applicable provisions of 
ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code and (c) has not incurred any material 
liability to the PBGC or a Plan under Title IV of ERISA other than a liability 
to the PBGC for premiums under Section 4007 of ERISA; provided that this 
                                                      --------           
sentence shall not apply to (i) any member of the ERISA Group described in 
Section 414(m) of the Internal Revenue Code (other than The Limited or a 
subsidiary thereof) or any Plan maintained by such a member or (ii) any Plan 
referred to in clause (iii) of the definition of "Plan" herein (a "Multiemployer 
Plan").  The Limited and its subsidiaries have made all material payments to 
Multiemployer Plans which they have been required to make under the related 
collective bargaining agreement or applicable law. 
 
          SECTION 4.07.  Taxes.  All United States Federal income tax returns 
                         ------                                               
and all other material tax returns which are required to be filed by any member 
of the Borrower Group (or the consolidated group of which it is a member) and 
all taxes shown to be due on such returns or pursuant to any assessment received 
by any such member (or such consolidated group) have been paid, except where the 
same may be contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings. 
 
          SECTION 4.08.  Subsidiaries.  Holdings does not have any subsidiaries 
                         -------------                                          
other than A & F, which is a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of Holdings.  Neither A & F 
nor Trademark Co. has any subsidiaries. 
 
          SECTION 4.09.  Not an Investment Company.  No member of the Borrower 
                         --------------------------                            
Group is an "investment company", within the meaning of the Investment Company 
Act of 1940, as amended. 
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          SECTION 4.10.  Compliance with Laws.  No member of the Borrower Group 
                         ---------------------                                  
is in violation of any law, rule or regulation, or in default with respect to 
any judgment, writ, injunction or decree applicable to it of any Governmental 
Authority, that (individually or in the aggregate) would reasonably be expected 
to result in a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
          SECTION 4.11.  Agreements.  (a)  No member of the Borrower Group is a 
                         -----------                                            
party to any agreement or instrument or subject to any corporate  restriction 
that has resulted or would reasonably be expected to result in a Material 
Adverse Effect. 
 
          (b)  No member of the Borrower Group is in default in any manner under 
any agreement or instrument to which it is a party or by which it or any of its 
properties or assets are or may be bound, where such default would reasonably be 
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
          SECTION 4.12.  Federal Reserve Regulations.  No member of the Borrower 
                         ----------------------------                            
Group is engaged principally, or as one of its important activities, in the 
business of extending credit for the purpose of purchasing or carrying Margin 
Stock. 
 
          SECTION 4.13.  Disclosure.  All information (excluding projected 
                         -----------                                       
financial information) furnished in writing by any member of the Borrower Group 
or any of its Affiliates to the Agent or any Bank for purposes of or in 
connection with this Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby was true 
and accurate in all material respects or based on reasonable estimates on the 
date as of which such information was stated or certified.  The Borrowers have 
disclosed to the Banks in writing any and all facts (other than prevailing 
economic conditions affecting similarly situated businesses generally) known to 
any officer of either Borrower which materially and adversely affect or may 
materially and adversely affect (to the extent either Borrower can now 
reasonably foresee) the business, financial position or results of operations of 
the Borrower Group.  All projected financial information which has been 
furnished by any member of the Borrower Group or any of its Affiliates to the 
Agent or any Bank was, at the time so furnished, believed by such member to have 
been prepared in a reasonable manner and based on reasonable assumptions with 
respect to the business, financial position or results of operations of the 
Borrower Group; provided that no 
                --------         
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representation is made by either Borrower that the future results of the 
Borrower Group will equal those set forth in such projected financial 
information. 
 
          SECTION 4.14.  Solvency.  As of the Effective Date, after giving 
                         ---------                                         
effect to the Transactions (including the application of the proceeds of the 
Loans and the incurrence of all Debt to be incurred by the respective Borrowers 
on the Effective Date), (a) the fair salable value of the assets of each member 
of the Borrower Group will exceed the amount that will be required to be paid on 
or in respect of its existing debts and other liabilities (including contingent 
liabilities) as they mature; (b) the assets of each member of the Borrower Group 
will not constitute unreasonably small capital to carry out its business as 
conducted or as proposed to be conducted; and (c) each member of the Borrower 
Group does not intend to, and does not believe that it will, incur debts beyond 
its ability to pay such debts as they mature (taking into account the timing and 
amounts of cash to be received by it and the amounts to be payable on or in 
respect of its obligations). 
 
          SECTION 4.15.  Trademarks.  All trademarks and tradenames material to 
                         -----------                                            
the business of the Borrower Group (including, without limitation, rights with 
respect to the name "Abercrombie & Fitch") are owned by Trademark Co. 
 
          SECTION 4.16.  Environmental Matters.  Each member of the Borrower 
                         ----------------------                              
Group has complied with all Environmental and Safety Laws, except for any non- 
compliance that, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be 
anticipated to result in a Material Adverse Effect.  No member of the Borrower 
Group has received notice of any failure so to comply which alone or together 
with any other such failure could result in a Material Adverse Effect.  In the 
case of A & F, its facilities do not treat, store or dispose of any hazardous 
wastes, hazardous substances, hazardous materials, toxic substances or toxic 
pollutants, as those terms are used in any Environmental and Safety Laws, in 
violation thereof where such violation could result, individually or together 
with other violations, in a Material Adverse Effect. 
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                                   ARTICLE V 
 
                                   COVENANTS 
 
          Each Borrower agrees that, so long as any Bank has any Commitment 
hereunder or any amount payable under any Loan Document remains unpaid: 
 
          SECTION 5.01.  Information.  The Borrowers will deliver to each of 
                         ------------                     
the Banks: 
 
          (a) as soon as available and in any event within 90 days after the end 
     of each fiscal year of the Borrower Group, combined (or, following a 
     Reorganization, consolidated) balance sheets of the Borrower Group as of 
     the end of such fiscal year and the related combined (or, following a 
     Reorganization, consolidated) statements of income and cash flows for such 
     fiscal year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for 
     the previous fiscal year, all reported on by Coopers & Lybrand or other 
     independent public accountants of nationally recognized standing; 
 
          (b) as soon as available and in any event within 45 days after the end 
     of each of the first three quarters of each fiscal year of the Borrower 
     Group, combined (or, following a Reorganization, consolidated) balance 
     sheets of the Borrower Group as of the end of such quarter and the related 
     combined (or, following a Reorganization, consolidated) statements of 
     income and cash flows for such quarter and for the portion of the Borrower 
     Group's fiscal year ended at the end of such quarter, setting forth in each 
     case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding quarter and the 
     corresponding portion of the Borrower Group's previous fiscal year, all 
     certified (subject to normal year-end adjustments) as to fairness of 
     presentation, generally accepted accounting principles and consistency by 
     the chief financial officer or the chief accounting officer of each 
     Borrower; 
 
          (c) simultaneously with the delivery of each set of financial 
     statements referred to in clauses (a) and (b) above, a certificate of the 
     chief financial officer or the chief accounting officer of each Borrower 
     (i) setting forth in reasonable detail the calculations required to 
     determine the Pricing Ratio for the most 
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     recent Calculation Period and (with respect to financial statements for 
     periods that compliance is required) to establish whether the Borrowers 
     were in compliance with the requirements of Sections 5.20, 5.21 and 5.22 on 
     the date of such financial statements, (ii) stating whether any Default 
     exists on the date of such certificate and, if any Default then exists, 
     setting forth the details thereof and the action which the Borrowers are 
     taking or propose to take with respect thereto and (iii) stating whether, 
     since the date of the most recent financial statements previously delivered 
     pursuant to this Section, there has been any material change in the 
     generally accepted accounting principles applied in the preparation of such 
     statements and, if so, describing such change; 
 
          (d) simultaneously with the delivery of each set of financial 
     statements referred to in clause (a) above, a statement of the firm of 
     independent public accountants which reported on such statements (i) 
     stating whether anything has come to their attention to cause them to 
     believe that any Default existed on the date of such statements and (ii) 
     confirming the calculations set forth in the officer's certificate 
     delivered simultaneously therewith pursuant to sub-clause (i) of clause (c) 
     above; 
 
          (e) promptly following the end of each period with respect to which 
     any prepayment is required pursuant to Section 2.08(d), a certificate of 
     the chief financial officer or chief accounting officer of each Borrower 
     setting forth a reasonably detailed calculation of Excess Cash Flow for 
     such period; 
 
          (f) within five days after any executive or financial officer of 
     either Borrower obtains knowledge of any Default, if such Default is then 
     continuing, a certificate of an executive or financial officer of such 
     Borrower setting forth the details thereof and the action which the 
     Borrowers are taking or propose to take with respect thereto; 
 
          (g) if and when any executive or financial officer of either Borrower 
     obtains knowledge that any member of the ERISA Group (i) has given or is 
     required to give notice to the PBGC of any "reportable event" (as defined 
     in Section 4043 of ERISA) with respect to any 
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     Plan which might constitute grounds for or result in a termination of such 
     Plan under Title IV of ERISA, or knows that the plan administrator of any 
     Plan has given or is required to give notice of any such reportable event, 
     a copy of the notice of such reportable event given or required to be given 
     to the PBGC; (ii) has received notice of complete or partial withdrawal 
     liability under Title IV of ERISA, a copy of such notice; or (iii) has 
     received notice from the PBGC under Title IV of ERISA of an intent to 
     terminate or appoint a trustee to administer any Plan, a copy of such 
     notice; 
 
          (h) prompt notice of the occurrence of the Reorganization and of any 
     event that results in A & F Parent ceasing to be a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary 
     of The Limited; and 
 
          (i) from time to time such additional information regarding the 
     financial position or business of any member of the Borrower Group as the 
     Agent, at the request of any Bank, may reasonably request. 
 
          SECTION 5.02.  Payment of Obligations.  Each member of the Borrower 
                         -----------------------                              
Group will pay and discharge, at or before maturity, all their respective 
material obligations and liabilities, including, without limitation, tax 
liabilities, except in connection with a good faith contest with the applicable 
obligee, and will maintain, in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, appropriate reserves for the accrual of any of the same. 
 
          SECTION 5.03.  Maintenance of Property and Rights; Insurance.  (a)  A 
                         ----------------------------------------------         
& F will keep all property useful and necessary in its business in good working 
order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted. 
 
          (b)  A & F will insure and keep insured, with reputable insurance 
companies, so much of its properties and such of its liabilities for bodily 
injury or property damage, to such extent and against such risks (including 
fire), as companies engaged in similar businesses customarily insure properties 
and liabilities of similar character; or, in lieu thereof, A & F will maintain 
or participate in a system or systems of self-insurance which will be in accord 
with the customary practices of companies engaged in similar business in 
maintaining or participating in such systems. 
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          SECTION 5.04.  Conduct of Business and Maintenance of Existence.  Each 
                         -------------------------------------------------       
member of the Borrower Group will continue to engage in business of the same 
general type as now conducted, and will preserve, renew and keep in full force 
and effect their respective existences and their respective rights, privileges 
and franchises necessary or desirable in the normal conduct of business, except 
any such right, privilege or franchise the failure of which to keep in full 
force and effect would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse 
Effect. 
 
          SECTION 5.05.  Compliance with Laws.  Each member of the Borrower 
                         ---------------------                              
Group will comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, and 
requirements of governmental authorities (including, without limitation, 
Environmental and Safety Laws and ERISA and the rules and regulations 
thereunder) except where the necessity of compliance therewith is contested in 
good faith by appropriate proceedings or where the failure to comply, either 
alone or combined with other failures to comply, would not reasonably be 
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
          SECTION 5.06.  Inspection of Property, Books and Records.  Each member 
                         ------------------------------------------              
of the Borrower Group will keep books, records and accounts in which 
transactions are recorded as necessary to (i) permit preparation of Borrower 
Group's consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles and (ii) permit their Affiliates to comply with the 
requirements of Section 13(b)(2) of the Securities Act of 1934 as in effect from 
time to time; and will permit representatives of any Bank at such Bank's expense 
to visit and inspect any of their respective properties, to examine and make 
abstracts from any of their respective books and records and to discuss their 
respective affairs, finances and accounts with their respective officers, 
employees and independent public accountants, all at such reasonable times and 
as often as may reasonably be desired; provided that (a) reasonable advance 
                                       --------                             
notice shall be given to such member of any such visit or inspection of 
properties and (b) such member shall be afforded an opportunity to participate 
in any such discussions with independent public accountants.  A Bank will not 
publish or disclose to any third Person any information gained under any 
inspection conducted pursuant to this Section 5.06 or information obtained 
pursuant to Section 5.01(i) unless and until such information is or becomes a 
matter of public knowledge through no fault of such Bank or is lawfully acquired 
by such Bank without 
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restrictions of confidentiality, except (i) as such Bank deems it necessary in 
connection with the enforcement of its rights arising out of any Default or as 
required by law or with respect to disclosures to bank regulatory authorities or 
the independent auditors or counsel or the employees, officers or directors of 
such Bank, (ii) disclosures to any actual or potential participant or, with the 
prior written consent of the applicable Borrower, assignee (a "Transferee") of 
such Bank's rights under this Agreement who signs a confidentiality agreement 
containing provisions substantially similar to those contained in this sentence; 
provided that such Bank shall promptly notify the Borrowers of the identity of 
- --------                                                                       
such actual or potential Transferee, or (iii) as consented to by either Borrower 
in writing. 
 
          SECTION 5.07.  Fiscal Year.  Each member of the Borrower Group will 
                         ------------                                         
cause its fiscal year to end on the Saturday closest to January 31 in each year. 
 
          SECTION 5.08.  Subsidiaries; Partnerships.  No member of the Borrower 
                         ---------------------------                            
Group will have any subsidiaries without the prior written consent of the 
Required Banks, except that a member of the Borrower Group may have a subsidiary 
that is both a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary and a Guarantor under the Guarantee 
Agreement.  No member of the Borrower Group will enter into any partnership or 
joint venture. 
 
          SECTION 5.09.  Debt.  No member of the Borrower Group will incur or at 
                         -----                                                   
any time be liable with respect to any Debt, except: 
 
          (a) Debt outstanding under this Agreement and the other Loan 
     Documents; 
 
          (b) Debt of members of the Borrower Group owing to other members of 
     the Borrower Group; 
 
          (c) Debt constituting Subordinated Obligations; and 
 
          (d) (i) contingent obligations as an account party in respect of trade 
     letters of credit incurred in the ordinary course of its business and (ii) 
     reimbursement obligations in respect of any drawing under any such letter 
     of credit that is paid within one Domestic Business Day. 
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          SECTION 5.10.  Restricted Payments.  No member of the Borrower Group 
                         --------------------                                  
will declare or make or agree to make, directly or indirectly, any Restricted 
Payment, except: 
 
          (a) the distribution by Trademark Co. as a dividend or other equity 
     distribution of its rights in respect of inter-company indebtedness owed to 
     Trademark Co. by A&F; provided that such inter-company indebtedness is 
                           --------                                         
     distributed by Trademark Co. on or promptly following the Effective Date 
     and is paid by A&F with the proceeds of A&F Term Loans; 
 
          (b) Restricted Payments made on, or within five Domestic Business Days 
     after, the Effective Date with the proceeds of the Loans; 
 
          (c) dividends or other distributions on shares of its capital stock 
     consisting solely of instruments evidencing Debt of such member that 
     constitutes a Primary Subordinated Obligation; 
 
          (d) Restricted Payments paid to another member of the Borrower Group; 
     and 
 
          (e) so long as no Default has occurred and is continuing or would 
     result from such payment, payments in respect of its Secondary Subordinated 
     Obligations. 
 
          SECTION 5.11.  Mergers, Consolidations, Acquisitions and Sales of 
                         -------------------------------------------------- 
Assets.  (a)  No member of the Borrower Group will merge into or consolidate 
- -------                                                                      
with any other Person, or permit any other Person to merge into or consolidate 
with it, or purchase or otherwise acquire (in one transaction or a series of 
related transactions) any material assets, except that the foregoing shall not 
prohibit (i) the acquisition by A & F of assets in the ordinary course of 
business, (ii) Investments permitted under Section 5.14 and (iii) any merger of 
a member of the Borrower Group with any other member of the Borrower Group. 
 
          (b)  No member of the Borrower Group will sell, assign, transfer or 
otherwise dispose of any asset, including any stock, without the prior written 
consent of the Required Banks to such sale, assignment, transfer or disposition 
and the terms thereof; provided, that the foregoing shall not prohibit (i) 
                       --------                                            
Investments permitted under Section 5.14 or the liquidation thereof, (ii) the 
sale by A & F of inventory, used or surplus equipment or other 
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assets in the ordinary course of business, (iii) Restricted Payments permitted 
under Section 5.10, (iv) sales, assignments, transfers and other dispositions of 
assets from one member of the Borrower Group to another member of the Borrower 
Group and (v) sales by A&F Parent of its common stock. 
 
          SECTION 5.12.  Transactions with Affiliates.  No member of the 
                         -----------------------------                   
Borrower Group will, directly or indirectly, (a) make any Investment in an 
Affiliate, (b) sell, lease or otherwise transfer any assets to or perform 
services for an Affiliate, (c) purchase, lease or acquire assets or services 
from an Affiliate, or (d) enter into any other transaction directly or 
indirectly with or for the benefit of an Affiliate (including, without 
limitation, Guarantees and assumptions of obligations of an Affiliate); provided 
                                                                        -------- 
that (i) any member of the Borrower Group may enter into any such transaction 
with an Affiliate that does not involve the payment of financial or management 
advisory fees or similar consideration to an Affiliate if the monetary or 
business consideration arising therefrom would not be less advantageous to such 
member than the monetary or business consideration which it would obtain in a 
comparable arm's length transaction with a Person not an Affiliate and (ii) the 
foregoing shall not prohibit (A) the Restricted Payments permitted under Section 
5.10, (B) Investments permitted under Section 5.14 and (C) the incurrence by 
such member of Debt constituting Subordinated Obligations permitted under 
Section 5.09. 
 
          SECTION 5.13.  Sale and Lease-Back Transactions.  No member of the 
                         ---------------------------------                   
Borrower Group will enter into any arrangement, directly or indirectly, with any 
Person whereby it shall sell or transfer any asset, real or personal, whether 
now owned or hereafter acquired, and thereafter it or any other member of the 
Borrower Group shall rent or lease such asset or other assets which it intends 
to use for substantially the same purpose or purposes as the asset being sold or 
transferred. 
 
          SECTION 5.14.  Investments.  No member of the Borrower Group will make 
                         ------------                                            
or acquire any Investment in any Person other than: 
 
          (a) Temporary Cash Investments; 
 
          (b) Investments in another member of the Borrower Group; 
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          (c) Investments constituting receivables due from Affiliates arising 
     pursuant to the Cash Management System in accordance with Section 5.15; and 
 
          (d) loans to Affiliates evidenced by promissory notes of such 
     Affiliates payable to such member on demand; provided that such loans shall 
                                                  --------                       
     be made only to Affiliates that are able to repay such loans on demand, as 
     determined by such member in good faith. 
 
          SECTION 5.15.  Cash Management System.  Transactions pursuant to the 
                         -----------------------                               
Cash Management System by each member of the Borrower Group will comply with the 
following: 
 
          (a) each transaction that involves the transfer of such member's cash 
     (or its equivalent) to, or collection of such member's cash (or its 
     equivalent) by, an Affiliate will either (i) constitute a Restricted 
     Payment in respect of a Secondary Subordinated Obligation permitted under 
     Section 5.10 or (ii) constitute an Investment that is a receivable due from 
     an Affiliate payable to such member on demand; and 
 
          (b) each transaction that involves the transfer of cash (or its 
     equivalent) to or for the benefit of such member will either (i) constitute 
     repayment of a receivable referred to in clause (a)(ii) above, (ii) 
     constitute a receivable due to an Affiliate by such member that is a 
     Subordinated Obligation or (iii) constitute an equity contribution to such 
     member. 
 
          SECTION 5.16.  Negative Pledge.  No member of the Borrower Group will 
                         ----------------                                       
create, assume or suffer to exist any Lien on any asset now owned or hereafter 
acquired by it, except: 
 
          (a) Liens for taxes not delinquent or being contested in good faith 
     and by appropriate proceedings; 
 
          (b) deposits or pledges to secure obligations under workers' 
     compensation, social security or similar laws, or under unemployment 
     insurance; 
 
          (c) mechanics', workers', materialmen's, warehousemen's, landlords' or 
     other like Liens arising in the ordinary course of business with respect to 
     obligations which are not due or which are being contested in good faith; 
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          (d) any Liens identified on Schedule 5.16 hereto exiting on the 
     Effective Date; provided that any such Lien does not attach to any asset 
                     -------- 
     other than the asset or assets identified on such Schedule; 
 
          (e) Liens incurred in the ordinary course of business to secure 
     performance of surety and indemnity bonds, leases and other contracts 
     (other than to secure Debt); 
 
          (f) interests (other than Debt) of a lessor or lessee arising under a 
     lease; 
 
          (g) Liens arising in the ordinary course of its business which (i) do 
     not secure Debt or any other monetary obligation and (ii) do not in the 
     aggregate materially detract from the value of its assets or materially 
     impair the use thereof in the operation of its business; and 
 
          (h) Liens on assets acquired in the ordinary course of business 
     securing obligations as account party in respect of trade letters of credit 
     issued to support the purchase price of such assets. 
 
              SECTION 5.17.  Use of Proceeds.  The proceeds of the Loans will be 
                             ----------------                                    
used only for the purposes set forth in the preliminary statement of this 
Agreement.  None of such proceeds will be used, directly or indirectly, for the 
purpose, whether immediate, incidental or ultimate, of buying or carrying any 
Margin Stock. 
 
          SECTION 5.18.  Grants of Negative Pledges or Dividend Restrictions. 
                         ----------------------------------------------------  
No member of the Borrower Group will agree to or become bound by any agreement 
or other arrangement (other than the Loan Documents) that would restrict or 
impair (i) the ability of such member to grant a Lien on any of its properties 
or assets to secure the Obligations or (ii) the ability of such member to pay 
dividends on its capital stock. 
 
          SECTION 5.19.  Changes in Accounting.  No member of the Borrower Group 
                         ----------------------                                  
will change its accounting policies or practices from those utilized in the 
preparation of the financial statements referred to in Section 4.04, except as 
permitted or required by generally accepted accounting principles consistently 
applied. 
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          SECTION 5.20.  Coverage Ratio.  The ratio of (a) the sum of (i) the 
                         ---------------                                      
Borrower Group's Consolidated EBITDA for each period of four consecutive fiscal 
quarters ending on or after the Saturday closest to October 31, 1996, plus (ii) 
rental and lease expense deducted in determining such Consolidated EBITDA for 
such period, to (b) the sum of (i) rental and lease expense deducted in 
determining such Consolidated EBITDA for such period, plus (ii) Cash Interest 
Expense for such period (or shorter period commencing at the end of the fiscal 
quarter ending on the Saturday closest to July 31, 1996), shall not be less than 
1.5 to 1.0; provided that the amount of Cash Interest Expense determined 
            --------                                                     
pursuant to clause (b)(ii) above shall be multiplied by (a) 4, for purposes of 
determining such ratio for the period ending on the Saturday closest to October 
31, 1996, (b) 2, for purposes of determining such ratio for the period ending on 
the Saturday closest to January 31, 1997, and (c) 4/3, for purposes of 
determining such ratio for the period ending on the Saturday closest to April 
30, 1997. 
 
          SECTION 5.21.  Leverage Ratio.  The Leverage Ratio will not at any 
                         ---------------                                     
time during any period set forth below, commencing on the last day of the fiscal 
quarter of the Borrower Group ending on the Saturday closest to October 31, 
1996, be greater than the ratio set forth below with respect to such period: 
 
 
  
                            Period 
                      ------------------ 
Commencing on and       Ending on and 
including Saturday    excluding Saturday 
closest to:           closest to:          Ratio 
- --------------------  ------------------  -------- 
                                     
  
October 31, 1996      January 31, 1997     4.0:1.0 
January 31, 1997      January 31, 1998     3.9:1.0 
January 31, 1998      January 31, 1999     3.5:1.0 
January 31, 1999      January 31, 2000    3.25:1.0 
January 31, 2000      thereafter           3.0:1.0 
 
 
          SECTION 5.22.  Capital Expenditures.  The members of the Borrower 
                         ---------------------                              
Group will not make Capital Expenditures exceeding, in the aggregate, 
$29,000,000 during the fiscal year of the Borrower Group ending on the Saturday 
closest to January 31, 1997, $30,000,000 during the fiscal year of the Borrower 
Group ending on the Saturday closest to January 31, 1998, $31,000,000 during the 
fiscal quarter of the Borrower Group ending on the Saturday closest to January 
31, 1999, $32,000,000 during the fiscal year of the Borrower Group ending on the 
Saturday closest to January 31, 2000, or 
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$33,000,000 during any fiscal year of the Borrower Group thereafter. 
 
 
                                  ARTICLE VI 
 
                                   DEFAULTS 
 
          SECTION 6.01.  Events of Default.  If one or more of the following 
                         ------------------                                  
events ("Events of Default") shall have occurred and be continuing: 
 
          (a) either Borrower shall fail to pay (A) within one Domestic Business 
     Day of the date due, any principal of any of its Loans, or (B) within three 
     Domestic Business Days of the date due, any interest on any of its Loans, 
     any fees or any other amount payable by it hereunder or under any other 
     Loan Document; 
 
          (b) either Borrower shall fail to observe or perform (i) any covenant 
     contained in clause (a) or (b) of Section 5.01 for three Domestic Business 
     Days after notice thereof has been given to such Borrower by the Agent at 
     the request of any Bank or (ii) any covenant contained in Section 5.08, or 
     in Sections 5.09 through 5.11, inclusive, or in Section 5.13, 5.14 or 5.21 
     and any such failure shall continue unremedied for five days after any 
     director or executive or financial officer of either Borrower obtains 
     knowledge of such failure, or (iii) any covenant contained in clause (f) of 
     Section 5.01, or in Section 5.07 or 5.12, or in Sections 5.15 through 5.19, 
     inclusive, and any such failure shall continue unremedied for 15 days after 
     any director or executive or financial officer of either Borrower obtains 
     knowledge of such failure, or (iv) any covenant contained in Section 5.20 
     or 5.22 and a period of five days shall have elapsed since any director or 
     executive or financial officer of either Borrower first obtained knowledge 
     of such failure without the Borrowers and the Required Banks having reached 
     agreement with respect to the terms and conditions, if any, on which the 
     Required Banks are willing to waive such failure (it being understood that 
     any such agreement or waiver shall be in the sole discretion of such 
     Banks); 
 
          (c) any member of the Borrower Group shall fail to observe or perform 
     any covenant or agreement contained 
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     in any Loan Document (other than those covered by clause (a) or (b) above) 
     for 30 days after written notice thereof has been given to the Borrowers by 
     the Agent at the request of any Bank; 
 
          (d) any representation, warranty, certification or statement made by 
     any member of the Borrower Group or any of its Affiliates in any Loan 
     Document or in any certificate, financial statement or other document 
     delivered pursuant to any Loan Document shall prove to have been incorrect 
     in any material respect when made and a period of five days shall have 
     elapsed since any director or executive or financial officer of either 
     Borrower first obtained knowledge of such incorrectness without the 
     Borrowers and the Required Banks having reached agreement with respect to 
     the terms and conditions, if any, on which the Required Banks are willing 
     to waive such incorrectness (it being understood that any such agreement or 
     waiver shall be in the sole discretion of such Banks); 
 
          (e) any member of the Borrower Group shall fail to make any payment of 
     principal, interest or premium in respect of any of its Material Debt 
     (other than the Obligations) at maturity or within any applicable grace 
     period; 
 
          (f) any event or condition (including, without limitation, failure to 
     make any payment when due) shall occur which results in the acceleration of 
     the maturity of any Material Debt or enables (or, with the giving of notice 
     or lapse of time or both, would enable) the holder of such Debt or any 
     Person acting on such holder's behalf to accelerate the maturity thereof or 
     to require the prepayment, redemption or repurchase thereof; 
 
          (g) any member of the Borrower Group (i) shall commence a voluntary 
     case or other proceeding seeking liquidation, reorganization or other 
     relief with respect to itself or its debts under any bankruptcy, insolvency 
     or other similar law now or hereafter in effect or seeking the appointment 
     of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar official of 
     it or any substantial part of its property, or (ii) shall consent to any 
     such relief or to the appointment of or taking possession by any such 
     official in an involuntary case or other proceeding 
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     commenced against it, or (iii) shall make a general assignment for the 
     benefit of creditors, or (iv) shall fail generally to pay its debts as they 
     become due, or (v) shall take any corporate action to authorize any of the 
     foregoing; 
 
          (h) an involuntary case or other proceeding shall be commenced against 
     any member of the Borrower Group seeking liquidation, reorganization or 
     other relief with respect to it or its debts under any bankruptcy, 
     insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect or seeking the 
     appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar 
     official of it or any substantial part of its property, and such 
     involuntary case or other proceeding shall remain undismissed and unstayed 
     for a period of 60 days; or an order for relief shall be entered against 
     any member of the Borrower Group under the federal bankruptcy laws as now 
     or hereafter in effect; 
 
          (i) any member of the ERISA Group shall fail to pay when due an amount 
     or amounts aggregating in excess of $10,000,000 which it shall have become 
     liable to pay to the PBGC or to a Plan under Title IV of ERISA; or notice 
     of intent to terminate a Plan or Plans having aggregate Unfunded 
     Liabilities in excess of $10,000,000 (collectively, a "Material Plan") 
     shall be filed under Title IV of ERISA by any member of the ERISA Group, 
     any plan administrator or any combination of the foregoing; or the PBGC 
     shall institute proceedings under Title IV of ERISA to terminate or to 
     cause a trustee to be appointed to administer any Material Plan or a 
     proceeding shall be instituted by a fiduciary of any  Material Plan against 
     any member of the ERISA Group to enforce Section 515 or 4219(c)(5) of ERISA 
     and such proceeding shall not have been dismissed within 30 days 
     thereafter; or a condition shall exist by reason of which the PBGC would be 
     entitled to obtain a decree adjudicating that any Material Plan must be 
     terminated; 
 
          (j) one or more judgments or orders for the payment of money in an 
     aggregate amount in excess of $10,000,000 shall be rendered against any 
     member of the Borrower Group or any combination thereof and shall continue 
     unsatisfied and unstayed for a period of 10 days, or any action shall be 
     legally taken by a judgment creditor to levy upon assets or properties of 
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     any member of the Borrower Group to enforce any such judgment; or 
  
          (k) the Guarantee of any Guarantor under the Guarantee Agreement shall 
     cease to be, or shall be asserted by such Guarantor not to be, a valid and 
     binding obligation of such Guarantor; 
 
then, and in every such event, the Agent shall (i) if requested by Banks having 
more than 50% in aggregate amount of the Commitments, by notice to the Borrowers 
terminate the Commitments and they shall thereupon terminate, (ii) if requested 
by Banks holding Notes evidencing more than 50% in aggregate principal amount of 
the Loans, by notice to the Borrowers declare the Notes (together with accrued 
interest thereon) to be, and the Notes shall thereupon become, immediately due 
and payable (in whole or, in the sole discretion of the Banks, from time to time 
in part) without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all 
of which are hereby waived by the Borrowers, (iii) exercise remedies available 
under the Guarantee Agreement, as requested by the Required Banks, or (iv) any 
combination of the foregoing; provided that in the case of any of the Events of 
                              --------                                          
Default specified in clause (g) or (h) above with respect to either Borrower, 
without any notice to either Borrower or any other act by the Agent or the 
Banks, the Commitments shall thereupon terminate and the Notes (together with 
accrued interest thereon) shall become immediately due and payable (in whole) 
without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which 
are hereby waived by the Borrowers. 
 
          SECTION 6.02.  Notice of Default.  The Agent shall give notice to the 
                         ------------------                                     
Borrowers under clause (b)(i) or (c) of Section 6.01 promptly upon being 
requested to do so by any Bank, and shall thereupon notify all the Banks 
thereof. 
 
 
                                  ARTICLE VII 
 
                                   THE AGENT 
 
          SECTION 7.01.  Appointment and Authorization.  Each Bank irrevocably 
                         ------------------------------                        
appoints and authorizes the Agent to take such action as agent on its behalf and 
to exercise such powers under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents as are 
delegated to the Agent by the terms hereof or thereof, together with all such 
powers as are reasonably incidental 



 
  
                                                                              51 
 
 
thereto.  Citibank, N.A. and Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York shall not 
have any duties or responsibilities in their respective capacities as Co-Agents. 
 
          SECTION 7.02.  Agent and Affiliates.  The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., 
                         ---------------------                                  
shall have the same rights and powers under this Agreement as any other Bank and 
may exercise or refrain from exercising the same as though it were not the 
Agent, and The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., and its affiliates may accept 
deposits from, lend money to, and generally engage in any kind of business with 
the members of the Borrower Group and their Affiliates as if it were not the 
Agent. 
 
          SECTION 7.03.  Action by Agent.  The obligations of the Agent under 
                         ----------------                                     
the Loan Documents are only those expressly set forth herein and therein. 
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Agent shall not be 
required to take any action with respect to any Default, except as expressly 
provided in Article VI. 
 
          SECTION 7.04.  Consultation with Experts.  The Agent may consult with 
                         --------------------------                             
legal counsel (who may be counsel for a member of the Borrower Group), 
independent public accountants and other experts selected by it and shall not be 
liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith in 
accordance with the advice of such counsel, accountants or experts. 
 
          SECTION 7.05.  Liability of Agent.  Neither the Agent nor any of its 
                         -------------------                                   
directors, officers, agents, or employees shall be liable for any action taken 
or not taken by it in connection herewith (i) with the consent or at the request 
of the Required Banks or (ii) in the absence of its own gross negligence or 
willful misconduct.  Neither the Agent nor any of its directors, officers, 
agents or employees shall be responsible for or have any duty to ascertain, 
inquire into or verify (a) any statement, warranty or representation made in 
connection with this Agreement or any borrowing hereunder; (b) the performance 
or observance of any of the covenants or agreements of either Borrower or any 
other member of the Borrower Group; (c) the satisfaction of any condition 
specified in Article III, except receipt of items required to be delivered to 
it; or (d) the validity, effectiveness or genuineness of this Agreement, any 
other Loan Document or any other instrument or writing furnished in connection 
herewith.  The Agent shall not incur any liability by acting in reliance upon 
any notice, consent, 
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certificate, statement, or other writing (which may be a telecopy, bank wire, 
telex or similar writing) believed by it to be genuine or to be signed by the 
proper party or parties. 
 
          SECTION 7.06.  Indemnification.  Each Bank shall, ratably in 
                         ----------------                              
accordance with its Loans, indemnify the Agent (to the extent not reimbursed by 
the Borrowers) against any cost, expense (including counsel fees and 
disbursements), claim, demand, action, loss or liability (except such as result 
from the Agent's gross negligence or willful misconduct) that the Agent may 
suffer or incur in connection with this Agreement or any other Loan Document or 
any action taken or omitted by the Agent hereunder or thereunder. 
 
          SECTION 7.07.  Credit Decision.  Each Bank acknowledges that it has, 
                         ----------------                                      
independently and without reliance upon the Agent or any other Bank, and based 
on such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own 
credit analysis and decision to enter into this Agreement.  Each Bank also 
acknowledges that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Agent or 
any other Bank, and based on such documents and information as it shall deem 
appropriate at the time, continue to make its own credit decisions in taking or 
not taking any action under this Agreement. 
 
          SECTION 7.08.  Successor Agent.  The Agent may resign at any time by 
                         ----------------                                      
giving written notice thereof to the Banks and the Borrowers.  Upon any such 
resignation, the Required Banks shall have the right to appoint a successor 
Agent after consultation with the Borrowers (but the foregoing shall not be 
construed to require any consent or approval by the Borrowers).  If no successor 
Agent shall have been so appointed by the Required Banks, and shall have 
accepted such appointment, within 30 days after the retiring Agent gives notice 
of resignation, then the retiring Agent may, on behalf of the Banks, appoint a 
successor Agent, which shall be a commercial bank organized or licensed under 
the laws of the United States of America or of any State thereof and having a 
combined capital and surplus of at least $500,000,000.  Upon the acceptance of 
its appointment as Agent by a successor Agent, such successor Agent shall 
thereupon succeed to and become vested with all the rights and duties of the 
retiring Agent, and the retiring Agent shall be discharged from its duties and 
obligations.  After any retiring Agent's resignation, the provisions of this 
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Article shall inure to its benefit as to any actions taken or omitted to be 
taken by it while it was an Agent. 
 
          SECTION 7.09.  Agent's Fees.  The Borrowers shall pay to the Agent for 
                         -------------                                           
its own account fees in the amounts and at the times previously agreed upon 
between the Borrowers and the Agent. 
 
          SECTION 7.10.  Sub-Agents.  The Agent may perform any of its 
                         -----------                                   
obligations and exercise any of its rights under the Loan Documents by or 
through sub-agents.  The provisions of this Article VII shall inure to the 
benefit of any sub-agent of the Agent in the same manner and to the same extent 
as they inure to the benefit of the Agent. 
 
 
                                 ARTICLE VIII 
 
                            CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES 
 
          SECTION 8.01.  Basis for Determining Interest Rate Inadequate or 
                         ------------------------------------------------- 
Unfair.  If on or prior to the first day of any Interest Period for any Euro- 
- -------                                                                      
Dollar Borrowing: 
 
          (a) the Agent determines that it is not possible to determine the 
     London Interbank Offered Rate or NIBO Rate, as applicable, for such 
     Interest Period, or 
 
          (b) Banks having 50% or more of the aggregate amount of the 
     Commitments or Loans of the relevant Class advise the Agent that the London 
     Interbank Offered Rate or NIBO Rate, as applicable, as determined by the 
     Agent, will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Banks of 
     funding their Euro-Dollar Loans for such Interest Period, 
 
the Agent shall forthwith give notice thereof to the Borrowers and the Banks, 
whereupon until the Agent notifies the Borrowers that the circumstances giving 
rise to such suspension no longer exist, the obligations of the Banks to make 
Euro-Dollar Loans of the Class of such Euro-Dollar Borrowing shall be suspended. 
 
          SECTION 8.02.  Illegality.  If, on or after the date of this 
                         -----------                                   
Agreement, the adoption of any applicable law, rule or regulation, or of any 
change therein, or of any change in the interpretation or administration thereof 
by any governmental authority, central bank or comparable 
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agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance 
by any Bank (or its Euro-Dollar Lending Office) with any request or directive 
(whether or not having the force of law) of any such authority, central bank or 
comparable agency shall make it unlawful or impossible for any Bank (or its 
Euro-Dollar Lending Office) to make, maintain or fund its Euro-Dollar Loans and 
such Bank shall so notify the Agent, the Agent shall forthwith give notice 
thereof to the other Banks and the Borrowers, whereupon until such Bank notifies 
the Borrowers and the Agent that the circumstances giving rise to such 
suspension no longer exist, the obligation of such Bank to make Euro-Dollar 
Loans shall be suspended.  Before giving any notice to the Agent pursuant to 
this Section, such Bank shall designate a different Euro-Dollar Lending Office 
if such designation will avoid the need for giving such notice and will not, in 
the judgment of such Bank, be otherwise disadvantageous to such Bank.  If such 
Bank shall determine that it may not lawfully continue to maintain and fund any 
of its outstanding Euro-Dollar Loans to maturity and shall so specify in such 
notice, the applicable Borrower shall immediately prepay in full the then 
outstanding principal amount of each such Euro-Dollar Loan, together with 
accrued interest thereon.  Concurrently with prepaying each such Euro-Dollar 
Loan, the applicable Borrower shall borrow a Base Rate Loan in an equal 
principal amount from such Bank (on which interest and principal shall be 
payable contemporaneously with the related Euro-Dollar Loans of the other 
Banks), and such Bank shall make such a Base Rate Loan. 
 
          SECTION 8.03.  Increased Cost and Reduced Return.  (a)  If, on or 
                         ----------------------------------                 
after the date hereof, the adoption of any applicable law, rule or regulation, 
or of any change therein, or of any change in the interpretation or 
administration thereof by any governmental authority, central bank or comparable 
agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance 
by any Bank (or its Applicable Lending Office) with any request or directive 
(whether or not having the force of law) of any such authority, central bank or 
comparable agency   shall impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, special 
deposit, insurance assessment or similar requirement (including, without 
limitation, any such requirement imposed by the Board of Governors of the 
Federal Reserve System, but excluding with respect to any Euro-Dollar Loan any 
such requirement included in an applicable Euro-Dollar Reserve Percentage) 
against assets of, deposits with or for the 
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account of, or credit extended by, any Bank (or its Applicable Lending Office) 
or shall impose on any Bank (or its Applicable Lending Office) or on the London 
interbank market any other condition affecting its Euro-Dollar Loans, its Notes 
or its obligation to make Euro-Dollar Loans and the result of any of the 
foregoing is to increase the cost to such Bank (or its Applicable Lending 
Office) of making or maintaining any Euro-Dollar Loan, or to reduce the amount 
of any sum received or receivable by such Bank (or its Applicable Lending 
Office) under this Agreement or under its Note with respect thereto, by an 
amount deemed by such Bank to be material, then, within 15 days after demand by 
such Bank (with a copy to the Agent), the applicable Borrower shall pay to such 
Bank such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Bank for such 
increased cost or reduction. 
 
          (b)  If any Bank shall have determined that, after the date hereof, 
the adoption of any applicable law, rule or regulation regarding capital 
adequacy, or of any change therein, or of any change in the interpretation or 
administration thereof by any governmental authority, central bank or comparable 
agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or any request 
or directive regarding capital adequacy (whether or not having the force of law) 
of any such authority, central bank or comparable agency, has or would have the 
effect of reducing the rate of return on capital of such Bank (or its Parent) as 
a consequence of such Bank's obligations hereunder to a level below that which 
such Bank (or its Parent) could have achieved but for such adoption, change, 
request or directive (taking into consideration its policies with respect to 
capital adequacy) by an amount deemed by such Bank to be material, then from 
time to time, within 15 days after demand by such Bank (with a copy to the 
Agent), the applicable Borrower shall pay to such Bank such additional amount or 
amounts as will compensate such Bank (or its Parent) for such reduction. 
 
          (c)  Each Bank will promptly notify the Borrowers and the Agent of any 
event of which it has knowledge, occurring after the date hereof, which will 
entitle such Bank to compensation pursuant to this Section and will designate a 
different Applicable Lending Office if such designation will avoid the need for, 
or reduce the amount of, such compensation and will not, in the judgment of such 
Bank, be otherwise disadvantageous to such Bank.  A certificate of any Bank 
claiming compensation under this Section 
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and setting forth the additional amount or amounts to be paid to it hereunder 
(including a statement in reasonable detail as to the method by which such 
amount or amounts shall have been determined) shall be conclusive in the absence 
of manifest error.  In determining such amount, such Bank may use any reasonable 
averaging and attribution methods. 
 
          SECTION 8.04.  Taxes.  (a)  For purposes of this Section 8.04, the 
                         ------                                              
following terms have the following meanings: 
 
          "Taxes" means any and all present or future taxes, duties, levies, 
     imposts, deductions, charges or withholdings with respect to any payment by 
     a Borrower pursuant to this Agreement or under any Note, and all 
     liabilities with respect thereto, excluding (i) in the case of each Bank 
     and the Agent, taxes imposed on its income, and franchise or similar taxes 
     imposed on it, by a jurisdiction under the laws of which such Bank or the 
     Agent (as the case may be), is organized or in which its principal 
     executive office is located or, in the case of each Bank, in which its 
     Applicable Lending Office is located and (ii) in the case of each Bank, any 
     United States withholding tax imposed on such payments but only to the 
     extent that such Bank is subject to United States withholding tax at the 
     time such Bank first becomes a party to this Agreement. 
 
          "Other Taxes" means any present or future stamp or documentary taxes 
     and any other excise or property taxes, or similar charges or levies, which 
     arise from any payment made pursuant to this Agreement or under any Notes 
     or from the execution or delivery of, or otherwise with respect to, this 
     Agreement or any Note. 
 
          (b)  Any and all payments by either Borrower to or for the account of 
any Bank or the Agent hereunder or under any Note shall be made without 
deduction for any Taxes or Other Taxes; provided that, if a Borrower shall be 
                                        --------                              
required by law to deduct any Taxes or Other Taxes from any such payments, (i) 
the sum payable shall be increased as necessary so that after making all 
required deductions (including deductions applicable to additional sums payable 
under this Section 8.04) such Bank or the Agent (as the case may be) receives an 
amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions been made, 
(ii) such Borrower shall make such deductions, (iii) such Borrower 
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shall pay the full amount deducted to the relevant taxation authority or other 
authority in accordance with applicable law and (iv) such Borrower shall furnish 
to the Agent, at its address referred to in Section 9.01, the original or a 
certified copy of a receipt evidencing payment thereof. 
 
          (c)  Each Borrower agrees to indemnify each Bank and the Agent for the 
full amount of Taxes or Other Taxes (including, without limitation, any Taxes or 
Other Taxes imposed or asserted by any jurisdiction on amounts payable under 
this Section 8.04) paid by such Bank or the Agent (as the case may be) and any 
liability (including penalties, interest and expense) arising therefrom or with 
respect thereto.  This indemnification shall be paid within 15 days after such 
Bank or the Agent (as the case may be) makes demand therefor. 
 
          (d)  Each Bank organized under the laws of a jurisdiction outside the 
United States, on or prior to the date of its execution and delivery of this 
Agreement in the case of each Bank listed on the signature pages hereof and on 
or prior to the date on which it becomes a Bank in the case of each other Bank, 
and from time to time thereafter if requested in writing by a Borrower (but only 
so long as such Bank remains lawfully able to do so), shall provide the 
Borrowers and the Agent with Internal Revenue Service form 1001 or 4224, as 
appropriate, or any successor form prescribed by the Internal Revenue Service, 
certifying that such Bank is entitled to benefits under an income tax treaty to 
which the United States is a party which exempts the Bank from United States 
withholding tax or reduces the rate of withholding tax on payments of interest 
for the account of such Bank or certifying that the income receivable pursuant 
to this Agreement is effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or 
business in the United States. 
 
          (e)  For any period with respect to which a Bank has failed to provide 
the Borrowers or the Agent with the appropriate form pursuant to Section 8.04(d) 
(unless such failure is due to a change in treaty, law or regulation occurring 
subsequent to the date on which such form originally was required to be 
provided), such Bank shall not be entitled to indemnification under Section 
8.04(b) or (c) with respect to Taxes imposed by the United States; provided that 
                                                                   --------      
if a Bank, which is otherwise exempt from or subject to a reduced rate of 
withholding tax, becomes subject to Taxes because of its failure to deliver a 
form required hereunder, the applicable Borrower shall take such steps as such 
Bank 
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shall reasonably request to assist such Bank to recover such Taxes. 
 
          (f)  If a Borrower is required to pay additional amounts to or for the 
account of any Bank pursuant to this Section, then such Bank will change the 
jurisdiction of its Applicable Lending Office if, in the judgment of such Bank, 
such change (i) will eliminate or reduce any such additional payment which may 
thereafter accrue and (ii) is not otherwise disadvantageous to such Bank. 
 
          (g)  If a Bank shall become aware that it is entitled to claim a 
refund from a Governmental Authority in respect of Taxes or Other Taxes as to 
which it has been indemnified by a Borrower, or with respect to which a Borrower 
has paid additional amounts, pursuant to this Section 8.04, it shall promptly 
notify the relevant Borrower of the availability of such refund claim and shall, 
within 30 days after receipt of a request by such Borrower, make a claim to such 
Governmental Authority for such refund at such Borrower's expense.  If a Bank 
receives a refund (including pursuant to a claim for refund made pursuant to the 
preceding sentence) in respect of any Taxes or Other Taxes as to which it has 
been indemnified by a Borrower or with respect to which a Borrower has paid 
additional amounts pursuant to this Section 8.04, it shall within 30 days from 
the date of such receipt pay over such refund to the relevant Borrower (but only 
to the extent of indemnity payments made, or additional amounts paid, by such 
Borrower under this Section 8.04 with respect to the Taxes or Other Taxes giving 
rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses of such Bank and without 
interest (other than interest paid by the relevant Governmental Authority with 
respect to such refund); provided, however, that a Borrower, upon the request of 
                         --------  -------                                       
such Bank, agrees to repay the amount paid over to such Borrower (plus 
penalties, interest or other charges) to such Bank in the event such Bank is 
required to repay such refund to such Governmental Authority. 
 
          SECTION 8.05.  Base Rate Loans Substituted for Affected Fixed Rate 
                         --------------------------------------------------- 
Loans.  If (i) the obligation of any Bank to make Euro-Dollar Loans has been 
- ------                                                                       
suspended pursuant to Section 8.02 or (ii) any Bank has demanded compensation 
under Section 8.03 or 8.04 and the applicable Borrower shall, by at least five 
Euro-Dollar Business Days' prior notice to such Bank through the Agent, have 
elected that the provisions of this Section shall apply to such Bank, then, 
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unless and until such Bank notifies such Borrower that the circumstances giving 
rise to such suspension or demand for compensation no longer apply: 
 
          (a) all Loans which would otherwise be made or continued by such Bank 
     as Euro-Dollar Loans shall be made instead as Base Rate Loans (on which 
     interest and principal shall be payable contemporaneously with the related 
     Euro-Dollar Loans of the other Banks), and 
 
          (b) after each of its Euro-Dollar Loans has been repaid, all payments 
     of principal which would otherwise be applied to repay Euro-Dollar Loans 
     shall be applied to repay its Base Rate Loans instead. 
 
          SECTION 8.06.  Substitution of Bank.  If (i) the obligation of any 
                         ---------------------                               
Bank to make or maintain Euro-Dollar Loans has been suspended pursuant to 
Section 8.02 or (ii) any Bank (or any Participant in its Loans) has demanded 
compensation under Section 8.03 or is receiving increased payments or 
indemnification payments under Section 8.04, the applicable Borrower shall have 
the right to seek a bank or banks ("Substitute Banks"), which may be one or more 
of the Banks or one or more other banks satisfactory to the Agent, to purchase 
the Notes of such Bank (the "Affected Bank") and, if such Borrower locates a 
Substitute Bank, the Affected Bank shall, upon payment to it of the purchase 
price agreed between it and the Substitute Bank (or, failing such agreement, a 
purchase price in the amount of the outstanding principal amount of its Loans 
and accrued interest thereon to the date of payment) plus any amount (other than 
principal and interest) then due to it or accrued for its account hereunder, 
assign all its rights and obligations under this Agreement and the Notes to the 
Substitute Bank, and the Substitute Bank shall assume such rights and 
obligations, whereupon the Substitute Bank shall be a Bank party to this 
Agreement and shall have all the rights and obligations of a Bank. 
 
 
                                  ARTICLE IX 
 
                                 MISCELLANEOUS 
 
          SECTION 9.01.  Notices.  All notices, requests and other 
                         --------                                  
communications to any party hereunder shall be in writing (including bank wire, 
telex, telecopy or similar writing) and shall be given to such party:  (x) in 
the case 



 
  
                                                                              60 
 
of the Borrowers or the Agent, at its address or telex or telecopy number set 
forth on the signature pages hereof, (y) in the case of any Bank, at its address 
or telex or telecopy number set forth in its Administrative Questionnaire or (z) 
in the case of any party, at such other address or telecopy or telex number as 
such party may hereafter specify for the purpose by notice to the Agent and the 
Borrowers.  Each such notice, request or other communication shall be effective 
(i) if given by telex, when such telex is transmitted to the telex number 
specified in or pursuant to this Section and the appropriate answer back is 
received, (ii) if given by mail, 72 hours after such communication is deposited 
in the mails with first class postage prepaid, addressed as aforesaid, or (iii) 
if given by any other means, when delivered at the address specified in or 
pursuant to this Section; provided that notices to the Agent under Article II or 
                          --------                                               
Article VIII shall not be effective until received. 
 
          SECTION 9.02.  No Waivers.  No failure or delay by the Agent or any 
                         -----------                                          
Bank in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder or under any other 
Loan Document shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or partial 
exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise 
of any other right, power or privilege.  The rights and remedies herein provided 
shall be cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law. 
 
          SECTION 9.03.  Expenses; Documentary Taxes; Indemnification.  (a)  The 
                         ---------------------------------------------           
Borrowers shall pay (i) all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of the Agent, 
including fees and disbursements of Cravath, Swaine & Moore, special counsel for 
the Agent, in connection with the preparation of this Agreement and the other 
Loan Documents, any waiver or consent hereunder or thereunder or any amendment 
hereof or thereof or any Default or alleged Default hereunder and (ii) if an 
Event of Default occurs, all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the 
Agent and any Bank, including fees and disbursements of counsel, in connection 
with such Event of Default and collection, bankruptcy and other enforcement 
proceedings resulting therefrom. 
 
          (b)  The Borrowers agree to indemnify the Agent and each Bank and hold 
the Agent and each Bank harmless from and against any and all liabilities, 
losses, damages, costs and expenses of any kind, including, without limitation, 
the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel and settlement 
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costs, which may be incurred by any Bank (or by the Agent) in connection with 
any investigative, administrative or judicial proceeding (whether or not the 
Agent or such Bank shall be designated a party thereto) relating to or arising 
out of any Loan Document or any actual or proposed use of proceeds of Loans 
hereunder; provided that neither the Agent nor any Bank shall have the right to 
           --------                                                             
be indemnified hereunder for its own gross negligence or willful misconduct as 
determined by a court of competent jurisdiction. 
 
          (c)  The provisions of this Section 9.03 shall remain in effect and 
survive regardless of any termination of this Agreement or the repayment of the 
Obligations. 
 
          SECTION 9.04.  Sharing of Set-Offs.  Each Bank agrees that if it 
                         --------------------                              
shall, by exercising any right of set-off or counterclaim or otherwise, receive 
payment of a proportion of the aggregate amount of principal and interest due 
with respect to any Note held by it evidencing Loans of a Class which is greater 
than the proportion received by any other Bank in respect of the aggregate 
amount of principal and interest due with respect to any Note held by such other 
Bank evidencing Loans of such Class, the Bank receiving such proportionately 
greater payment shall purchase such participations in the Notes evidencing Loans 
of such Class held by the other Banks, and such other adjustments shall be made, 
as may be required so that all such payments of claims in respect of principal 
and interest with respect to the Notes held by the Banks evidencing Loans of 
such Class shall be shared by the Banks pro rata; provided that nothing in this 
                                                  --------                      
Section shall impair the right of any Bank to exercise any right of set-off or 
counterclaim it may have and to apply the amount subject to such exercise to the 
payment of indebtedness of a Borrower other than its indebtedness under the Loan 
Documents.  Each Borrower agrees, to the fullest extent it may effectively do so 
under applicable law, that any holder of a participation in a Note evidencing 
its Loans of a Class, whether or not acquired pursuant to the foregoing 
arrangements, may exercise rights of set-off or counterclaim and other rights 
with respect to such participation as fully as if such holder of a participation 
were a direct creditor of such Borrower in the amount of such participation. 
 
          SECTION 9.05.  Amendments and Waivers.  Any provision of this 
                         -----------------------                        
Agreement or any other Loan Document may be amended or waived if, but only if, 
such amendment or waiver is in writing and is signed or otherwise approved in 
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writing by the Borrowers and the Required Banks (and, if the rights or duties of 
the Agent are affected thereby, by the Agent); provided that no such amendment 
                                               --------                        
or waiver shall (i) increase the Commitment of any Bank or subject any Bank to 
any additional obligation without the consent of such Bank, (ii) reduce the 
principal of or rate of interest on any Loan or any fees hereunder without the 
consent of each Bank affected thereby, (iii) postpone the date fixed for any 
payment of principal of any Loan under Section 2.08(a) or (b) or for any payment 
of interest on any Loan or any fees hereunder or for any reduction or 
termination of any Commitment without the consent of each Bank affected thereby, 
(iv) permit the release of any Guarantor from its Guarantee under the Guarantee 
Agreement without the consent of each Bank, (v) postpone the date fixed for any 
payment of principal of any Loan under Section 2.08(c) or (d) without the 
consent of Banks with Loans and unused Commitments representing at least 70% of 
the sum of the aggregate principal amount of Loans outstanding and unused 
Commitments at such time, or (vi) change the percentage of the Commitments, the 
percentage of the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Notes or the number 
of Banks which shall be required for the Banks or any of them to take any action 
under this Section or any other provision of this Agreement without the consent 
of each Bank. 
 
          SECTION 9.06.  Successors and Assigns.  (a)  The provisions of this 
                         -----------------------                              
Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto 
and their respective successors and assigns, except that the Borrowers may not 
assign or otherwise transfer any of their respective rights under this Agreement 
without the prior written consent of all Banks. 
 
          (b)  Any Bank may at any time grant to one or more banks or other 
institutions (each a "Participant") participating interests in any or all of its 
Commitment or its Loans.  In the event of any such grant by a Bank of a 
participating interest to a Participant, whether or not upon notice to the 
Borrowers and the Agent, such Bank shall remain responsible for the performance 
of its obligations hereunder, and the Borrowers and the Agent shall continue to 
deal solely and directly with such Bank in connection with such Bank's rights 
and obligations under this Agreement.  Any agreement pursuant to which any Bank 
may grant such a participating interest shall provide that such Bank shall 
retain the sole right and responsibility to enforce the obligations of the 
Borrowers hereunder including, without 
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limitation, the right to approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any 
provision of this Agreement; provided that such participation agreement may 
                             --------                                       
provide that such Bank will not agree to any modification, amendment or waiver 
described in clause (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) or (vi) (but, in the case of clause 
(vi), only to the extent such modification, amendment or waiver would affect any 
requirement of approval by all Banks of the matters referred to in such clauses 
(i), (ii), (iii) or (iv)) of Section 9.05 without the consent of the 
Participant.  The Borrowers agree that each Participant shall, to the extent 
provided in its participation agreement, be entitled to the benefits of Article 
VIII and Section 2.11 with respect to its participating interest.  An assignment 
or other transfer which is not permitted by subsection (c) or (d) below shall be 
given effect for purposes of this Agreement only to the extent of a 
participating interest granted in accordance with this subsection (b). 
 
          (c)  Any Bank may at any time assign to one or more banks or other 
financial institutions (each an "Assignee") all, or a proportionate part of all, 
of its rights and obligations under this Agreement and the Notes of either 
Class, and such Assignee shall assume such rights and obligations, pursuant to 
an instrument executed by such Assignee and such transferor Bank, with (and 
subject to) the subscribed consent of the Borrowers and of the Agent (such 
consents not to be unreasonably withheld); provided that such consents shall not 
                                           --------                              
be required for an assignment to an Assignee that is, before giving effect to 
such assignment, a Bank or is an existing lender under any other credit facility 
for The Limited or any Wholly-Owned Subsidiary thereof, or an affiliate of any 
such Bank or lender; provided further, that (i) unless otherwise agreed by the 
                     ----------------                                          
Borrowers and the Agent, each such assignment shall be in a minimum amount of 
$5,000,000 or, if less, all the remaining rights and obligations of the 
transferor Bank, and (ii) any such assignment of rights and obligations in 
respect of any Class of Loans or Commitments shall be made ratably with respect 
to all rights and obligations of the transferor Bank in respect of both Classes. 
Upon execution and delivery of such an instrument, payment by such Assignee to 
such transferor Bank of an amount equal to the purchase price agreed between 
such transferor Bank and such Assignee, delivery to the Agent of an executed 
copy of such instrument and payment to the Agent by the Assignee of a processing 
fee of $2,500, then such Assignee shall be a Bank party to this Agreement and 
shall have all the rights and obligations of a 
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Bank with a Commitment as set forth in such instrument of assumption, and the 
transferor Bank shall be released from its obligations hereunder to a 
corresponding extent, and no further consent or action by any party shall be 
required.  Upon the consummation of any assignment pursuant to this subsection 
(c), the transferor Bank, the Agent and the Borrowers shall make appropriate 
arrangements so that, if required, a new Note or Notes are issued to the 
Assignee, at the Borrowers' expense.  If the Assignee is not incorporated under 
the laws of the United States of America or a state thereof, it shall, on or 
prior to the date on which it becomes a Bank party to this Agreement, deliver to 
the Borrowers and the Agent certification as to exemption from deduction or 
withholding of any United States federal income taxes in accordance with Section 
8.04(d). 
 
          (d)  Any Bank may at any time assign all or any portion of its rights 
under this Agreement and its Notes to a Federal Reserve Bank.  No such 
assignment shall release the transferor Bank from its obligations hereunder. 
 
          (e)  No Assignee, Participant or other transferee of any Bank's rights 
shall be entitled to receive any greater payment under Section 8.03 or 8.04 than 
such Bank would have been entitled to receive with respect to the rights 
transferred, unless such transfer is made with the Borrowers' prior written 
consent or by reason of the provisions of Section 8.02, 8.03 or 8.04 requiring 
such Bank to designate a different Applicable Lending Office under certain 
circumstances or at a time when the circumstances giving rise to such greater 
payment did not exist. 
 
          SECTION 9.07.  Collateral.  Each of the Banks represents to the Agent 
                         -----------                                            
and each of the other Banks that it in good faith is not relying upon any Margin 
Stock as collateral in the extension or maintenance of the credit provided for 
in this Agreement. 
 
          SECTION 9.08.  Waiver of Trial by Jury.  Each of the parties hereto 
                         ------------------------                             
irrevocably waives any and all rights to trial by jury in any legal proceeding 
arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document or the 
transactions contemplated hereby. 
 
          SECTION 9.09.  New York Law.  THIS AGREEMENT AND EACH NOTE SHALL BE 
                         -------------                                        
CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AND GOVERNED BY THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. 
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          SECTION 9.10.  Counterparts; Integration.  This Agreement may be 
                         --------------------------                        
signed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, with 
the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same 
instrument.  This Agreement and the other Loan Documents constitute the entire 
agreement and understanding among the parties hereto and supersedes any and all 
prior agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject 
matter hereof. 
 
          SECTION 9.11.  Several Obligations.  The Obligations of the respective 
                         --------------------                                    
Borrowers hereunder and under the Notes to pay the principal of and interest on 
their respective Loans are several and not joint; provided that the foregoing 
                                                  --------                    
shall not be construed to release or otherwise impair either Borrower's 
obligations as a Guarantor under the Guarantee Agreement.  All other monetary 
obligations of the Borrowers hereunder and under the Loan Documents are joint 
and several. 
 
          SECTION 9.12.  Interest Rate Limitation.  Notwithstanding anything 
                         -------------------------                           
herein or in the Notes to the contrary, if at any time the applicable interest 
rate, together with all fees and charges which are treated as interest under 
applicable law (collectively the "Charges"), as provided for herein or in any 
other Loan Document, or otherwise contracted for, charged, received, taken or 
reserved by any Bank, shall exceed the maximum lawful rate (the "Maximum Rate") 
which may be contracted for, charged, taken, received or reserved by such Bank 
in accordance with 
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applicable law, the rate of interest payable under the Note or Notes held by 
such Bank, together with all Charges payable to such Bank, shall be limited to 
the Maximum Rate. 
 
 
          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to 
be duly executed by their respective authorized officers as of the day and year 
first above written. 
 
                         ABERCROMBIE & FITCH STORES, INC., 
 
                           by /s/ Patrick Hectorne 
                              ---------------------------- 
                              Name:  Patrick Hectorne 
                              Title: Treasurer 
                              Address:  3 Limited Parkway 
                                        Columbus, OH 43230 
                              Telecopy number:  614-479-7060 
 
 
                         A & F TRADEMARK, INC., 
 
                           by /s/ Patrick Hectorne 
                              ----------------------------- 
                              Name:  Patrick Hectorne 
                              Title: Attorney-in-fact 
                              Address:  3 Limited Parkway 
                                        Columbus, OH 43230 
                              Telecopy number: 614-479-7060 
 
 
                         THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, N.A., 
                         individually and as Administrative Agent, 
 
                           by /s/ William Rindfuss 
                              ---------------------------- 
                              Name:  William Rindfuss 
                              Title: Vice President 
                              Address:  c/o Chemical Bank 
                                        Grand Central Tower 
                                        140 East 45th Street 
                                        New York, NY 10017-3162 
                              Telecopy number: 212-622-0002 
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                         CITIBANK, N.A., 
 
 
                           by /s/ William P. Stengel 
                              ---------------------------- 
                              Name:  William P. Stengel 
                              Title: Vice President 
 
 
                         MORGAN GUARANTY TRUST 
                           COMPANY OF NEW YORK, 
 
                           by /s/ Sandra J. S. Kurek 
                              --------------------------- 
                              Name:  Sandra J. S. Kurek 
                              Title: Associate 
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                           Commitments 
                           ----------- 
                                       A & F        Trademark Co. 
                                       -----        ------------- 
Bank                              Term Commitment  Term Commitment 
- ----                              ---------------  --------------- 
                                              
The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A.       $ 48,000,000       $2,000,000 
Citibank, N.A.                       $ 48,000,000       $2,000,000 
Morgan Guaranty Trust Company 
 of New York                         $ 48,000,000       $2,000,000 
                                     ------------       ---------- 
                                     $144,000,000       $6,000,000 
                                     ============       ========== 
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          Existing Liens 
          -------------- 
 
 
 
          None. 
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                                   TERM NOTE 
 
 
New York, New York 
[Effective Date] 
 
          For value received, [    ], a Delaware corporation (the "Borrower"), 
promises to pay to the order of [        ] (the "Bank"), for the account of its 
Applicable Lending Office, on the Maturity Date, the aggregate unpaid principal 
amount of [A & F][Trademark Co.] Term Loans of the Bank.  The Borrower also 
promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount of each such [A & F] 
[Trademark Co.] Term Loan on the dates and at the rate or rates provided for 
in the Credit Agreement.  All such payments of principal and interest shall be 
made in lawful money of the United States in Federal or other immediately 
available funds at the office of The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., New York, 
New York. 
 
          All [A & F][Trademark Co.] Term Loans made by the Bank and all 
repayments of the principal of any such [A & F][Trademark Co.] Term Loans, shall 
be recorded by the Bank and, prior to any transfer hereof, appropriate notations 
to evidence the foregoing information with respect to each such [A & F] 
[Trademark Co.] Term Loan then outstanding shall be endorsed by the Bank on 
the schedule attached hereto, or on a continuation of such schedule attached to 
and made a part hereof; provided that the failure of the Bank to make any such 
                        --------                                               
recordation or endorsement shall not affect the obligations of the Borrower 
hereunder or under any of the other Loan Documents. 
 
          This note is one of the Notes referred to in the Credit Agreement 
dated as of June 28, 1996, among the Borrower, [     ], the banks listed on the 
signature pages thereof and The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., as Administrative 
Agent (as the same may be amended from time to time, the "Credit Agreement"). 
Terms defined in the Credit Agreement are used herein with the same meanings. 
Reference is made to the Credit Agreement for 
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provisions for the mandatory and optional prepayment hereof and the acceleration 
of the maturity hereof. 
 
                                              [                  ] 
 
                                               by 
                                                  --------------------------- 
                                                  Name: 
                                                  Title: 



 
  
                                                                               3 
 
                        LOANS AND PAYMENTS OF PRINCIPAL 
 
 
 
 
 
         Type   Amount   Amount of    Unpaid 
          of      of     Principal   Principal   Notations 
  Date   Loan    Loan     Repaid      Balance     Made By 
 ------  ----   ------   ---------   ---------   --------- 
                                   
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
  
                                                                       EXHIBIT B 
 
                    GUARANTEE AGREEMENT dated as of June 28, 1996, among 
               ABERCROMBIE & FITCH HOLDING CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation 
               ("Holdings"), ABERCROMBIE & FITCH STORES, INC., a Delaware 
               corporation ("A&F"), A&F TRADEMARK, INC. ("Trademark Co." and, 
               together with Holdings, A&F and any other entities that became 
               parties hereto as contemplated by Section 15 hereof, referred to 
               herein individually as a "Guarantor" and collectively as the 
               "Guarantors"), and THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, N.A., as 
               administrative agent (the "Agent") for the banks (the "Banks") 
               party to the Credit Agreement dated as of June 28, 1996 (as 
               amended from time to time, the "Credit Agreement"), among A&F, 
               Trademark Co., the Banks and the Agent. 
 
 
          The Banks have respectively agreed to make loans to A&F and Trademark 
Co.  The obligations of the Banks to lend under the Credit Agreement are 
conditioned on, among other things, the execution and delivery by the Guarantors 
of a guarantee agreement in the form hereof.  The Guarantors acknowledge that 
they will derive substantial benefits from the extension of credit to A&F and 
Trademark Co. under the Credit Agreement.  As consideration therefor and in 
order to induce the Banks to make the Loans (such term and the other capitalized 
terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein having the meanings assigned 
to them in the Credit Agreement), the Guarantors are willing to execute and 
deliver this Agreement.  Accordingly, the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 
          SECTION 1.  Each of the Guarantors unconditionally guarantees, jointly 
with the other Guarantors and severally, as a primary obligor and not merely as 
a surety, (a) the due and punctual payment by each Borrower (other than itself) 
of (i) the principal of and interest on the Loans, when and as due, whether at 
maturity, by acceleration, upon one or more dates set for prepayment or 
otherwise and (ii) all other monetary obligations of each Borrower (other than 
itself) to the Banks and the Agent under the Credit Agreement and the other Loan 
Documents to which such Borrower is or is to be a party and (b) the due and 
punctual performance of all other obligations of each Borrower (other than 
itself) under the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents (all the 
foregoing obligations being collectively called the 



 
  
                                                                               2 
 
"Obligations").  Each of the Guarantors further agrees that the Obligations may 
be extended or renewed, in whole or in part, without notice to or further assent 
from it, and that it will remain bound upon its guarantee notwithstanding any 
extension or renewal of any Obligation. 
 
          SECTION 2.  Each of the Guarantors waives presentment to, demand of 
payment from and protest to the Borrowers of any of the Obligations, and also 
waives notice of acceptance of its guarantee and notice of protest for 
nonpayment.  The obligations of each Guarantor hereunder shall not be affected 
by (a) the failure of the Agent or any Bank to assert any claim or demand or to 
enforce any right or remedy against either Borrower under the provisions of any 
Loan Document or otherwise; (b) any rescission, waiver, amendment or 
modification of, or any release from any of the terms or provisions of, any Loan 
Document, any guarantee or any other agreement, including with respect to any 
other Guarantor under this Agreement; (c) the release of any security held by 
the Agent or any Bank for the Obligations or any of them; or (d) the failure of 
the Agent or any Bank to exercise any right or remedy against any other 
Guarantor or guarantor of the Obligations. 
 
          SECTION 3.  Each of the Guarantors further agrees that its guarantee 
hereunder constitutes a guarantee of payment when due and not of collection, and 
waives any right to require that resort be had by the Agent or any Bank to any 
security held for payment of the Obligations or to any balance of any deposit 
account or credit on the books of the Agent or any Bank in favor of either 
Borrower or any other person. 
 
          SECTION 4.  The obligations of each Guarantor hereunder shall not be 
subject to any reduction, limitation, impairment or termination for any reason, 
including, without limitation, any claim of waiver, release, surrender, 
alteration or compromise, and shall not be subject to any defense or setoff, 
counterclaim, recoupment or termination whatsoever by reason of the invalidity, 
illegality or unenforceability of the Obligations or otherwise.  Without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, the obligations of each Guarantor 
hereunder shall not be discharged or impaired or otherwise affected by the 
failure of the Agent or any Bank to assert any claim or demand or to enforce any 
remedy under any Loan Document, any guarantee or any other agreement, by any 
waiver or modification of any thereof, by any default, failure or delay, willful 
or otherwise, in the performance 
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of the Obligations, or by any other act or omission which may or might in any 
manner or to any extent vary the risk of any Guarantor or otherwise operate as a 
discharge of either Borrower or any Guarantor as a matter of law or equity 
(other than the indefeasible payment in full of all the Obligations). 
 
          SECTION 5.  Each of the Guarantors further agrees that its guarantee 
shall continue to be effective or be reinstated, as the case may be, if at any 
time payment, or any part thereof, of any Obligation is rescinded or must 
otherwise be restored by the Agent or any Bank upon the bankruptcy or 
reorganization of either Borrower, any other Guarantor or otherwise. 
 
          SECTION 6.  In furtherance of the foregoing and not in limitation of 
any other right which the Agent or any Bank has at law or in equity against any 
Guarantor by virtue hereof, upon the failure of either Borrower to pay any 
Obligation when and as the same shall become due, whether at maturity, by 
acceleration, after notice of prepayment or otherwise, each of the Guarantors 
hereby promises to and will, upon receipt of written demand by the Agent, 
forthwith pay, or cause to be paid, to the Agent for distribution to the Banks, 
if and as appropriate, in cash the amount of such unpaid Obligation. 
Notwithstanding any payment or payments made by a Guarantor hereunder or any 
setoff or application of funds of a Guarantor by the Agent or any Bank, no 
Guarantor shall be entitled to be subrogated to any of the rights of the Agent 
or any Bank against either Borrower or any collateral security or guarantee or 
right of offset held for the payment of the Obligations, nor shall any Guarantor 
seek or be entitled to seek any contribution or reimbursement from either 
Borrower in respect of payments made by such Guarantor hereunder, until all 
amounts owing to the Agent or any Bank by each Borrower on account of the 
Obligations are paid in full and the Commitments are terminated.  If any amount 
shall erroneously be paid to any Guarantor on account of such subrogation, 
contribution, reimbursement, indemnity and similar rights, such amount shall be 
held in trust for the benefit of the Banks and shall forthwith be paid to the 
Agent to be credited and applied to the payment of the Obligations.  Any term or 
provision of this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, the maximum 
aggregate amount of the Obligations guaranteed hereunder by any Guarantor shall 
not exceed the maximum amount that can be hereby guaranteed by that Guarantor 
without rendering this Agreement, as it relates to such 
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Guarantor, voidable under applicable law relating to fraudulent conveyance or 
fraudulent transfer or similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally. 
 
          SECTION 7.  Each of the Guarantors represents and warrants that (a) it 
is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the 
laws of its jurisdiction of organization, (b) the execution, delivery and 
performance by it of this Agreement are within its corporate powers, have been 
duly authorized by all necessary corporate and (if necessary) stockholder 
action, and do not  contravene, or constitute a default under, any provision of 
applicable law or regulation or of its certificate of incorporation or By-Laws 
or any material agreement or instrument binding upon it, and (c) this Agreement 
constitutes a valid and binding agreement of such Guarantor, enforceable in 
accordance with its terms, subject to the effect of applicable bankruptcy, 
insolvency or similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and equitable 
principles of general applicability. 
 
          SECTION 8.  The guarantees made hereunder shall survive and be in full 
force and effect so long as any Obligation is outstanding and has not been 
indefeasibly paid, and shall be reinstated to the extent provided in Section 5. 
 
          SECTION 9.  This Agreement and the terms, covenants and conditions 
hereof shall be binding upon each Guarantor and its successors and shall inure 
to the benefit of the Agent and the Banks and their respective successors and 
assigns.  None of the Guarantors shall be permitted to assign or transfer any of 
its rights or obligations under this Agreement, except as expressly contemplated 
by this Agreement. 
 
          SECTION 10.  No failure on the part of the Agent to exercise, and no 
delay in exercising, any right, power or remedy hereunder shall operate as a 
waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right, 
power or remedy by the Agent or any Bank preclude any other or further exercise 
thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or remedy.  All remedies 
hereunder and under the other Loan Documents are cumulative and are not 
exclusive of any other remedies provided by law.  Except as provided in the 
Credit Agreement, none of the Agent or the Banks shall be deemed to have waived 
any rights hereunder or 
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under any other agreement or instrument unless such waiver shall be in writing 
and signed by such parties. 
 
          SECTION 11.  THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AND 
GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. 
 
          SECTION 12.  All communications and notices hereunder shall be in 
writing and given as provided in Section 9.01 of the Credit Agreement; provided 
                                                                       -------- 
that any communication or notice hereunder to any Guarantor that is not a 
Borrower shall be given to it in care of A&F at the address or telecopy or telex 
number specified in the Credit Agreement. 
 
          SECTION 13.  In case any one or more of the provisions contained in 
this Agreement should be held invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect 
with respect to any Guarantor, no party hereto shall be required to comply with 
such provision with respect to such Guarantor for so long as such provision is 
held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable and the validity, legality and 
enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein, and of such 
provision with respect to any other Guarantor, shall not in any way be affected 
or impaired.  The parties shall endeavor in good-faith negotiations to replace 
any invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions with valid provisions, the 
economic effect of which come as close as possible to that of the invalid, 
illegal or unenforceable provisions. 
 
          SECTION 14.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more 
counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which, when 
taken together, shall constitute but one instrument; provided that this 
                                                     --------           
Agreement shall be construed as a separate agreement with respect to each 
Guarantor and may be amended, modified, supplemented, waived or released with 
respect to any Guarantor without the approval of any other Guarantor and without 
affecting the obligations of any other Guarantor hereunder.  This Agreement 
shall be effective with respect to any Guarantor when a counterpart which bears 
the signature of such Guarantor shall have been delivered to the Agent. 
 
          SECTION 15.  Upon execution and delivery by the Agent and a member of 
the Borrower Group of an instrument in the form of Annex 1 attached hereto, such 
member of the Borrower Group shall become a Guarantor hereunder with the same 
force and effect as if originally named as a Guarantor 
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herein.  The execution and delivery of any such instrument shall not require the 
consent of any Guarantor hereunder.  The rights and obligations of each 
Guarantor hereunder shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding the 
addition of any new Guarantor as a party to this Agreement. 
 
 
          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this 
Agreement as of the day and year first above written. 
 
 
                              ABERCROMBIE & FITCH 
                              HOLDING CORPORATION 
 
                                by 
                                    ------------------------ 
                                    Name: 
                                    Title: 
  
  
                              ABERCROMBIE & FITCH STORES, INC. 
  
                                by 
                                    ------------------------ 
                                    Name: 
                                    Title: 
 
 
                              A & F TRADEMARK, INC. 
  
                                by 
                                    ------------------------ 
                                    Name: 
                                    Title: 
 
 
                              THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, N.A., as 
                              Administrative Agent 
 
                                by 
                                    ------------------------ 
                                    Name: 
                                    Title: 



 
  
                                                                       EXHIBIT C 
 
 
      SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT dated as of June 28, 1996, among THE 
LIMITED, INC., a Delaware corporation ("TLI"), ABERCROMBIE & FITCH HOLDING 
CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation ("Holdings"), ABERCROMBIE & FITCH STORES, 
INC., a Delaware corporation ("A & F"), A & F TRADEMARK, INC., a Delaware 
corporation ("Trademark Co.") and THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, N.A., as 
Administrative Agent (the "Agent") for the banks (the "Banks") party to the 
Credit Agreement dated as of June 28, 1996 (as amended from time to time, the 
"Credit Agreement"), among A & F, Trademark Co., the Banks and the Agent. 
 
 
          The Banks have respectively agreed to make loans to A & F and 
Trademark Co.  The obligations of the Banks to lend under the Credit Agreement 
are conditioned on, among other things, the execution and delivery by TLI, 
Holdings, A & F, Trademark Co. and the Agent of a subordination agreement in the 
form hereof.  In order to induce the Banks to make Loans, each of TLI, Holdings, 
A & F and Trademark Co. is willing to execute and deliver this Agreement. 
Accordingly, TLI, Holdings, A & F, Trademark Co. and the Agent hereby agree as 
follows: 
 
 
                                   ARTICLE I 
 
                                  DEFINITIONS 
 
          Capitalized terms used herein but not defined herein shall have the 
meanings set forth in the Credit Agreement.  In addition to the terms defined 
elsewhere in this Agreement or in the Credit Agreement, as used herein the 
following terms shall have the following meanings: 
 
          "Restricted Subsidiaries" means each member of the Borrower Group and 
           -----------------------                                              
their respective successors. 
 
          "Senior Creditors" means each of the Banks, the Agent and their 
           ----------------                                               
respective successors and assigns. 
 
          "Senior Obligations" means all monetary obligations of each Borrower 
           ------------------                                                  
and Guarantor under the Loan Documents, including the payment of (i) principal 
of and interest (including interest accruing after the commencement of any 
proceeding under any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law, 
regardless of whether a claim therefor is allowable in such proceeding) on 
indebtedness 
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under the Credit Agreement, including any amendments, modifications, deferrals, 
renewals, extensions or increases of any such indebtedness, and (ii) all fees, 
indemnities, expense reimbursement obligations and other amounts payable under 
any Loan Document. 
 
 
                                  ARTICLE II 
 
                                 SUBORDINATION 
 
          SECTION 2.1.  Subordination.  TLI hereby agrees on behalf of itself 
                        --------------                                        
and its subsidiaries that all the Subordinated Obligations of each Restricted 
Subsidiary are hereby expressly subordinated, to the extent and in the manner 
set forth in this Article II, to the prior payment in full in cash of all Senior 
Obligations of such Restricted Subsidiary in accordance with the terms thereof. 
 
          SECTION 2.2.  Dissolution or Insolvency.  Upon any distribution of the 
                        --------------------------                               
assets of any Restricted Subsidiary or upon any dissolution, winding up, 
liquidation or reorganization of any Restricted Subsidiary, whether in 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement or receivership proceedings 
or otherwise, or upon any assignment for the benefit of creditors or any other 
marshalling of the assets and liabilities of any Restricted Subsidiary, or 
otherwise: 
 
          (a) the Senior Creditors of such Restricted Subsidiary shall first be 
entitled to receive payment in full in cash of the Senior Obligations of such 
Restricted Subsidiary in accordance with the terms of such Senior Obligations 
before TLI or any subsidiary of TLI shall be entitled to receive any payment on 
account of the Subordinated Obligations of such Restricted Subsidiary, whether 
as principal, interest or otherwise; and 
 
          (b) any payment by, or distribution of the assets of, such Restricted 
Subsidiary of any kind or character, whether in cash, property or securities, to 
which TLI or any subsidiary of TLI would be entitled except for the provisions 
of this Agreement shall be paid or delivered by the person making such payment 
or distribution (whether a trustee in bankruptcy, a receiver, custodian or 
liquidating trustee or otherwise) directly to the Senior Creditors of such 
Restricted Subsidiary to the extent necessary to make payment in full in cash of 
all Senior Obligations of such Restricted Subsidiary remaining unpaid, after 
giving effect 
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to any concurrent payment or distribution to such Senior Creditors in respect of 
Senior Obligations of such Restricted Subsidiary. 
 
          SECTION 2.3.  Payment of Primary Subordinated Obligations Prohibited. 
                        ------------------------------------------------------- 
(a) No payment (whether directly, by exercise of any right of set-off or 
otherwise) in respect of any Primary Subordinated Obligation of any Restricted 
Subsidiary, whether as principal, interest or otherwise, shall be permitted at 
any time until all Senior Obligations have been paid in full. 
 
          (b) No payment of any Primary Subordinated Obligation that is 
prohibited by paragraph (a) above shall be received or accepted by or on behalf 
of TLI or permitted by TLI to be received or accepted by or on behalf of any of 
its subsidiaries. 
 
          (c) The provisions of this Section 2.3 shall not apply to the payment 
of any Primary Subordinated Obligation of A & F on, or within five Domestic 
Business Days after, the Effective Date with the proceeds of the A & F Term 
Loans. 
 
          SECTION 2.4.  Payment of Secondary Subordinated Obligations Prohibited 
                        -------------------------------------------------------- 
Upon Default.  No payment (whether directly, by exercise of any right of set-off 
- -------------                                                                    
or otherwise) in respect of the Secondary Subordinated Obligations of any 
Restricted Subsidiary, whether as principal, interest or otherwise, shall be 
permitted, and no such payment shall be received or accepted by or on behalf of 
TLI or permitted by TLI to be received or accepted by or on behalf of any of its 
subsidiaries, if prior to or after giving effect to such payment, any Default 
shall have occurred and be continuing. 
 
          SECTION 2.5.  Certain Payments Held in Trust.  In the event that any 
                        -------------------------------                        
payment by, or distribution of the assets of, any Restricted Subsidiary of any 
kind or character, whether in cash, property or securities, and whether 
directly, by exercise of any right of set-off or otherwise, shall be received by 
or on behalf of TLI or any subsidiary of TLI at a time when such payment is 
prohibited by this Agreement, such payment or distribution shall be held in 
trust for the benefit of, and shall be paid over to, (a) the Senior Creditors of 
such Restricted Subsidiary to the extent necessary to make payment in full in 
cash of all Senior Obligations of such Restricted Subsidiary remaining unpaid, 
after giving effect to any concurrent payment or distribu- 
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tion to such Senior Creditors in respect of such Senior Obligations or (b) in 
the case of any payment prohibited under Section 2.3 or 2.4 hereof, the 
Restricted Subsidiary from which such payment was received or, if directed by 
the Senior Creditors of such Restricted Subsidiary, to such Senior Creditors to 
be applied to pay any Senior Obligations then due or to be held as collateral 
security therefor. 
 
          SECTION 2.6.  Subrogation.  Subject to the prior indefeasible payment 
                        ------------                                            
in full in cash of the Senior Obligations of a Restricted Subsidiary, TLI and 
its subsidiaries, as applicable, shall be subrogated to the rights of the Senior 
Creditors of such Restricted Subsidiary to receive payments or distributions in 
cash, property or securities of such Restricted Subsidiary applicable to such 
Senior Obligations until all amounts owing on the Subordinated Obligations of 
such Restricted Subsidiary shall be paid in full, and as between and among a 
Restricted Subsidiary, its creditors (other than its Senior Creditors) and TLI 
and its subsidiaries, no such payment or distribution made to the Senior 
Creditors of such Restricted Subsidiary by virtue of this Agreement that 
otherwise would have been made to TLI or any subsidiary of TLI shall be deemed 
to be a payment by such Restricted Subsidiary on account of its Subordinated 
Obligations, it being understood that the provisions of this Section 2.6 are 
intended solely for the purpose of defining the relative rights of TLI and its 
subsidiaries, on the one hand, and the Senior Creditors, on the other hand. 
 
 
                                  ARTICLE III 
 
             OTHER MATTERS REGARDING THE SUBORDINATED OBLIGATIONS 
 
          SECTION 3.1.  Other Creditors.  Nothing contained in this Agreement is 
                        ----------------                                         
intended to or shall impair, as between and among the Restricted Subsidiaries, 
their creditors (other than their Senior Creditors) and TLI and its 
subsidiaries, the obligations of each Restricted Subsidiary to pay to TLI and 
its subsidiaries the Subordinated Obligations of such Restricted Subsidiary as 
and when the same shall become due and payable in accordance with the terms 
thereof, or affect the relative rights of TLI and its subsidiaries and the 
creditors of the Restricted Subsidiaries (other than their Senior Creditors). 
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          SECTION 3.2.  Proofs of Claims.  In the event of any dissolution, 
                        -----------------                                   
winding up, liquidation or reorganization of any Restricted Subsidiary, whether 
in bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement or receivership 
proceedings or otherwise, or any assignment for the benefit of creditors or any 
other marshalling of the assets and liabilities of any Restricted Subsidiary, 
TLI agrees to file proofs of claim for the Subordinated Obligations upon demand 
of the Agent, in default of which the Agent or other authorized representative 
of the Senior Creditors is hereby irrevocably authorized so to file in order to 
effectuate the provisions hereof. 
 
          SECTION 3.3.  No Waiver.  No right of any Senior Creditor to enforce 
                        ----------                                             
this Agreement shall at any time or in any way be prejudiced or impaired by any 
act or failure to act on the part of any of the Agent, the other Senior 
Creditors, or any Restricted Subsidiary, or by any noncompliance by any 
Restricted Subsidiary with the terms, provisions and covenants contained herein, 
and the Senior Creditors are hereby expressly authorized to extend, renew, 
increase, decrease, modify or amend the terms of the Senior Obligations or any 
security therefor, and to release, sell or exchange any such security and 
otherwise deal freely with the Restricted Subsidiaries, all without notice to or 
consent of TLI or any of its subsidiaries and without affecting the liabilities 
and obligations of the parties hereto. 
 
          SECTION 3.4.  Acceleration and Remedies; Bankruptcy Filings.  TLI 
                        ----------------------------------------------      
agrees that, except for claims submitted in any proceeding contemplated by 
Section 2.2 hereof, it will not, and will not permit any of its subsidiaries to, 
exercise any remedies or take any action or proceeding to enforce any 
Subordinated Obligation if the payment of such Subordinated Obligation is then 
prohibited by Section 2.3 or 2.4, and TLI further agrees not to join, or to 
permit any of its subsidiaries to join, with any other creditors of any 
Restricted Subsidiary in filing any petition commencing any bankruptcy, 
insolvency, reorganization, arrangement or receivership proceeding or any 
assignment for the benefit of creditors against or in respect of any Restricted 
Subsidiary or any other marshalling of the assets and liabilities of any 
Restricted Subsidiary.  TLI further agrees, to the fullest extent permitted 
under applicable law, that it will not cause or permit any Restricted Subsidiary 
to file any such petition, commence 
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any such proceeding or make any such assignment referred to above until all 
Senior Obligations have been paid in full. 
 
          SECTION 3.5.  Transfer of Subordinated Obligations.  TLI will not, and 
                        -------------------------------------                    
will not permit any of its subsidiaries to, sell, assign, transfer or otherwise 
dispose of all or any part of the Subordinated Obligations, or sell, assign, 
transfer or otherwise dispose of any subsidiary that has or may have any claim 
constituting a Subordinated Obligation, unless the Person to whom such sale, 
assignment, transfer or disposition is made (i) is TLI or a subsidiary of TLI or 
(ii) shall acknowledge in writing (delivered to the Agent) that it shall be 
bound by the terms of this Agreement, including the terms of this Section 3.5, 
as though named herein as a successor to TLI. 
 
          SECTION 3.6.  Obligations Hereunder Not Affected.  (a) All rights and 
                        -----------------------------------                     
interests of the Senior Creditors hereunder, and all agreements and obligations 
of TLI hereunder, shall remain in full force and effect irrespective of: 
 
          (i) any lack of validity or enforceability of the Credit Agreement or 
     any other Loan Document; 
 
          (ii) any change in the time, manner or place of payment of, or in any 
     other term of, all or any of the Senior Obligations, or any other amendment 
     or waiver of or consent to departure from the Credit Agreement or any other 
     Loan Document (other than this Agreement); 
 
          (iii) any exchange, release or nonperfection of any security interest 
     in any collateral, or any release or amendment or waiver of or consent to 
     departure from any guarantee, in respect of all or any of the Senior 
     Obligations; or 
 
          (iv) any other circumstance that might otherwise constitute a defense 
     available to, or a discharge of, any Restricted Subsidiary in respect of 
     its Senior Obligations or of TLI in respect of this Agreement. 
 
          (b)  This Agreement shall continue to be effective or be reinstated, 
as the case may be, if at any time any payment of the Senior Obligations or any 
part thereof is rescinded or must otherwise be returned by any Senior Creditor 
upon the insolvency, bankruptcy or reorganization 
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of any Restricted Subsidiary or otherwise, all as though such payment had not 
been made. 
 
          (c)  TLI hereby authorizes the Senior Creditors, without notice or 
demand and without affecting or impairing any of the obligations of TLI 
hereunder, from time to time to (i) renew, compromise, extend, increase, 
accelerate or otherwise change the time for payment of, or otherwise change the 
terms of, the Senior Obligations or any part thereof and (ii) exercise or 
refrain from exercising any rights against TLI, any subsidiary of TLI, any 
Restricted Subsidiary or any other Person. 
 
 
                                  ARTICLE IV 
 
                           CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF TLI 
 
          TLI agrees, for the benefit of the Banks, that it will not cause or 
permit either Borrower to fail to observe or perform any of its covenants 
contained in Sections 5.09 and 5.16 of the Credit Agreement; provided that TLI 
                                                             --------          
shall not be responsible for a failure to observe or perform the covenants 
contained in Section 5.16 of the Credit Agreement to the extent such failure is 
attributable to any of the following: 
 
          (a) mechanics', workers', materialmen's, warehousemen's, landlords' or 
     other like Liens that arise by operation of law; 
 
          (b) Liens obtained by judgment creditors without the consent of the 
     Borrowers (unless such judgment relates to Debt incurred by a Borrower in 
     violation of Section 5.09 of the Credit Agreement); or 
 
          (c) other Liens that arise by operation of law without the consent of 
     the Borrowers (unless such Liens arise as a result of a failure by TLI and 
     its subsidiaries to pay income or franchise taxes or to comply with ERISA). 
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                                   ARTICLE V 
 
                     REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF TLI 
 
          TLI represents and warrants to the Agent, for the benefit of the 
Senior Creditors, that: 
 
          (a)  TLI is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good 
standing under the laws of the State of Delaware. 
 
          (b)  The execution, delivery and performance by TLI of this Agreement 
and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby are within its 
corporate powers, have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action, 
require no action by or in respect of, or filing with, any Governmental 
Authority (other than such as have been duly taken or made) and do not 
contravene, or constitute a default under, any provision of applicable law or 
regulation or of the certificate of incorporation or by-laws of TLI or any of 
its subsidiaries or of any material agreement, judgment, injunction, order, 
decree or other instrument binding upon TLI or any of its subsidiaries. 
 
          (c)  This Agreement constitutes a valid and binding agreement of TLI, 
enforceable against TLI and its subsidiaries in accordance with its terms, 
subject to the effect of applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws 
affecting creditors' rights generally and equitable principles of general 
applicability. 
 
 
                                  ARTICLE VI 
 
                                 MISCELLANEOUS 
 
          SECTION 6.1.  Notices.  All communications and notices hereunder shall 
                        --------                                                 
be in writing and shall be given as provided in Section 9.01 of the Credit 
Agreement; provided that any communication or notice hereunder to TLI shall be 
           --------                                                            
given to it at the address or telecopy or telex number set forth under its 
signature on the signature pages hereof. 
 
          SECTION 6.2.  Successors and Assigns.  Whenever in this Agreement any 
                        -----------------------                                 
of the parties hereto is referred to, such reference shall be deemed to include 
the successors and assigns of such party.  All representations, warranties, 
covenants, promises and agreements by or on behalf of TLI 
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that are contained in this Agreement shall bind its successors and assigns and 
inure to the benefit of the Senior Creditors and the successors and assigns of 
the Senior Creditors.  TLI shall not assign or delegate any of its obligations 
under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Agent, and any 
attempted assignment or delegation without such consent shall be void and of no 
effect. 
 
          SECTION 6.3.  Applicable Law.  THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, 
                        ---------------                                       
AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. 
 
          SECTION 6.4.  Waivers; Amendment.  No failure or delay of any Senior 
                        -------------------                                    
Creditor in exercising any right or power hereunder shall operate as a waiver 
thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right or power by 
any Senior Creditor preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the 
exercise of any other right or power.  The rights and remedies of the Senior 
Creditors hereunder and under the other documents and instruments creating or 
securing their respective Senior Obligations are cumulative and are not 
exclusive of any other rights or remedies provided by law.  Neither this 
Agreement nor any provision hereof may be waived, amended or modified except 
pursuant to an agreement or agreements in writing entered into by TLI, the 
Restricted Subsidiaries and the Agent. 
 
          SECTION 6.5.  Waiver of Jury Trial.  Each party hereto irrevocably 
                        ---------------------                                
waives any and all rights it may have to a trial by jury in any legal proceeding 
arising out of or relating to this Agreement. 
 
          SECTION 6.6.  Severability.  In the event any one or more of the 
                        -------------                                      
provisions contained in this Agreement should be held invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the 
remaining provisions contained herein shall not in any way be affected or 
impaired thereby.  The parties shall endeavor in good-faith negotiations to 
replace any invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions with valid provisions 
the economic effect of which comes as close as possible to that of the invalid, 
illegal or unenforceable provisions. 
 
          SECTION 6.7.  Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or 
                        -------------                                           
more counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original but all of which, 
when taken together, shall constitute but one instrument. 
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          SECTION 6.8.  Headings.  Article and Section headings used herein are 
                        ---------                                               
for convenience of reference only, are not part of this Agreement and are not to 
affect the construction of, or to be taken into consideration in interpreting, 
this Agreement. 
 
          SECTION 6.9.  Subsidiaries of TLI.  References herein to subsidiaries 
                        --------------------                                    
of TLI shall not be deemed to include any Borrower or Guarantor. 
 
          SECTION 6.10.  Termination.  Subject to Section 3.6(b), this Agreement 
                         ------------                                            
shall terminate upon payment in full of the Senior Obligations. 
 
 
          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, TLI, Holdings, A & F, Trademark Co. and the Agent 
have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their respective authorized 
representatives as of the day and year first above written. 
 
 
                                          THE LIMITED, INC., 
 
                                            by 
                                               --------------------------------- 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
                                               Address: 
                                               Attention of 
                                               Telecopy Number: 
 
 
                                          ABERCROMBIE & FITCH HOLDING 
                                          CORPORATION, 
 
                                            by 
                                               --------------------------------- 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
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                                          ABERCROMBIE & FITCH STORES, INC., 
 
                                            by 
                                               --------------------------------- 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
 
 
                                          A & F TRADEMARK, INC., 
 
                                            by 
                                               --------------------------------- 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
 
 
                                          THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, N.A., 
                                          as Administrative Agent, 
 
                                            by 
                                               --------------------------------- 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 



 
  
                                                                       EXHIBIT D 
                       OPINION OF SAMUEL P. FRIED, ESQ., 
                           COUNSEL FOR THE BORROWERS 
 
 
Effective Date 
 
 
To the Banks and the Agent referred to below 
In care of The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., as Agent 
c/o Chemical Bank 
Grand Central Tower 
140 East 45th Street 
New York, New York 10017-3162 
 
 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
I am the General Counsel of The Limited, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("The 
Limited"), and have acted on behalf of The Limited and its subsidiaries in 
connection with the Credit Agreement dated as of June 28, 1996 (the "Credit 
Agreement") among Abercrombie & Fitch Stores, Inc., A & F Trademark, Inc., the 
banks listed on the signature pages thereof (the "Banks") and The Chase 
Manhattan Bank, N.A., as Agent (the "Agent").  Terms defined in the Credit 
Agreement are used herein as therein defined. 
 
I, or individuals under my direction, have examined originals or copies, 
certified or otherwise identified to my satisfaction, of such documents, 
corporate records, certificates of public officials and other instruments and 
have conducted such other investigations of fact and law as I have deemed 
necessary or advisable for purposes of this opinion. 
 
Based upon the foregoing, and subject to the qualifications set forth below, I 
am of the opinion that: 
 
1.   Each Borrowers, the Guarantors and The Limited (collectively, the 
     "Companies") is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good 
     standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization, and has all 
     corporate powers and all material governmental licenses, authorizations, 
     consents and approvals required to carry on its business as now conducted 
     or proposed to be conducted, except any such powers or governmental 
     licenses, authorizations, consents or 
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     approvals the absence of which would not reasonably be expected to have a 
     Material Adverse Effect. 
 
2.   The execution, delivery and performance by each Company of each Loan 
     Document to which it is a party are within its corporate powers, have been 
     duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of such Company and its 
     stockholders, require no action by or in respect of, or filing with, any 
     Governmental Authority (other than such as have been duly taken or made) 
     and do not contravene, or constitute a default under, any provision of 
     applicable law or regulation of the State of Ohio or the United States of 
     America or of the certificate of incorporation or By-laws of such Company 
     or of any material judgment, injunction, order or decree or any material 
     agreement or other material instrument binding upon such Company or result 
     in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any asset of such Company, in 
     each case both before and after giving effect to the Transactions. 
 
3.   To the best of my knowledge, there is no injunction, stay, decree or order 
     of any Governmental Authority or any action, suit or proceeding pending 
     against, threatened against or affecting any of the Companies before any 
     court or arbitrator or any governmental body, agency or official in which 
     there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse decision that would 
     reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
I am a member of the bar of the State of Ohio and the foregoing opinion is 
limited to the laws of the State of Ohio, the Federal laws of the United States 
of America and the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware. 
 
This opinion is rendered solely to you in connection with the above matter. 
This opinion may not be relied upon by you for any other purpose or relied upon 
by any other person without my prior written consent. 
 
 
Sincerely, 



 
  
                        OPINION OF DAVIS POLK & WARDWELL 
                           COUNSEL FOR THE BORROWERS 
 
 
 
                                                                  Effective Date 
 
 
 
To the Banks and the Agent referred to below 
In care of The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., as Agent 
c/o Chemical Bank 
Grand Central Tower 
140 East 45th Street 
New York, New York 10017-3162 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
          We have acted as special counsel for The Limited, Inc., a Delaware 
corporation ("The Limited"), and its subsidiaries in connection with the Credit 
Agreement dated as of June 28, 1996 (the "Credit Agreement") among Abercrombie & 
Fitch Stores, Inc., A & F Trademark, Inc., the banks listed on the signature 
pages thereof (the "Banks") and The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., as 
Administrative Agent (the "Agent").  Terms defined in the Credit Agreement are 
used herein as therein defined. 
 
          We have examined originals or copies, certified or otherwise 
identified to our satisfaction, of such documents, corporate records, 
certificates of public officials and other instruments and have conducted such 
other investigations of fact and law as we have deemed necessary or advisable 
for purposes of this opinion. 
 
          Based upon the foregoing, and subject to the qualifications set forth 
below, we are of the opinion that: 
 
          1.  Each of the Loan Documents constitutes a valid and binding 
agreement of each of the Borrowers, the Guarantors and the Limited 
(collectively, the "Companies") that is a party thereto, in each case 
enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to the effect of applicable 
bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws affecting 
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creditors' rights generally and equitable principles of general applicability. 
 
          2.  None of the Companies is an "investment company" within the 
meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. 
 
          The foregoing are subject to the following qualifications: 
 
          (a) We express no opinion as to the effect (if any) of (i) any law of 
     any jurisdiction (except the State of New York) in which any Bank is 
     located that may limit the rate of interest that such Bank may charge or 
     collect or (ii) the effect of Section 548 of the United States Bankruptcy 
     Code or any similar provisions of state law. 
 
          (b) We have assumed that (i) each of the Companies is duly organized, 
     validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of 
     organization and (ii) the execution, delivery and performance by each 
     Company of each Loan Document to which it is a party are within its powers, 
     have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of such 
     Company and its stockholders, require no action by or in respect of, or 
     filing with, any Governmental Authority (other than such as have been duly 
     taken or made) and do not contravene, or constitute a default under, any 
     provision of applicable law or regulation or of the certificate of 
     incorporation or By-laws of such Company or of any judgment, injunction, 
     order or decree or any material agreement or other material instrument 
     binding upon such Company. 
 
          We are members of the bar of the State of New York and the foregoing 
opinion is limited to the laws of the State of New York and the Federal laws of 
the United States of America. 
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          This opinion is rendered solely to you in connection with the above 
matter.  This opinion may not be relied upon by you for any other purpose or 
relied upon by any other person without our prior written consent. 
 
 
                                           Very truly yours, 



 
  
                                                                     EXHIBIT D-3 
 
 
 
                                                                [Effective Date] 
 
 
                        Abercrombie & Fitch Stores, Inc. 
                        -------------------------------- 
                             A & F Trademark, Inc. 
                             --------------------- 
                               Credit Agreement 
                               ---------------- 
 
 
 
Dear Sirs: 
 
          We have participated in the preparation of (i) the Credit Agreement 
dated as of June 28, 1996 (the "Credit Agreement"), among Abercrombie & Fitch 
Stores, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("A & F"), A & F Trademark, Inc., a 
Delaware corporation ("Trademark Co."), the banks listed on the signature pages 
thereof (the "Banks"), and The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., as Administrative 
Agent (the "Agent") and (ii) the Guarantee Agreement dated as of June 28, 1996 
(the "Guarantee Agreement"), among Abercrombie & Fitch Holding Corporation, A & 
F, Trademark Co. (collectively, the "Guarantors") and the Agent, and have acted 
as special counsel for the Agent for the purpose of rendering this opinion 
pursuant to Section 3.01(c) of the Credit Agreement.  Terms defined in the 
Credit Agreement and the Guarantee Agreement are used herein as therein defined. 
 
          We have examined originals or copies, certified or otherwise 
identified to our satisfaction, of such documents, corporate records, 
certificates of public officials and other instruments and have conducted such 
other investigations of fact and law as we have deemed necessary or advisable 
for purposes of this opinion. 
 
          Based upon the foregoing, we are of opinion that the Credit Agreement 
constitutes a valid and binding agreement of each of A & F and Trademark Co., 
the Guarantee Agreement constitutes a valid and binding agreement of each 
Guarantor, and the Notes constitute valid and binding obligations of A & F and 
Trademark Co., in each case enforceable against A & F, Trademark Co. or the 
Guarantors, as the case may be, in accordance with its terms, subject to 
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, fraudulent 
transfer and other similar laws relating to or affecting creditor's rights 
generally from time to time in effect and to general principles of equity 
(including, without limitation, concepts of materiality, 
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reasonableness, good faith and fair dealing), regardless of whether considered 
in a proceeding in equity or at law. With respect to the foregoing opinion, (i) 
insofar as provisions contained in the Credit Agreement provide for 
indemnification, the enforceability thereof may be limited by public policy 
considerations, (ii) the availability of a decree for specific performance or an 
injunction is subject to the discretion of the court requested to issue any such 
decree or injunction and (iii) we express no opinion as to the effect of the 
laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of New York where any lender may 
be located or where enforcement of the Credit Agreement may be sought that 
limits the rates of interest legally chargeable or collectible. 
 
          In giving this opinion, we have assumed that (i) each of the Borrowers 
and the Guarantors is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing 
under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization and (ii) the execution and 
delivery, and the performance, by each of the Borrowers and the Guarantors of 
each Loan Document to which it is a party are within its powers, have been duly 
authorized by all necessary action on the part of such Borrower or Guarantor and 
its respective stockholders, require no action by or in respect of, or filing 
with, any Governmental Authority (other than such as have been duly taken or 
made) and do not contravene, or constitute a default under any provision of 
applicable law or regulation or of the certificate of incorporation or By-Laws 
of such Borrower or Guarantor or of any judgment, injunction, order or decree or 
any material agreement or other material instrument binding upon such Borrower 
or Guarantor. 
 
          We are members of the Bar of the State of New York and the foregoing 
opinion is limited to the laws of the State of New York, the Federal laws of the 
United States of America and the General Corporation Law of the State of 
Delaware.  This opinion is rendered solely to you in 
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connection with the above matter. This opinion may not be relied upon by you for 
any other purpose or relied upon by any other Person (other than an Assignee or 
Participant) without our prior written consent. 
 
                              Very truly yours, 
 
 
 
To the Banks and the Agent 
Referred to Herein 
   In care of The Chase Manhattan 
   Bank, N.A., as Agent 
       c/o Chemical Bank 
           Grand Central Tower 
           140 East 45th Street 
               New York, NY 10017-3162 



 
  
                                                                    EXHIBIT 10.1 
                                                                    ------------ 
 
 
                  SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF OFFICER WHO BECAME 
                    A PARTY TO AN INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT 
                          EFFECTIVE SEPTEMBER 4, 1996 
 
 
Signatory                                             Capacity 
- ---------                                             -------- 
 
Dan Finkelman                                         Executive Officer 



 
  
                                                                      EXHIBIT 11 
                                                                      ---------- 
 
 
                      THE LIMITED, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                       COMPUTATION OF PER SHARE EARNINGS 
 
                     (Thousands except per share amounts) 
 
 
 
  
                                           Thirteen Weeks Ended 
                                           -------------------- 
                                           August 3,   July 29, 
                                             1996        1995 
                                           ---------   -------- 
                                                   
Net income                                 $  33,150   $ 48,762 
                                           =========   ======== 
Common shares outstanding: 
   Weighted average                          379,454    379,454 
 
   Dilutive effect of stock options            1,190      1,446 
 
   Weighted average treasury shares         (108,567)   (21,939) 
                                           ---------   -------- 
   Weighted average used to calculate 
     net income per share                    272,077    358,961 
                                           =========   ======== 
Net income per share                            $.12       $.14 
                                           =========   ======== 
 
  
                                          Twenty-six Weeks Ended 
                                          ---------------------- 
                                           August 3,   July 29, 
                                             1996        1995 
                                          ----------   -------- 
                                                  
Net income                                 $  61,302   $ 87,973 
                                           =========   ======== 
Common shares outstanding: 
  
   Weighted average                          379,454    379,454 
  
   Dilutive effect of stock options              870      1,048 
  
   Weighted average treasury shares          (89,040)   (22,034) 
                                           ---------   -------- 
   Weighted average used to calculate 
     net income per share                    291,284    358,468 
                                           =========   ========  
Net income per share                            $.21       $.25 
                                           =========   ======== 
 
 
Note:  Exercise of the Wexner Agreement (which cannot occur prior to February 1, 
1998) was determined not to dilute reported earnings per share. 



 
  
                                                                      EXHIBIT 12 
                                                                      ---------- 
 
 
 
                      THE LIMITED, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                      RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES 
 
                       (Thousands except ratio amounts) 
 
 
 
                                          Twenty-six Weeks Ended 
                                          ---------------------- 
                                           August 3,   July 29, 
                                             1996        1995 
                                          ----------   --------- 
                                                  
Adjusted Earnings 
- ----------------- 
Income before income taxes                  $111,302    $146,973 
Portion of minimum rent 
     ($360,223 in 1996 
     and $332,248 in 1995)      
     representative of interest              120,074     110,749 
Interest on indebtedness                      35,281      36,688 
Minority interest                             12,449           - 
                                           ---------    -------- 
     Total Earnings as Adjusted             $279,106    $294,410 
                                           =========    ======== 
 
Fixed Charges 
- ------------- 
Portion of minimum rent 
     representative of interest             $120,074    $110,749 
Interest on indebtedness                      35,281      36,688 
                                           ---------    -------- 
     Total Fixed Charges                    $155,355    $147,437 
                                           =========    ========  
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges             1.80x       2.00x 
                                           =========    ========  
 



 
                                                                      Exhibit 15 
 
 
 
Securities and Exchange Commission 
450 5th Street, N.W. 
Judiciary Plaza 
Washington, D.C. 20549 
 
 
We are aware that our report dated September 10, 1996, on our review of the  
interim consolidated financial information of The Limited, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
for the thirteen-week and twenty-six-week periods ended August 3, 1996 and  
included in this Form 10-Q is incorporated by reference in the Company's  
registration statements on Form S-8, Registration Nos. 33-18533, 33-25005,  
2-92277, 33-24829, 33-24507, 33-24828, 2-95788, 2-88919, 2-24518, 33-6965,  
33-14049, 33-22844, 33-44041, 33-49871, 333-04927, 333-04941, and the  
registration statements on Form S-3, Registration Nos. 33-20788, 33-31540,  
33-43832, and 33-53366. Pursuant to Rule 436(c) under the Securities Act of  
1933, this report should not be considered a part of the registration statement  
prepared or certified by us within the meaning of Sections 7 and 11 of that Act. 
 
 
 
                                            COOPERS & LYBRAND L.L.P. 
 
 
 
Columbus, Ohio 
September 12, 1996 
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THIS SCHEDULE CONTAINS SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION EXTRACTED FROM THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE LIMITED, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES FOR THE 
QUARTER ENDED AUGUST 3, 1996 AND IS QUALIFIED IN ITS ENTIRETY BY REFERENCE TO 
SUCH FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 
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